

Volume 7 · Issue 3 · May 2021 e-ISSN: 2149-3189

The European Research Journal



Copyright © 2021 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj



The European Research Journal

Aim and Scope

The European Research Journal (EuRJ) is an international, independent, double-blind peer reviewed, Open Access and online publishing journal, which aims to publish papers on all the related areas of basic and clinical medicine.

Editorial Board of the European Research Journal complies with the criteria of the International Council of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE), the World Association of Medical Editors (WAME), and Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE).

The journal publishes a variety of manuscripts including original research, case reports, invited review articles, technical reports, how-to-do it, interesting images and letters to the editor. The European Research Journal has signed the declaration of the Budapest Open Access Initiative. All articles are detected for similarity or plagiarism. Publication language is English. The journal does not charge any article submission or processing charges.

EuRJ recommends that all of our authors obtain their own ORCID identifier which will be included on their article.

The journal is published bimonthly (January, March, May, July, September, and November).

Abstracting and Indexing

The journal is abstracted and indexed with the following: ULAKBIM TR Index (ULAKBİM TR DİZİN), NLM Catalog (NLM ID: 101685727), Google Scholar (h-index: 6), Index Copernicus (ICV 2019: 100), EMBASE, ProQuest Central, ROAD, SciLit, MIAR (ICDS 2020: 3.7), J-Gate, SHERPA/RoMEO, BASE, EZB, CrossRef, JournalTOCs, WorldCat, TURK MEDLINE, Turkish Citation Index, EuroPub, OpenAIRE, ResearhGate, SOBIAD, Publons (Clarivate Web of Science).



Publisher

The European Research Journal (EuRJ) The Association of Health Research & Strategy Kırcaali Mah. Fevziçakmak Cd. Göktaş İş Mrk. Kat:3 No:62/12 Osmangazi/BURSA-TURKEY www.dergipark.org.tr/eurj/



e-ISSN: 2149-3189

The European Research Journal, hosted by Turkish JournalPark ACADEMIC, is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.



EDITORIAL BOARD

EDITOR-IN-CHIEF

Senol YAVUZ, MD,

Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Bursa, Turkey

MANAGING EDITOR

Nizameddin KOCA, MD,

Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training & Research Hospital, Department of Internal Medicine, Bursa, Turkey

FOUNDING EDITOR

Rustem ASKIN, MD,

Professor of Psychiatry Head of the Association of Health Research & Strategy, Bursa, Turkey

EDITORIAL ASSISTANT

Ugur BOLUKBAS

EDITORS

Davut AKDUMAN, MD,

Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Keçiören Training & Research Hospital Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Ankara, Turkey

Mehmet HAKSEVER, MD,

Associate Professor, Medical Park Bursa Hospital Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Bursa, Turkey

Omer SENORMANCI, MD

Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training & Research Hospital, Department of Psychiatry, Bursa, Turkey

Rahmi DUMAN, MD,

Associate Professor, Ankara LIV Hospital, Department of Ophthalmology, Ankara, Turkey

Ali ASAN, MD

Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training & Research Hospital, Department of Infectious Disease, Bursa, Turkey

Meliha KASAPOGLU AKSOY, MD

Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Physical Therapy & Rehabilitation, Bursa, Turkey

Sinem KIYICI, MD

Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Endocrinology & Metabolism Bursa, Turkey

Soner CANDER, MD

Associate Professor, Uludag University Medical School, Department of Endocrinology & Metabolism Bursa, Turkey

Metin GUCLU, MD

Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Endocrinology & Metabolism Bursa, Turkey

Cuma Bulent GUL, MD

Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Nephrology Bursa, Turkey

Sedat ONER, MD

Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Urology Bursa, Turkey

Burcu METIN OKMEN, MD

Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Physical Therapy & Rehabilitation, Bursa, Turkey

Arda ISIK, MD

Associate Professor, Binali Yildirim University School of Medicine, Department of General Surgery, Erzincan, Turkey

Emin USTUNYURT, MD

Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Gynecology & Obstetrics, Bursa, Turkey

Mehtap BULUT, MD

Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Emergency Medicine, Bursa, Turkey

Mete KAYA, MD

Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Pediatric Surgery, Bursa, Turkey

Melih CEKINMEZ, MD

Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Neurosurgery, Bursa, Turkey

Serhat YALCINKAYA, MD

Associate Professor, Kutahya University of Health Sciences, Department of Thoracic Surgery Kutahya, Turkey

Korgun OKMEN, MD

Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Anesthesiology & Reanimation, Bursa, Turkey

Derya KARASU, MD

Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Anesthesiology & Reanimation, Bursa, Turkey

Hasan ARI, MD

Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Cardiology, Bursa, Turkey

Erhan TENEKECIOGLU, MD

Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Cardiology, Bursa, Turkey

Kadir Kaan OZSIN, MD

Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Bursa, Turkey

Nurullah DOGAN, MD,

Associate Professor, Doruk Medical Center, Department of Radiology, Bursa, Turkey

Alper KARAKUS, MD

Consultant Cardiolog, Besni State Hospital, Department of Cardiology, Adiyaman, Turkey

Gokhan OCAKOGLU, PhD,

Associate Professor, Uludag University School of Medicine, Department of Biostatistics, Bursa, Turkey

INTERNATIONAL EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS

Ahmet KIZILAY, MD

Professor, Inönü University School of Medicine, Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Malatya, Turkey

Alparslan ERSOY, MD

Professor, Uludag University School of Medicine Department of Nephrology & Transplantation Bursa, Turkey

Aron Frederik POPOV, MD

Professor, University of Frankfurt, Department of Cardiothoracic Surgery, Frankfurt, Germany

Cristina FLORESCU, MD

Associate Professor, University of Craiova, Department of Medicine & Pharmacy, Romania

Elif EKINCI, MD

MBBS, FRACP, PhD University of Melbourne Department of Medicine, Melbourne, Australia

Erdem CUBUKCU, MD

Associate Professor, Uludag University School of Medicine, Department of Medical Oncology, Bursa, Turkey

Essam M MAHFOUZ, MD

Professor, University of Mansoura School of Medicine Department of Cardiology, Mansoura, Egypt

Francesco CARELLI, MD

Professor, University of Milan School of Medicine, Department of Family Medicine, Milan, Italy

Gary TSE, MD, PhD

Assistant Professor, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Department of Medicine and Therapeutics, Hong Kong, China

Ibrahim TAYMUR, MD,

Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Psychiatry, Bursa, Turkey

Kendra J. GRUBB, MD, MHA, FACC

Assistant Professor, Emory University School of Medicine, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Atlanta, GA, USA

Koray AYAR, MD

Assistant Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Rheumatology, Bursa, Turkey

Muhammet GUZELSOY, MD

Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training & Research Hospital, Department of Urology Bursa, Turkey

Muzaffer DEMIR, MD

Professor, Trakya University School of Medicine, Department of Hematology, Edirne, Turkey

Nader D NADER, MD

Professor, University of Buffalo School of Medicine Department of Anesthesiology, NY, USA

Omer Fatih OLMEZ, MD

Professor, Medipol University School of Medicine, Department of Medical Oncology, Istanbul, Turkey

Ozen OZ GUL, MD

Associate Professor, Uludag University School of Medicine, Department of Endocrinology & Metabolism, Bursa, Turkey

Ozkan KANAT, MD,

Professor, Acibadem University Hospital Department of Medical Oncology, Bursa, Turkey

Sait Ait BENALI, MD

Professor, Cadi Ayyad University School of Medicine, Department of Neurosurgery, Marrakech, Morocco

Sedat ALTIN, MD

Professor, University of Health Sciences, Yedikule Training & Research Hospital, Department of Chest Diseases, Istanbul, Turkey

Semih HALEZEROGLU, MD, FETCS

Professor, Acibadem University School of Medicine, Department of Thoracic Surgery, Istanbul, Turkey

Veysel TAHAN, MD, FACP, FACG, FESBGH

Assistant Professor, University of Missouri, Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Columbia, Missouri, USA

Yenal DUNDAR, MD

University of Liverpool School of Medicine, Department of Psychiatry, Liverpool, UK

Table of Contents

Original Articles

Effect of the Wnt/β-catenin pathway inhibitors on cell proliferation and migration of HEC- 218-224 1A endometrial adenocarcinoma: experimental cell culture model *Yaşam ÇİRÇİRCİ, R. Nalan TİFTİK, İsmail ÜN*

Serum undercarboxylated osteocalcin levels are related to bone disease in hemodialysis and 225-234 peritoneal dialysis patients

Medine ALPDEMİR, Vildan FİDANCI, Mehmet Fatih ALPDEMİR, Alper AZAK, Gülsevim SAYDAM, Murat DURANAY, Doğan YÜCEL

Does the use of the dominant hand affect the direction of sinus extension to orient towards 235-240 the right and left in pilonidal disease?

Süleyman KARGIN, Osman DOĞRU, Ersin TURAN, Ramazan Saygin KERİMOGLU

Efficiency of the endovenous cyanoacrylate for the treatment of varicose veins using the 241-247 VenablockTM system: a 24 months follow-up study of 116 patients Ali Cemal DÜZGÜN, Ekin İLKELİ, Fehmi KATIRCIOĞLU

Early postoperative results of on-pump coronary endarterectomy: is it still a controversy?248-255Cüneyt ERİŞ, Umut Serhat SANRI, Mesut ENGİN, Senol YAVUZ248-255

Is there a relationship between the morphological characteristics of developmental venous 256-264 anomalies and the presence of parenchymal abnormalities? Ayşe Nur ŞİRİN ÖZCAN, Behruz HASANOV, Ozlem UNAL

Analysis of the relationship between fetal magnetic resonance imaging indications and 265-269 findings with ultrasonographic examination *Burak AKSELİM, Süleyman Serkan KARAŞİN, Beril ŞENKUTLU KUYUCU*

Relationship between automated perimetry and Heidelberg retina tomograph, optic 270-277 **coherence tomography and laser polarimetry in moderate to severe glaucomatous eyes** *Mehmet Emin ASLANCI, Mehmet BAYKARA, Emre GÜLER, Ozgur Bulent TİMUCİN, Sami YILMAZ*

The role and efficacy of multidisciplinary council in the bone and soft tissue tumor patients278-283Sina COŞKUN, Nevzat DABAK, Hasan GÖÇER, Ferhat SAY

The effect of different tonsillectomy techniques on taste sensation in the early and late 284-290 postoperative periods

Zeynep Nur EROL, Bilge TÜRK, Nurullah SEYHUN, Mahmut CANKAYA, Aytuğ ALTUNDAĞ, Berna USLU

The effect of cesarean section on the incidence of congenital nasolacrimal duct obstruction291-296Hafize Gökben ULUTAŞ, Gamze UÇAN GÜNDÜZ291-296

Comparison of the outcomes of 'component separation with mesh', 'component separation 297-303 without mesh' and 'primary prosthetic repair' methods in complex abdominal wall reconstruction

Ufuk ARSLAN, Umut Eren ERDOGDU

Posttransplant de novo donor specific HLA antibody monitoring and clinical outcomes: a 304-311 single-center experience

Nurettin AY, Vahhac ALP, Şeyhmus KAYA

Investigation of the situations affecting vocational school students' anxiety levels and 312-318 academic achievements

Muhammet BAYRAKTAR, Mehmet DOĞAN

The relationship between collapsibility index of inferior vena cava and hypotension after 319-325 spinal anesthesia

Serra TOPAL, Derya KARASU, Canan YILMAZ, Çağdaş BAYTAR, Erhan TENEKECİOĞLU, Dursun TOPAL

Long-term outcomes of tension-free repair for the primary inguinal hernias326-331Fatih BÜYÜKER, Hakan BAYSAL, Salih TOSUN326-331

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.900847

Effect of the Wnt/ β -catenin pathway inhibitors on cell proliferation and migration of HEC-1A endometrial adenocarcinoma: experimental cell culture model

Yaşam Çirçirci[®], R. Nalan Tiftik[®], İsmail Ün[®]

Department of Medical Pharmacology, Mersin University School of Medicine, Mersin, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives: The most diagnosed tumor among infiltrating tumors of the female genital tract is endometrial carcinoma. The Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway has an important role in organogenesis, self-renewal of tissues, and adult stem cell maintenance. However aberrant activation of it causes many types of tumors and also related to the prognosis of patients. Therefore, we aimed to investigate whether Wnt/β-catenin pathway inhibitors have any effect on the proliferation and migration of tumor cells.

Methods: As cancer cell line, HEC-1A endometrial adenocarcinoma was used. The Wnt/β-catenin pathway inhibitors effects on proliferation and migration were demonstrated by real-time cell analysis device and wound healing model respectively.

Results: Wnt/ β -catenin pathway inhibitors FH535 (25 μ M at 36th hour, p < 0.05; 50 μ M at 48th hour p < 0.001) and niclosamide inhibited cell proliferation (10, 25 and 50 μ M at 60th hours; p < 0.01, p < 0.05 and p < 0.001, respectively) whereas ICRT14 and IWP-2 did not. However only niclosamide which is also an antihelmintic drug inhibited migration of the cells in all concentrations tested (10, 25 and 50 μ M, p < 0.05).

Conclusions: The present study shows that the Wnt/β-catenin pathway has an substantial role in both proliferation and migration of endometrial adenocarcinoma. We suggest that the antihelmintic drug niclosamide could be further investigated for its potential therapeutic effect in endometrial adenocarcinoma.

Keywords: Wnt/β-catenin, endometrial adenocarcinoma, niclosamide, migration

n the female genital tract most frequent infiltrating tumor is endometrial carcinoma which mostly occurs in the postmenopausal age [1, 2]. Endometrial cancers are mainly diagnosed at early stages, and 5year of survival is between 20% to 91% depending on the stage. Hormone therapy, older age, exercise, diet and, diabetes are risk factors for developing endometrial cancer [3].

The Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway has important roles in organogenesis, development, adult stem cell functions, and renewal of tissues. However abnormal activation of it causes many types of tumors [4, 5]. It has been reported that mutations of the β -catenin gene result in endometrial tumorigenesis [6-8]. Besides malignant transformation and tumor progression also proposed to require activation of the pathway [9]. Estrogens could induce Wnt/β-catenin signaling and may cause endometrial hyperplasia even cancer. In contrast, progesterone was suggested as an inhibitor of this signaling [9]. This pathway also have coopera-

Received: March 22, 2021; Accepted: March 29, 2021; Published Online: April 3, 2021



How to cite this article: Çirçirci Y, Tiftik RN, Ün İ. Effect of the Wnt/β-catenin pathway inhibitors on cell proliferation and migration of HEC-1A endometrial adenocarcinoma: experimental cell culture model. Eur Res J 2021;7(3):218-224. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.900847 Address for correspondence: R. Nalan Tiftik, MD., PhD., Assistant Professor, Mersin University School of Medicine, Department of Medical c-ISSN: 2149-3189 Pharmacology, Campus Ciftlikköy 33343, Mersin, Turkey. E-mail: nalantiftik@yahoo.com

> [©]Copyright 2021 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj

tive with other pathways such as cyclooxygenase, EGFR signaling and Notch signaling [10].

In endometriosis patients inhibition of Wnt/ β -catenin signaling reported to prevent migration, invasion and proliferation, of epithelial and stromal cells of [10].

Although Wnt/ β -catenin signaling inhibitors have not yet been in clinical practice for endometrial cancer treatment, experimental data have promising consequences [9]. Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway has a substantial role in cell proliferation, migration and cell fate specification, [10]. HEC-1A cells are experimental models for postmenopausal endometrial cancer and it enables investigations for regulatory and signaling mechanisms [11, 12]. Therefore, we aimed to investigate whether Wnt/ β -catenin signaling inhibitors have any effect on the proliferation and migration of HEC-1A endometrial adenocarcinoma cells.

METHODS

Cell Line

HEC-1A which is a human originated endometrial carcinoma and often used as an experimental model for type 2 postmenopausal endometrial cancers was used as a cell culture (provide from ATCC[®] HTB-112TM). 10% fetal bovine serum (Biological Industries USA) 1% Penicillin/streptomycin (Biological Industries USA), L-glutamine (PAN-Biotech, Germany) were added to McCoy's 5A (Lonza, US) and served as medium for cells. The incubator was adjusted to 5% CO₂ at 37°C. Cells were getting confluent approximately in 10-14 days and had a 95-99 % viability rate. Cells that were contaminated or had phenotypic changes were excluded from the study.

Preparation of Drugs

Wnt/ β -catenin pathway inhibitors FH535, ICRT14, IWP-2, and niclosamide were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich, USAFH535, ICRT14, IWP-2, and niclosamide (10, 25, and 50 μ M each) were dissolved in the 0.5% dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO). The data recorded from the migrations and proliferation with Wnt/ β -catenin pathway inhibitors were compared against control group (DMSO 0.5%).

Proliferation Studies

The effect of the Wnt/ β -catenin pathway inhibitors

on proliferation was recorded by real-time cell analysis (xCELLigence) device. The xCELLigence is used for real-time monitoring of cell proliferation. It enables recording of electronic impedance of E-Plates. Each well of the E-plate were seeded with 10000 cells and incubated for 24 hours. Thereafter Wnt/ β -catenin pathway inhibitors FH535, ICRT14, IWP-2, and niclosamide (10, 25, and 50 μ M each) were added to the wells. E-plates were put into the incubator which also contains the device.

Migration Model

The wound healing model used for migration studies. Each well of 24 well plate were seeded with 30000 cells. When cells were reach to confluency after approximately 10 days they were incubated with serumfree medium for 24 hours. Thereafter, by using a 20 μ l pipette the wound lines were opened on cells that grown on plates. After the administration of 1% FBS medium to wells, FH535, ICRT14, IWP-2, and niclosamide (10, 25, and 50 μ M each) were applied. After the inhibitor agent administration (t = 0) and subsequently at 24th and 48th hours, the wound images were measured. Relative cell motility was calculated by the formula (wound width at t = 0 hours) - (wound width at t = 24 or 48 hours).

Statistical Analysis

Cell proliferation obtained from xCELLingence system was expressed as cell index "CI" and CI > 0.2 was considered as positive. Data were presented as mean \pm SEM. One-way analysis of variance and post hoc Bonferroni test was used for statistical evaluation or t-test were used when appropriate. A *P* value smaller than 0.05 was considered significant.

RESULTS

The Effect of DMSO on Cell Proliferation and Migration

Following the incubation cells were gradually proliferated in both saline and DMSO groups (Fig. 1a). The concentrations of DMSO in both E-plate wells and migration wells were 0.5% and did change neither cell proliferation (Fig. 1a, p > 0.05) nor cell migration (Fig. 1b, p > 0.05).



Fig. 1. Effect of DMSO (vehicle) on the proliferation (a) and migration (b) of HEC1A cells by real-time cell analysis and wound healing model respectively. (a) DMSO was added at the 24th hour ($\overline{*}$). DMSO (0.5%) did not altered cell proliferation (n = 4) (p > 0.05). (b) Treatments were made at the 0th hour for migration. The concentration of DMSO was 0.5% in wells and did not change cell migration (p > 0.05).

The Effect of FH535 on Cell Proliferation and Migration

10 μ M of FH535 did not change cell proliferation (Fig. 2a, p > 0.05). 25 μ M of FH535 starts to inhibit cell proliferation 12 (36th hour on the graph) hours after the application (Fig. 2a, p < 0.05). 25 μ M of FH535 decreased proliferation between the 36th and 84th hours and after the 84th hours started to cause cell death (Fig. 2a, p < 0.001). The higher 50 μ M concentrations of FH535 start to cause cell death at earlier times between the 48th and 168th hours (Fig. 2a, p <0.001). However FH535 did not change the cell migration of HEC-1A cells (Fig. 2b, p > 0.05).

The Effect of ICRT14 on Cell Proliferation and Migration

10, 25, and 50µM of ICRT14 did not change cell proliferation of endometrial adenocarcinoma HEC-1A cells (Fig. 3a). ICRT14 did not change the cell migration of HEC-1A cells (Fig. 3b, p > 0.05).

The Effect of IWP-2 on Cell Proliferation and Migration

10, 25, and 50µM of IWP-2 did not change cell proliferation of endometrial adenocarcinoma HEC-1A cells (Fig. 4a). IWP-2 did not change the cell migration of HEC-1A cells (Fig. 4b, p > 0.05).



Fig. 2. The effect of FH535 on cell proliferation (a) and migration (b). (a) Treatments were made at the 24th hour ($\bar{*}$) for proliferation.10 µM of FH535 did not change cell proliferation. 25 µM of FH535 started to inhibit cell proliferation at 36th hour. 25 µM of FH535 decreased proliferation between the 36th and 84th hours and after the 84th hours started to cause cell death. 50 µM concentrations of FH535 start to cause cell death at earlier times between the 48th and 168th hours (*p < 0.05, *** p < 0.001). (b) Treatments were made at the 0th hour for migration. FH535 did not change the cell migration of HEC-1A cells (p > 0.05).



Fig. 3. The effect of ICRT14 on cell proliferation (a) and migration (b). (a) Treatments were made at the 24th hour (*) for proliferation. 10, 25, and 50µM of ICRT14 did not change cell proliferation of endometrial adenocarcinoma HEC-1A cells. (b) Treatments were made at the 0th hour for migration. ICRT14 did not change the cell migration of HEC-1A cells (*p* >0.05).



Fig. 4. The effect of IWP-2 on cell proliferation (a) and migration (b). (a) Treatments were made at the 24th hour ($\bar{*}$) for proliferation. 10, 25, and 50µM of IWP-2 did not change cell proliferation of endometrial adenocarcinoma HEC-1A cells. (b) Treatments were made at the 0th hour for migration. IWP-2 did not change the cell migration of HEC-1A cells (p > 0.05).



Fig. 5. The effect of niclosamide on cell proliferation (a) and migration (b). (a) Treatments were made at the 24th hour ($\bar{*}$) for proliferation. 10, 25, and 50µM of niclosamide inhibited cell proliferation. While the effect of 25 and 50µM of niclosamide started immediately after the application, the effect of 10µM observed at 48th hour. After the 60th hour there was a fast decrease in cell index with al concentrations used (*p < 0.05, ***p < 0.001). (b) Treatments were made at the 0th hour for migration. Niclosamide significantly inhibited cell migration of HEC-1A cells at all concentrations tested (p < 0.05).

Çirçirci et al

The Effect of Niclosamide on Cell Proliferation and Migration

10, 25, and 50µM of niclosamide inhibited cell proliferation. While the effect of 25 and 50µM of niclosamide started immediately after the application, the effect of 10µM observed at 48th hour. After the 60th hour, there was a fast decrease in cell index with all concentrations used (Fig. 5a). Niclosamide significantly inhibited cell migration of HEC-1A cells at all concentrations tested (Fig. 5b, p < 0.05).

DISCUSSION

The effects of four Wnt/ β -catenin pathway inhibitors on cell proliferation and migration that are important for cancer prognosis were tested in HEC-1A cells which are being used an experimental model for type 2 postmenopausal endometrial cancers [12]. Wnt/ β -catenin pathway inhibitors, FH535, and niclosamide inhibited cell proliferation whereas ICRT14 and IWP-2 did not. However, only niclosamide which is also an antihelmintic drug inhibited migration of the cells.

FH535 is a cell-permeable sulfonamide compound that inhibits β -catenin-Tcf/LEF interaction in the Wnt/ β -catenin pathway but also suppresses the Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor (PPAR γ/δ) signal. PPARs belong to the nuclear receptor protein group and act as transcription factors that regulate the gene expression [13].

In hepatocellular carcinoma cells, FH535 suppressed the proliferation, and 50µM significantly reduced the distance between the two lines in the wound healing test [14]. It has been reported that FH535 inhibited cell proliferation (10µM, 20µM, and 40µm) and migration at 24 hours in wound healing experiment (20µM and 40µM) in colon cancer cell lines [15]. In another study, the effect of FH535 on pancreatic cell lines were examined (PANC-1 and BXPC-3), and 20µM FH535 concentration did not change the expression of β -catenin in BXPC-3 cells but decreased the expression of β -catenin in PANC-1 cells. In the wound healing experiment, the 20 µM concentration of FH535 significantly reduced migration at 8 and 12 hours [16]. Also, it has been reported that FH535 inhibits proliferation at concentrations of 0.1µM, 1µM, and 10µM in osteosarcoma cells [17]. The antiproliferative effect observed in hepatocellular carcinoma cells with the addition of FH535 at 50μ M concentration is similar to our study, but the antiproliferative effect observed in colorectal cancer cells with the addition of FH535 at 10μ M concentration was not noticed in HEC1A cells. Besides, inhibition of migration in the wound healing experiment in hepatocellular carcinoma, colorectal cancer, pancreas, and osteosarcoma cells was not observed in HEC1A cells. Different effects observed in the same concentration in the cell lines suggested that the inhibitory action of FH535 may change depending on the cell type.

In our study, the 25 μ M concentration of FH535 reduced proliferation starting from the 24th hour, as well as reducing the number of cells after the 84th hour. 50 μ M concentrations of FH535 tend to decrease proliferation after 12 hours and started to decrease the number of cells after 24 hours. Niclosamide administration reduced proliferation from the first moment of administration and additionally decreased the number of cells after 36th hour at all concentrations. In this study, cell death mechanisms have not been studied, but we suggest that the decrease in the number of cells at the specified hours may be related to the activation of cell death mechanisms. Because the cells in the control group at the same time were still growing at their normal rate.

Niclosamide inhibits the co-receptor LRP6 via increasing the Wnt receptor Fzd1 internalization, inhibits Dvl2 expression via inhibiting the β -catenin/TCF complex formation, and thereby inhibits the Wnt/ β -catenin signaling at multiple levels. In addition, niclosamide also inhibits Notch, STAT, 3NF- κ B, and mTORC1signaling pathways. At the same time it may induce growth inhibition, apoptosis and cell cycle arrest via targeting the mitochondria of cancer cells. [18].

Gyamfi *et al.* [19] have shown that niclosamide inhibits both proliferation and migration in breast cancer cell lines. Arend *et al.* [20] showed antiproliferative effects of it in ovarian cancer cells (0.1-4 μ M). Zhao *et al.* [21] have demonstrated that it inhibits proliferation in renal cell carcinoma lines. Wang *et al.* [22] showed that it inhibits proliferation in hepatocellular cell lines, induces apoptosis, and increases the cisplatin sensitivity of cancer cells. Liu *et al.* [23] reported that 0.1 μ M, 0.25 μ M, and 0.5 μ M niclosamide suppress cell migration in prostate cancer cells. Li *et* *al.* [24] have demonstrated that different concentrations of niclosamide between 0.1μ M- 10μ M in human osteosarcoma cell lines inhibit cell proliferation by stopping the cell cycle. Likewise in our study niclosamide prevented both proliferation and migration in endometrium adenocarcinoma HEC1A cells. Among other inhibitors tested in this study, only niclosamide inhibited migration. Based on this finding, it could be suggested that this effect by niclosamide is due to a nonspecific effect of it rather than the Wnt/ β -catenin pathway inhibition. However, further and detailed molecular studies are needed to confirm this suggestion. One of the limitations of this study is that expression and activation studies have not been performed for the Wnt/ β -catenin pathway.

ICRT14 belongs to the thiazolidinedione class of β -catenin responsive transcription inhibitors, and also prevents TCF binding to DNA [13]. In one study, ICRT14 has been shown to induce significant G0/G1 cell cycle arrest in colon cancer cell lines, and in another study, increased sensitivity to chemotherapy in pediatric acute lymphocytic leukemia patients by inhibiting Wnt [25, 26]. IWP-2 blocks Wnt production by directly inhibiting the porcupine active site, it can also affect CK1 δ / ϵ related pathways [27]. Kleszcz et al. [28] have demonstrated that IWP-2 inhibits porcupine, reducing the Wnt signal, thereby inducing apoptosis in neck and head carcinoma cells. Tong et al. [29] showed that artemisinin derivatives can significantly inhibit tumor metastasis and lung tumorigenesis via Wnt/β-catenin signaling. In our study, ICRT14 and IWP2 did not change proliferation and migration at the concentration and time intervals tested.

CONCLUSION

In this study, we examined the possible effects of Wnt/ β -catenin pathway inhibitors on proliferation and migration in endometrial adenocarcinoma HEC1A cells, which are important parameters for cancer. We have shown that FH535 inhibits proliferation, and niclosamide both proliferation and migration. We suggest that antihelmintic drug niclosamide which is a cheap antiparasitic drug could be regarded as a potential therapeutic agent in endometrium adenocarcinoma. Further studies on the effects of niclosamide and its derivatives on proliferation and migration and

other parameters of cancer are needed to elucidate the pathogenesis of endometrial cancers, prevent progression of the disease and develop new treatment strategies.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: YÇ, İÜ; Study Design: YÇ, RNT, İÜ; Supervision: İÜ; Funding: İÜ; Materials: İÜ, RNT; Data Collection and/or Processing: YÇ, RNT, İÜ; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: YÇ, RNT, İÜ; Literature Review: YÇ, İÜ; Manuscript Preparation: İÜ, RNT and Critical Review: İÜ, RNT.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The University Scientific Research Projects Center supported this work (project number: 2018-2-TP2-3022)

REFERENCES

1. Pillozzi S, Fortunato A, Lorenzo ED, Borrani E, Giachi M, Scarselli G, et al. Over-expression of the LH receptor increases distant metastases in an endometrial cancer mouse model. Front Oncol 2013;3:285.

2. Antovska VS, Krstevska I, Trajanova M, Chelebieva J, Gosheva I, Zdravkovski P, et al. Endometrioid Adenocarcinoma Arising in Adenomyoma in a Woman with a Genital Prolapse-Case Report. Open Access Maced J Med Sci 2018;14:1091-4.

3. Morice P, Leary A, Creutzberg C, Abu-Rustum N, Darai E. Endometrial cancer. Lancet 2016;12:1094-1108.

 Mac Donald BT, Tamai K, He X. Wnt/b-catenin signaling: components, mechanisms, and diseases. Dev Cell 2009;17:9-26.
 White BD, Chien AJ, Dawson DW. Dysregulation of Wnt/bcatenin signaling in gastrointestinal cancers. Gastroenterology 2012;142:219-32.

6. Kobayashi K, Sagae S, Nishioka Y, Tokino T, Kudo R. Mutations of the beta catenin gene in endometrial carcinomas. Jpn J Cancer Res 1999;90:55-9.

7. Fukuchi T, Sakamoto M, Tsuda H, Maruyama K, Nozawa S, Hirohashi S. Beta-catenin mutation in carcinoma of the uterine endometrium. Cancer Res 1998;58:3526-28.

8. Saegusa M, Hashimura M, Yoshida T, Okayasu I. beta- Catenin mutations and aberrant nuclear expression during endometrial tumorigenesis. Br J Cancer 2001;84:209-17.

9. Wang Y, van der Zee M, Fodde R, Blok LJ. Wnt/B-catenin and sex hormone signaling in endometrial homeostasis and cancer. Oncotarget 2010;1:674-84.

10. Polakis P. Wnt signaling in cancer. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 2012;4:a008052.

11. Matsuzaki S, Darcha C. In vitro effects of a small-molecule antagonist of the Tcf/sscatenin complex on endometrial and endometriotic cells of patients with endometriosis. PLoS One. 2013;8:e61690.

12. Hevir-Kene N, Rižner TL. The endometrial cancer cell lines Ishikawa and HEC-1A, and the control cell line HIEEC, differ in expression of estrogen biosynthetic and metabolic genes, and in androstenedione and estrone-sulfate metabolism. Chem Biol Interact 2015;234:309-19.

13. Handeli S, Simon JA. A small-molecule inhibitor of Tcf/betacatenin signaling down-regulates PPARgamma and PPARdelta activities. Mol Cancer Ther 2008;7:521-9.

14. Tomizawa M, Shinozaki F, Hasegawa R, Shirai Y, Motoyoshi Y, Sugiyama T, et al. Immunosuppressive agents are associated with peptic ulcer bleeding. Exp Ther Med 2017;13:1927-31.

15. Chen Y, Rao X, Huang K, Jiang X, Wang H, Teng L. FH535 Inhibits proliferation and motility of colon cancer cells by targeting Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway. J Cancer 2017;8:3142-53. 16. Wu MY, Liang RR, Chen K, Shen M, Tian YL, Li DM, et al. FH535 inhibited metastasis and growth of pancreatic cancer cells. Onco Targets Ther 2015;8:1651-70.

17. Gustafson CT, Mamo T, Shogren KL, Maran A, Yaszemski MJ. FH535 Suppresses Osteosarcoma Growth In Vitro and Inhibits Wnt Signaling through Tankyrases. Front Pharmacol 2017;8:285.

18. Li Y, Li PK, Roberts MJ, Arend RC, Samant RS, Buchsbaum DJ. Multi-targeted therapy of cancer by niclosamide: a new application for an old drug. Cancer Letters 2014;349:8-14.

19. Gyamfi J, Lee YH, Min BS, Choi J. Niclosamide reverses adipocyte induced epithelial-mesenchymal transition in breast cancer cells via suppression of the interleukin-6/STAT3 signalling axis. Sci Rep 2019;9:11336.

20. Arend RC, Londoño-Joshi AI, Gangrade A, Katre AA, Kurpad C, Li Y, et al. Niclosamide and its analogs are potent in-

hibitors of Wnt/ β -catenin, mTOR and STAT3 signaling in ovarian cancer. Oncotarget 2016;7:86803-15.

21. Zhao J, He Q, Gong Z, Chen S, Cui L. Niclosamide suppresses renal cell carcinoma by inhibiting Wnt/ β -catenin and inducing mitochondrial dysfunctions. Springerplus 2016;5:1436.

22. Wang C, Zhou X, Xu H, Shi X, Zhao J, Yang M, et al. Niclosamide inhibits cell growth and enhances drug sensitivity of hepatocellular carcinoma cells via STAT3 signaling pathway. J Cancer 2018;9:4150-55.

23. Liu C, Lou W, Armstrong C, Zhu Y, Evans CP, Gao AC. Niclosamide suppresses cell migration and invasion in enzalutamide resistant prostate cancer cells via Stat3-AR axis inhibition. Prostate 2015;75:1341-53.

24. Li Z, Yu Y, Sun S, Qi B, Wang W, Yu A. Niclosamide inhibits the proliferation of human osteosarcoma cell lines by inducing apoptosis and cell cycle arrest. Oncol Rep 2015;3:1763-8.

25. Gonsalves FC, Klein K, Carson BB, Katz S, Ekas LA, Evans S. An RNAi-based chemical genetic screen identifies three small-molecule inhibitors of the Wnt/wingless signaling pathway. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2011;108:5954-63.

26. Dandekar S, Romanos-Sirakis E, Pais F, Bhatla T, Jones C, Bourgeois W, et al. Wnt inhibition leads to improved chemosensitivity in paediatric acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. Br J Haematol 2014;167:87-99.

27. García-Reyes B, Witt L, Jansen B, Karasu E, Gehring T, Leban J, et al. Discovery of inhibitor of Wnt production 2 (IWP-2) and related compounds as selective ATP-competitive inhibitors of casein kinase 1 (CK1) δ/ϵ . J Med Chem 2018;61:4087-102.

28. Kleszcz R, Szymańska A, Krajka-Kuźniak V, Baer-Dubowska W, Paluszczak J. Inhibition of CBP/β-catenin and porcupine attenuates Wnt signaling and induces apoptosis in head and neck carcinoma cells. Cell Oncol (Dordr) 2019;42:505-20.

29. Tong Y, Liu Y, Zheng H, Zheng L, Liu W, Wu J, et al. Artemisinin and its derivatives can significantly inhibit lung tumorigenesis and tumor metastasis through Wnt/ β -catenin signaling. Oncotarget 2016;7:31413-28.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.734216

Serum undercarboxylated osteocalcin levels are related to bone disease in hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis patients

Medine Alpdemir¹[®], Vildan Fidancı²[®], Mehmet Fatih Alpdemir¹[®], Alper Azak³[®], Gülsevim Saydam⁴[®], Murat Duranay⁵[®], Doğan Yücel²[®]

¹Department of Clinical Biochemistry, Balıkesir State Hospital, Balıkesir, Turkey

²Department of Clinical Biochemistry, Ankara Training and Research Hospital, Ankara, Turkey

³Department of Nephrology, Balıkesir Atatürk City Hospital, Balıkesir, Turkey

⁴Department of Clinical Biochemistry, Türkiye Yüksek İhtisas Training and Research Hospital, Ankara, Turkey

⁵Department of Nephrology, Ankara Training and Research Hospital, Ankara, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives: In our study, we investigated whether the undercarboxylated osteocalcin (ucOC) is an indicator of bone turnover for patients treated with hemodialysis (HD) or peritoneal dialysis (PD). Furthermore, we have examined the relationships between ucOC levels and other bone inidicators such as osteocalcin (OC), bone specific alkaline phosphatase (B-ALP), calcitonin, vitamin D, intact parathyroid hormone (iPTH), calcium (Ca), phosphate (P), magnesium (Mg) and bone mineral density (BMD).

Methods: Study group was consisted of 24 HD, 30 PD patients and 30 control subjects. ucOC measurements were based on precipitation of carboxylated OC with barium sulfate. After precipitation, ucOC was measured in supernatant by ELISA.

Results: In chronic kidney disease (CKD), increased ucOC levels were present both in HD and PD groups. The ucOC levels in HD group were higher than those of PD group. ucOC levels in samples after HD were lower than in samples before HD. But there is no difference between groups for ucOC% levels. We observed that ucOC levels for CRF were higher compared to that of control group and statistically significant. ucOC levels were positively correlated with OC, B-ALP, ALP, iPTH, P and Mg levels. There were negative and significant correlations between ucOC levels and BMD values. ucOC has a good discrimination power for both high and low turnover ROD groups.

Conclusions: ucOC is a useful marker to evaluation of bone metabolism in patients undergone hemodialysis or peritoneal dialysis in end-stage renal disease.

Keywords: Renal bone disease, hemodialysis, peritoneal dialysis, undercarboxylated osteocalcin, osteocalcin, bone mineral density

Patients with chronic kidney disease (CKD) have a wide spectrum of bone diseases, such as secondary hyperparathyroidism, osteomalacia, and adynamic bone disease [1]. Mineral and bone metabolism disorders in dialysis patients have been associated with cardiovascular calcifications, bone fractures, increased morbidity and mortality risks [2, 3]. Therefore, it is important to identify bone and mineral disorders in patients with renal failure. Bone biopsies, scintigraphic screening studies, invasive and/or expensive proce-

Received: August 20, 2020; Accepted: December 18, 2020; Published Online: January 22, 2021



How to cite this article: Alpdemir M, Fidancı V, Alpdemir MF, Azak A, Saydam G, Duranay M, Yücel D. Serum undercarboxylated osteocalcin levels are related to bone disease in hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis patients. Eur Res J 2021;7(3):225-234. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.734216

Address for correspondence: Medine Alpdemir, MD., Balıkesir State Hospital, Department of Clinical Biochemistry, 10000, Balıkesir, Turkey. E-mail: 61558: 2149-3189 bitigic@hotmail.com

> [©]Copyright 2021 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj

dures such as a computed tomography are used after double tetracycline labeling in the diagnosis of bone diseases [4]. For this reason, specific biochemical markers are needed which can be used to measure bone metabolism in both uremic and other diseases.

Serum osteocalcin (OC) is a bone formation marker, including three gamma carboxyglutamic (Gla) residues. Vitamin K is a cofactor for OC. OC is provided to be activated by vitamin K-dependent carboxylation of these Gla residues. The non-gammacarboxylated form is called undercarboxylated osteocalcin (ucOC). Hydroxyapatite (HA) crystals cannot bind to ucOC and these results in changes in the bone matrix [5-7].

In the patients with CKD, the relationship between ucOC and and chronic kidney disease-mineral and bone disorder (CKD-MBD) is not fully understood. ucOC may play a role in the pathogenesis of bone metabolism disorders that occur as a result of both vitamin Κ concentration changes and hyperparathyroidism in dialysis patients. In one study it was founded that suboptimal vitamin K deficiency in hemodialysis patients was associated with increased prevalence of hyperparathyroidism and increased risk of bone fracture. In this study, a significant inverse correlation was found between the parathyroid hormone (PTH) and vitamin K [8]. Although many bone markers have been studied in patients with CKD, there are not enough studies in the literature showing the relation between ucOC and CKD-MBD.

ucOC concentration is measured indirectly by using the binding properties of barium sulfate (BS) or HA with osteoclastic glutamic acid residues. ucOCis stayed in the supernatant after carboxylated OC is precipitated by BS or HA. ucOC is measured with immunochemistry OC analysis methods [9]. ucOC concentration is also measured directly with ucOC specific ELISA methods [10].

The purpose of this study was to determine the relationship between serum UCOC concentrations and renal bone turnover in patients on hemodialysis (HD) and continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis (CAPD), and to determine the correlation of ucOC concentrations with bone mineral density (BMD), OC, alkaline phosphatase (ALP), bone-specific alkaline phosphatase (B-ALP), intact parathyroid hormone (iPTH), calcium (Ca), ionized calcium (iCa), magnesium (Mg), phosphate (P) and vitamin D [25(OH)D3)] concentrations in patients and control samples. We also planned to compare indirectly measured ucOC concentrations using the binding properties of OC, with BS.

METHODS

Patient and Control Groups

The study was conducted at the Biochemistry Department of Ankara Training and Research Hospital, Ministry of Health, with the support of the Nephrology Clinic. The study was approved by the local Ankara Training and Research Hospital Ethics Committee (Decision no: 2736/2009) and conducted in accordance with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki. All patients were informed of the study and signed written approvals.

The patient group included a total of 30 patients for CAPD and 24 for HD. The control group included 30 healthy subjects free from hypertension, diabetes mellitus, thyroid disease, liver and renal diseases, and any other known disease. Dialysis patients that had any bone diseases or broken bones and diabetes mellitus were excluded from the study. Demographic properties of the patients are shown in Table 1.

In patients with CKD, iPTH measurement is important in the diagnosis and follow-up of ROD. Simply, ROD was classificated by iPTH results. < 100 pg/mL and > 300 pg/mL iPTH concentrations were separated low-turnover bone disease and high-turnover bone disease, respectively.

Blood Samples

Blood was collected from the HD patients before and after dialysis, and from the CAPD patients and control group in the morning before meals. Blood samples were drawn into evacuated serum separator tubes containing clot activator (SST Vacutainer®, Becton Dickinson). All blood samples were centrifuged within 30 minutes, at 1500 g (rpm) for 10 minutes. Serum samples obtained were collected into Eppendorf tubes (Eppendorf® Safe-Lock microcentrifuge tubes, Turkey). The routine biochemistry analysis and iPTH were measured within the same day. 25(OH)D3, OC anducOC serum samples was stored in a deep freezer at -80 °C until working day.

Variables	CAPD patients	HD Patients	Control
	(n = 30)	(n = 24)	(n = 30)
Gender (n, %)			
Female	13 (43.3%)	8 (33%)	12 (40%)
Male	17 (56.7%)	16 (67%)	
Age (years)(x±SD)	46.8 ± 13.3	49.2 ± 15.3	47.9 ± 14.5
BMI (kg/m ²)(x±SD)	22.52 ± 3.6	22.58 ± 3.2	24.7 ± 3.7
KT/V		1.64 ± 0.31	
URR (Urea reduction rate), %		71.47 ± 7.29	
Duration of initiating dialysis (year)			
< 1year	5	7	-
1-5years	19	12	-
5-10years	6	5	-
Drugs used			
Anti-lipidemic (%)	11%	16%	-
Antihypertensive (%)	65%	38%	-
T3 agonist	9%	-	-
Folic acid derivative (%)	29%	79%	-
Iron drugs	30%	76%	-
Phosphate binding	45%	91%	-
Recombinant erythropoietin analogs	11%	78%	-
Anti-aggregate drugs	32%	1%	-
D vitamin analogs	95%	100%	

1 abit 1 Descriptive characteristics of patient and control 2 oup	Table 1	. Descriptive	characteristics o	f patient and	control	groups
--	---------	---------------	-------------------	---------------	---------	--------

HD = hemodialysis, CAPD = continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis, BMI = body mass index

Laboratory tests

Analysis of serum glucose, urea, creatine, uric acid, ALP, B-ALP, Ca, Mg, and P were made with the original reagents in the Olympus AU 2700 (Mishima Olympus Co. Ltd. JAPAN). For B-ALP analysis the method described by Mass et al. [11] was used. ALP derived liver was measured in the supernatant after serum B-ALP was inhibited with urea. The obtained ALP values were subtracted from total ALP and B-ALP was determined. Serum iPTH was measured with the original reagents using the chemiluminescence enzyme immunoassay method in Advia Centaur (Siemens Diagnostic Products Corporation, LosAngeles, CA, USA). 25(OH)D3 was measured by DIA source 25OH-VIT. D3-RIA-CT reagent (DIA source IMMUNOassays S.A., Nivelles, Belgium) with methodin Gamma counter C12 NE 1600 (Bio DPC,

USA). OCwas measured by ELISA method using the osteocalcin BioSource Host-EASIA Kit (BioSource Europe SA, Nivelles, Belgium) in the Triturus[®] EIA (GRIFOLS, Los Angeles, USA) analyzer.

Measurements of Serum Undercarboxylated Osteocalcin with Barium Sulphate

50 mg BS (Sigma Chemical Co., St. Louis, Mo.) were weighed on a precision scale. Each one was placed in separate Eppendorf microcentrifuge (Eppendorf[®] Safe-Lock microcentrifuge tubes, Turkey) tubes.

Serum samples stored at -80°C were dissolved by leaving the mat room temperature and mixing them using a vortex mixer. 50 mg of BS were mixed with 500 μ l of serum sample. The mixtures were vortexed and then stirred at 4°C for 30 minutes in the mixer. The carboxyl OC was then precipitated with BS by centrifugation at 2000g for 15 min at 4°C. The supernatants containing ucOC were transferred to another tube and these samples were run on the same day. ucOC concentrations were measured by the ELISA method using the OC BioSource Host-EASIA Kit (BioSource Europe SA, Nivelles, Belgium) in the Triturus[®] EIA (GRIFOLS, Los Angeles, USA) analyzer.

Two separate serum pools were constructed containing low and high ucOC concentrations for the inter-day and intra-study precision of the ucOC measurement methods. The total coefficient of variation (CV) was calculated for intra-assay (n = 21) and between-days (n = 25).

For the recovery work, the two pools were prepared at low and high ucOC concentrations for BS. The two pools were found to have1.87 ng/mL and 16.28 ng/mLucOC concentrations for the BS precipitation method.

% Recovery (R) was calculated by taking the average of recovery values obtained by mixing in ratio 1High (H)/1H, 1Low (L)/1H, 1H/2L, 2H/3L, 3L/2H, 1L/3H, and 1L/2H.

Bone Mineral Density Measurement

BMD measurements for the patient and control groups were done within a week after blood samples were received. BMD was measured by Dual Energy X-Ray Absorbtiometry (DEXA-hologic® QDR-4500W, Waltham, MA, USA). BMD is expressed as grams per square centimeter. All BMD measurements were performed in the supine position and obtained for the lumbar spine at the L1 through L4 level and for left hip measurement at the femur neck, trochanteric region, Wards triangle in the patients. Results for lumbar spinal BMD were expressed as the average of L1 through L4 values. The World Health Organization (WHO) definition was applied for osteoporosis (T-score ≤ -2.5 SD), osteopenia (T-score between -1.0 and -2.5 SD) and normal BMD (T-score \geq -1.0 SD) according to the T score of the lumbar spines (1-4.) and/or left femur neck [12].

Dialysis Procedure

All patients underwent hemodialysis three times per week for a duration of four hours a day, using a synthetic low-flux hollow-fiber filter (polysulfone membrane) (surface area 1.25 m2), a mean blood flow speed of 200-300 mL/min, and a dialysate flow speed of approximately 500 mL/min during the HD procedure. For peritoneal dialysis patients, CAPD involves four or five dwells per day of 2-2.5 liters per dwell.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS for Windows v15.00 software (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Descriptive data were expressed in mean (X), standard deviation (SD), median (M), interquartile range (IQR), while the Distribution of the groups was evaluated using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Biochemical variables were not normally distributed. The differences between the control, CAPD and HD groups compared by Kruskal Wallis test. Bonferroni posthoc test performed after Kruskal Wallis test. BMD variables were normally distributed. The comparison of BMD variables was conducted one-way ANOVA test. Comparison of analyties concentrations of serum collected before and after HD was made using the Wilcoxon sing test. Correlations between ucOC and all variables (biochemical and BMD) were assessed by non-parametric Spearman's rank correlation test. A p - value of < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. ROC analysis was performed to determine the renal osteodystrophy (ROD) discrimination of ucOC and other parameters. Cut off was made 300 pg/mL iPTH to identify as high turnover bone ROD for ROC analysis (n = 26).

RESULTS

Both ucOC concentrations in the CAPD group were significantly higher than in the control group (p < 0.001). There was no significant difference between the ucOC% values in the CAPD and control groups (p = 0.568, base on posthoc comparison) (Table 2).

The ucOC concentrations in the HD group were higher than in the control group and the difference between the two groups was statistically significant (p < 0.001). There was no significant difference between the HD and control groups in ucOC% values (p = 0.639, base on posthoc comparison). The values of ucOC and other parameters measured in the patient and control group are shown in Table 2. Box plot graphs of ucOC levels in HD, CAPD and control groups are shown in Fig. 1.

Pre-HD ucOC levels were higher than post-HD.

Variables	CAPD	Pre-HD	Post-HD	Control	<i>p</i> value*
	patients	patients	patients		1
	(n = 30)	(n = 24)	(n = 24)	(n = 30)	
ucOC, ng/mL	6.73 (5.19)	9.82 (11.99)	4.46 (3.57)	0.29 (0.21)	< 0.001 ^{a,b,c,d}
ucOC %	15.36 (6.98)	16.79 (8.75)	20.7 (18.31)	18.6 (10.21)	0.265 ^c
OC, ng/mL	46.64 (25.68)	53.94 (40.96)	35.56 (33.88)	2.3 (1.87)	< 0.001 ^{a,b,c,}
B-ALP, U/L	70 (47.0)	82 (70.25)	89.5 (116.5)	46 (16)	0.001 ^{a,b,c}
ALP, U/L	102 (34)	98 (82.5)	105.0 (128.5)	65 (16)	< 0.001 ^{a,b,c}
25(OH)D, ng/mL	18.0 (11.8)	28.25 (18.50)		28.19 (23.40)	0.598 ^a
iPTH, pg/mL	328.1 (225.1)	266.5 (230.0)		50.50 (8.10)	< 0.001 ^{a,b}
Ca, mg/dL	9.08 (1.00)	8.94 (1.03)	10.37 (1.38)	9.40 (0.50)	< 0.001 ^{a,b}
iCa, mmol/L	0.9 6 (0.28)	0.93 (0.29)	1.11 (0.10)	1.03 (0.11)	0.160 ^c
P, mg/dL	4.53 (1.31)	4.48 (2.40)	2.75 (1.25)	3.01 (0.60)	< 0.001 ^{a,b,c}
$Ca \times P (mg2/dl2)$					
Mg, mmol/L	1.0 (0.1)	1.05 (0.10)	0.80 (0.08)	0.81 (0.10)	< 0.001 ^{a,b,c}

Table 2. Comparison of measured analytes of serum in the study groups

Values are presented as median (inter quartile range). *The differences between the control, CAPD and HD groups compared by Kruskal Wallis test. ^aComparison between control and CAPD, ^bComparison between control and HD, ^cComparison between Pre-HD and Post- HD, ^dComparison between Pre-HD and CAPD. The same letters (a, b) indicate significant differences between groups base on Bonferroni posthoc comparison. p - value < 0.05 is statistically significant. ucOC = undercarboxylated osteocalcin, HD = hemodialysis, CAPD = continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis, OC = osteocalcin, ALP = alkaline phosphatase, B-ALP = bone specific alkaline phosphatase, iPTH = intact parathyroid hormone, Ca = calcium, P = phosphate, Mg = magnesium



Fig. 1. ucOC levels in control, CAPD, pre-HD and post-HD groups. Box, inter quartile range (IQR): between 25th and 75th percentiles, horizontal line: median (M)

	CAPD patients	HD Patients	Control	All groups
	(n = 30)	(n = 24)	(n = 30)	
Variables	ucOC	ucOC	ucOC	ucOC
ucOC, ng/mL	$1.000^{*,\#}$	$1.000^{*,\#}$	1.00	$1.000^{*,\#}$
OC, ng/mL	0.781*	0.831* ^{,#}	0.642	$0.828^{*,\#}$
B-ALP, U/L	0.152	0.278	0.280	.456*
ALP, U/L	0.181	0.310	0.206	0.469
25(OH)D, ng/mL	-0.181	-0.027	-0.206	-0579*
iPTH, pg/mL	0.059	0.600*	0.045	0.691*
Ca, mg/dL	-0.145	-0.200	-0.083	-0.148
iCa, mmol/L	-0.186	-0.29	-0.174	-0.043
P, mg/dL	0.232	0.005	0.069	0.348
Mg, mmol/L	0.215	0.115	0.203	0.492
L1-L4, g/cm2	-0.168	-0.241	-0.176	-0.115
FemurTotal, g/cm2	-0.149	-0.104	-0.367	-0.455*

Table 3. The correlation coefficients between ucOC and biochemical variables and BMD values in the study groups

*Indicates statistically significant correlation (p < 0.05), #Indicates statistically a strong significant correlation. BMD = bone mineral density, ucOC = undercarboxylated osteocalcin, HD = hemodialysis, CAPD = continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis, OC = osteocalcin, ALP = alkaline phosphatase, B-ALP = bone specific alkaline phosphatase, iPTH = intact parathyroid hormone, Ca = calcium, P = phosphate, Mg = magnesium, L = Lumbar

This difference was statistically significant (p < 0.005). Although the %UcOC levels were slightly higher in the pre-DH, there was no significant difference between the two groups. There is significant strong correlation between ucOC and ALP, B-ALP and iPTH concentrations when all groups were combined. Table 3 are shown the correlations among ucOC and other biochemical and

Tuble in Comparison of Dirid Values in the study groups.						
BMD (g/cm2)	CAPD Patients (n = 30)	HD Patients (n = 24)	Control (n = 30)	P value*		
L1	0.870 ± 0.16	0.781 ± 0.224	1.02 ± 0.205	< 0.001 ^{a,b}		
L2	0.896 ± 0.237	0.844 ± 0.216	1.087 ± 0.204	< 0.001 ^{a,b}		
L3	0.948 ± 0.218	0.867 ± 0.245	1.121 ± 0.202	< 0.001 ^{a,b}		
L4	0.965 ± 0.192	0.877 ± 0.214	1.125 ± 0.196	< 0.001 ^{a,b}		
L1-L4	0.933 ± 0.174	0.846 ± 0.212	1.106 ± 0.215	< 0.001 ^{a,b}		
Femur neck (g/cm ²)	0.734 ± 0.118	0.646 ± 0.116	0.919 ± 0.152	< 0.001 ^{a,b,c}		
Trochanteric region	0.597 ± 0.119	0.518 ± 0.137	0.774 ± 0.156	< 0.001 ^{a,b}		
Wards Triangle (g/cm ²)	0.651 ± 0.133	0.535 ± 0.203	0.738 ± 0.146	< 0.001 ^{a,b}		
Femur Total	0.835 ± 0.136	0.709 ± 0.177	0.989 ± 0.159	< 0.001 ^{a,b}		

Table 4. Comparison of BMD values in the study groups.

Values are presented as mean \pm standart deviation. *one- way ANOVA test ^aComparison between control and CAPD, ^bComparison between control and HD, ^cComparison between Pre-HD and CAPD The same letters (a,b) indicate significant differences between groups base on Scheffe multiple comparison. *p*-value < 0.05 is statistically significant. BMD = bone mineral density, L = Lumbar

Variables	AUC	p value	Asymptotic 95% Confidence Interval		
			Lower bound	Upper bound	
ucOC	0.869	< 0.001	0.785	0.953	
ucOC%	< 0.5	0.060	0.299	0.575	
OC	0.875	0.001	0.795	0.956	
B-ALP	0.783	0.001	0.669	0.897	
ALP	0.815	0.001	0.702	0.927	
25(OH)D	< 0.5	0.771	0.099	0.332	
L1-L4	< 0.5	0.251	0.344	0.616	
FemurTotal	< 0.5	0.286	0.212	0.474	

Table 5. AUC val	ues of the variables	in determining	; high-turnover	ROD acc	ording to i	РТН
(> 300 pg/mL) res	sults					

AUC = Area under curve, ucOC = undercarboxylated osteocalcin, OC = osteocalcin, ALP = alkaline phosphatase, B-ALP = bone specific alkaline phosphatase, ROD = renal osteodystrophy, iPTH = intact parathyroid hormone

BMD variables.

When compared to the control groups, BMD values were found to be statistically and significantlyhigher than in both the HD andCAPD groups. The BMD values are shown in Table 4.

Patients were classified according to iPTH concentrations (n = 84) to identify high turnover ROD. Patients with iPTH > 300 pg/mL were identified as high turnover bone ROD (n = 26). Cut off was made 300 pg/mL iPTH for ROC analysis. The area under curve (AUC) values of the ROC analysis of the variables is shown in Table 5.

Precision results in our study were as follows: variation coefficients (CV) of intra- assays for ucOC were 9.1% for 1.86 ng/mL and 5.11% for 16.13

Table 6. Recovery (%) values of ucOC

ng/mL; between-days for CVwere 10.32% for 1.86 ng/mL and 5.16% for 16.13 ng/mL. The average %R was 94% for BS. The % recovery values are shown in Table 6.

DISCUSSION

In our study, we aimed to determine the relationship between serum ucOC concentrations and renal bone turnovers in hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis patients. It is also comparable to indirectly measured ucOC concentrations by taking advantage of the BS and HA binding properties of OC. In our study, it was determined that uCOC concentrations were high in pa-

	Expected value (ng/mL)	Measured value (ng/mL)	R (%)				
	ucOC	ucOC	ucOC				
1H/1H	16.28	15.07	92				
2H/1L	11.75	12.01	114				
3H2L	10.49	9.08	86				
1H/1L	9.07	8.19	90				
2H/3L	7.03	6.19	84				
1H/2L	6.60	7.19	108				
1L/1L	1.87	1.67	89				
Total R%			94				

L = Low, H = High, ucOC = undercarboxylated osteocalcin

tients with CKD than those in the healthy control groups. Also, the ucOC concentrations in the HD group were higher than in the CAPD group. ucOC showed a good correlation with other bone formation markers ALP, B-ALP and iPTH. When iPTH with a value > 300 pg/mL was taken as a cut-off, ucOC concentrations for determining high-turnover ROD had a better value than other measured bone markers.

The relationship between ucOC and patients with CKD is not fully understood. In a study carried out by Kohmeier et al. [13], the role of ucOC in bone metabolism, the relationship between ucOCand vitamin K, the old fracture bone story, and the risk of bone fracture was investigated in patients with renal failure. In the study, the relation between bone fracture risk and high hyperparathyroidism prevalence with increased ucOC concentrations due to vitamin K deficiency was shown in HD patients. In a study carried out by Nagata et al. [14], serum ucOC was found to be significantly lower in pre-dialysis patients with chronic kidney disease (CKD) than in HD. In their study, there are significant correlations between ucOC and eGFR levels in pre-dialysis CKD patients [14]. In a the study carried out by Kuzniewski et al. [15], the serum ucOC concentrations in HD patients were significantly higher than in healthy subjects. These studies showed significant correlation between ucOC and iPTH. Our study was consistent with the results of these studies. In our study, the serum ucOC concentration was higher in the HD group than in the healthy control group. There was also a significant correlation between ucOC and OC, B-ALP and ALP concentrations in the HD group. When all study groups were combined, there was significant correlation between ucOC and iPTH concentrations. Increasing iPTH concentrations in patients with CKD may have a positive effect on ucOC concentrations. Or conversely, ucOC elevation may be contributing to PTH elevation.

When we investigated ucOC concentrations in a CAPD patients group, the subclinical vitamin K deficiency and resulting changes in ucOC concentrations due to K vitamin status was studied [16]. In their study, the cut off for ucOC% ratio was described to be > 20% in ROC analysis for determine high turnover ROD according for iPTH (> 300 pg/mL) concentrations. This study showed positive correlation between phosphate, iPTH and ucOC%. In another in a study, theucOC/OC ratio was significantly higher in HD than

in pre-dialysis patients with CKD [14]. In our study there wasn't a significantly different ucOC% when all the groups were compared.

There are many factors thatcan affect bone metabolism in patients with CKD. High PTH concentrations, hypocalcemia, hyperphosphatemia, low vitamin D and many uremic toxins affect bone formation and destruction. There is therefore a marked increase in the markers of bone formation and destruction. In our study, ucOC concentration was high in patient groups. However, the lack of statistical difference between ucOC% values suggests that not only UCOC but also OC concentrations are increased in HD and CAPD patients.

In our study, we measured ucOC before and after HD to investigate the effect of dialysis process on ucOC. Pre-HD ucOC levels were higher than post-HD. This difference was statistically significant (p < 0.005). Although the %ucOC levels were slightly higher in the pre-DH, there was no significant difference between the two groups. According to this result, there is a decrease in ucOC concentrations due to the dialysis procedure. There is no information on the effect of dialysis in the literature search. Our prediction may be loss of ucOC or an increase in OC fragment due to dialysis.

OC is normally a molecule that undergoes rapid glomerular filtration. Increase in OC concentration is expected in renal failure. In uremic patients, osteoblastic activity is increased due to hyperparathyroidism, and consequently, OC is increased. It is indicated that different fragments of osteocalcin are released from bone tissue in renal failure [17]. Furthermore, different OC fragments occur due to proteolytic degradation of the OC molecule in the plasma. In CRF patients, 26% of total OC has been shown to be intact OC. The remaining 74% are reported to be composed of N-terminal, mid-region, mid-region C-terminal and C-terminal regions, which are mainly OC fragments. In the measurement of osteocalcin, these fragments may also contribute to high outcome [18]. In addition, the epitopes used in antibody production for OC measurements are important. In our study, the OC reagent used for detecting intact OC. This reagent used develops monoclonal antibodies against different epitopes of the molecule. The regions of these epitopes were not specified in the prospectus of the OC reagent. Thus, the ELISA reagent used for OC may have been measuring fragments that were outside the "intact" molecule in patients with CKD. This explains why ucOC% does not differ between groups. If the different fragments of OC are measured, the increase in ucOC in the patient groups will not reflect the increase in ucOC%.

In patients with CKD, secondary hyperparathyroidism is associated with the development of ROD and iPTH measurement is important in the diagnosis and follow-up of ROD < 100 pg/mL and > 300 pg/mLiPTH concentrations suggest low-turnover bone diseaseand high-turnover bone disease, respectively [18]. In our study, iPTH concentrations were found to be > 300 pg/mL in 22 patients, 100-300 pg/mL in 22 patients and <100 pg/mL in 5 patients. When iPTH with a value > 300 pg/mL was taken as a cut-off, ucOC concentrations when determining high-turnover ROD according to PTH results had a better value than other measured bone markers. However, ROD is the gold standard of bone biopsy in diagnosis and typing. Therefore, evaluation based on bone biopsy is necessary. There is insufficient information in literature to determine the relationship between ROD and ucOC, which is the basis of bone biopsy. Therefore, further work is needed to determine the relationship between ROD and ucOC.

Relationship between BMD values and bone markers in CKD

DEXA is a cheap, rapid and non-invasive technique for determining osteopenia. Although the value of BMD is low in determining the ROD type, it is used to show the bone mineral status of patients with CKD. It is known that kidney disease is a well-established risk factor for many changes in bone mineral metabolism and development of osteoporosis [19]. In our study, the prevalence of osteopenia and osteoporosis in the CKD subjects was 73 % and 20%, respectively. In a study by Rix et al. [20], BMD and biochemical bone markers were measured in patients with CKD. In this study, the BMD values of the patient group were found to be significantly lower than in the control group. In our study, the BMD values of CKD patients were statistically significantly lower compared to the control group. There is no study showing the relationship between BMD and ucOC concentration in patients with CKD. In other studies [22-24], there was a negative correlation between ucOC concentration and BMD. Similar to these studies in our study, a strong

negative correlation was found between ucOC concentrations and BMD values in all patients and control groups.

CONCLUSION

ucOC concentrations in the CKD group were higher than those in the healthy control groups. Also, the ucOC concentrations in the HD group were higher than in the CAPD group. HD affects ucOC concentrations. ucOC% levels, unexpectedly, did not differ between groups. This may be due to the increased number of OC fragments in the serum of the CKD patients. ucOC showed a good correlation with other bone formation markers ALP, B-ALP and iPTH. This suggests that ucOC may be a good bone marker in CRF. ucOC also showed a good discrimination in high and low alternating ROD groups compared to iPTH cut-off concentrations.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: MA, DY; Study Design: MA, DY; Supervision: MA, VF, DY; Funding: MA, GS, DY; Materials: MA, VF, AA, MD, DY; Data Collection and/or Processing: MA, VF, AA, MD; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: MA, MFA, DY; Literature Review: MA, GS, MD, DY; Manuscript Preparation: MA, MFA and Critical Review: MA, DY.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

REFERENCES

1. Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) CKD-MBD Update Work Group. KDIGO 2017 Clinical Practice Guideline Update for the Diagnosis, Evaluation, Prevention, and Treatment of Chronic Kidney Disease–Mineral and Bone Disorder (CKD-MBD). Kidney Int Suppl (2011) 2017;7:1-59.

2. Dhondup T, Qian Q. Electrolyte and acid-base disorders in chronic kidney disease and end-stage kidney failure. Blood Purif 2017;43:179-88.

3. Piraino B, Chen T, Cooperstein L, Serge G, Puschett J. Fractures and vertebral bone mineral density in patients with renal osteodystrophy. Clin Nephrol 1998;30:57-62.

4. Hutchison AJ, Whitehouse RW, Boulton HF, Adams EJ, Mawer BE, et al. Correlation of bone histology with parathyroid hormone, vitamin D3 and radiology in end-state renal disease. Kidney Int 1993;44:1071-7.

5. Vermeer C, Jie KSG, Knapen MHJ. Role of vitamin K in bone metabolism. Annu Rev Nutr 1995;15:1-22.

6. Saupe J, Shearer MJ, Kohlmeier M. Phylloquinone transport and its influence on gama -carboxyglutamate residues of osteocalcin in patients on maintenance hemodialysis. Am J Clin Nutr 1993;58:204-8.

7. Sokoll LJ, Sadowski JA. Comparison of biochemical indexes for assessing vitamin K nutritional status in a healthy adult population. Am J Clin Nutr 1996;63:566-73.

8. Malyszko J, Wolczynski S, Skrzydlewska E, Malyszko JS, MysliwiecM.Vitamin K status in relation to bone metabolism in patients with renal failure. Am J Nephrol 2002;22:504-8.

9. Sokoll L, O'Brien ME, Camilo ME, Sadowski JA. Undercarboxylated osteocalcin: development of a method to determine vitamin K status. Clin Chem 1995;41:1121-8.

10. Koyama N, Ohara K, Yokota H. A one step sandwich enzyme immunoassay for gamma-carboxylated osteocalcin using monoclonal antibodies. J Immunol Methods 1991;139:17-23.

 Mass DW, Henderson AR, Enzymes: Burtis CA, Ashwood ER (Ed.) Tietz Textbook of Clinical Chemistry and Molecular Diagnostics. 2th ed. St. Louis, MO: Elsevier Saunders, 1994:843.
 Fischer M, Raue F. Measurements of bone mineral density. Q J Nucl Med 1999;43:233-40.

13. Kohlmeier M, Saupe J, Shearer MJ, Schaefer K, Asmus G. Bone health of adullt hemodialysis patients is related K status. Kidney Int 1997;51:1218-21.

14. Nagata Y, Inaba M, Imanishi Y, Okazaki H, Yamada S, et al. Increased undercarboxylated osteocalcin/intact osteocalcin ratio in patients undergoing hemodialysis. Osteoporos Int 2015;26:1053-61.

15. Kuzniewski M, Fedak D, Dumnicka P, Kapusta M, Stępien E, Chowaniec, et al. Carboxylated and intact osteocalcin predict adiponectin concentration in hemodialyzed patients. Renal Fail 2016;38:451-7.

16. Gundberg CM, Weinstein RS. Multiple immunnoreactive forms of ostecalcin in uremic serum. J Clin Invest 1986;77:1762-67.

17. Garneo P, Grimaux M, Seguin P, Delmas PD. Characterization of immunreactive forms of human osteocalcin generated in vivo and in vitro. J Bone Miner Res 1994;9:255-65.

18. Liach F, Bover J. Renal osteodystrophy in the kidney. In:BrennerBM, Rector FC, Eds. Brenner and Rector's kidney. Philedelphia, WB Saunders, 1996. p. 2187-273.

19. Stehman-Breen CO, Sherrard DJ, Alem AM, Gillen DL, Heckbert SR, Wong CS, et al. Risk factors for hip fracture among patients with end-stage renal disease. Kidney Int 2000;58:2200-5.

20. Rix M, Andreassen H, Eskildsen P, Langdahl B, Olgaard K. Bone mineral density and biochemical markers of bne turnover in patients with predialysis chronic renal failure. Kidney Int 1999;56:1084-93.

21. Szulc P, Chapuy MC, Meunier PJ, Delmas PD. Serum undercarbaxylated osteocalcin is a marker of risk of hip fracture in elderly women. J Clin Invest 1993;91:1769-74.

22. Kim SM, Kim KM, Kim BT, Joo NS, Kim KN, Lee DJ, et al. Correlation of undercarboxylated osteocalcin (ucOC) concentration and bone density with age in healthy Korean women.J Korean Med Sci 2010;25:1171-5.

23. Yamauchi M, Yamaguchi T, Nawata K, Takaoka S, Sugimoto T. Relationships between undercarboxylated osteocalcin and vitamin K intakes, bone turnover, and bone mineral density in healthy women. Clin Nutr 2010;22:434-56.

24. Plantalech L, Guillaumont M, Leclercq M, Delmas PD. Impaired carboxylation of serum osteocalcin in elderly women. J Bone Miner Res 1991;6:1211-16.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.822818

Does the use of the dominant hand affect the direction of sinus extension to orient towards the right and left in pilonidal disease?

Süleyman Kargın¹^o, Osman Doğru²^o, Ersin Turan³^o, Ramazan Saygın Kerimoğlu²^o

¹Department of General Surgery, KTO Karatay University School of Medicine, Konya, Turkey ²Department of General Surgery, Konya Training and Research Hospital, Konya, Turkey ³Department of General Surgery, Beyhekim State Hospital, Konya, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives: The etiology of pilonidal sinus disease is still controversial. Acquired theory in its etiology has become more popular nowadays. The aim of this study was to investigate the effects of dominant hand use on sinus features and sinus direction.

Methods: Eight hundred and sixty-five patients with diagnosis of primer pilonidal sinus disease were included. Data on patients' ages, BMI, over-sitting histories, duration of disease, dominant hand use histories, the condition of their sinuses at the time of presentation, the number of sinus openings, sinus directions, and sinus extension directions were collected. Relationship was evaluated between dominant hand use and sinus direction or sinus extension direction.

Results: There was no statistically significant difference between the patients' ages, sexes, BMI figures, the durations of disease and over- sitting history and dominant hand use. While the sinus directions of patients who had shorter duration of disease were towards the midline, it was seen that as the duration of disease increased the sinus extensions were oriented any side (p = 0.01). There was, however, a significant relationship between the sinus extension direction and dominant hand use. It was observed that the sinus extension direction of the patients who dominantly used their right was towards the left, while the sinus extension direction of the patients with dominant left hands was towards the right (p = 0.04, RR:2.05).

Conclusions: The fact that sinus extension directions can change against factors affecting body positions proves to be another factor which shows that pilonidal sinus disease is an acquired disease.

Keywords: Dominant hand, acquired theory, pilonidal disease, sinus direction

Pilonidal sinus disease (PSD), a chronic inflammation affecting the skin on the intergluteal cleft and the posterior of the anus, is one of the most common diseases in surgical practice. It had been previously suggested that the disease was congenital as it led to the entrapment of hair follicles in the sacrococcygeal area due to fusion failure on the dorsal midline. However, recent studies have been strongly supporting an acquired etiology [1]. According to Bascom, hair follicles in the gluteal cleft get infected by keratin leading to local infection and abscess formation, and their local suction force causes the hair to enter the infected pit and settle in the abscess cavity [2]. On the other hand, Karydakis [3] argues that it brings the disease

Received: November 9, 2020; Accepted: December 21, 2020; Published Online: March 21, 2021



How to cite this article: Kargın S, Doğru O, Turan E, Kerimoğlu RS. Does the use of the dominant hand affect the direction of sinus extension to orient towards the right and left in pilonidal disease? Eur Res J 2021;7(3):235-240. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.822818

Address for correspondence: Süleyman Kargın, MD., Assistant Professor, KTO Karatay University School of Medicine, Medicana Konya Hospital, Department of General Surgery, Feritpaşa Cad., 42080 Selçuklu, Konya, Turkey. E-mail: drs.kargin@hotmail.com, Tel: +90 332 22118080/ext. 2067, Fax: +90 332 2356556

> ©Copyright 2021 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj

about by loose hair penetrating the normal tissue which leads to foreign body reaction followed by additional hair inserting into the subcutaneous tissue from the secondary openings.

It has published an ample number of studies on the factors that played a role in its etiology as it is regarded to be an acquired disease today. The results of these studies have revealed many cofactors including body weight, sweating, repeated exposure to trauma (e.g., truck drivers, over-sitting history), body hygiene, hair type, and right sacrococcygeal angle might have contributed to this disease [4, 5]. However, over-sitting history is the most important cofactor among its because of loose hair penetrating the normal tissue and repeated exposure to trauma [6-8]. Although many studies have been conducted to find out the factors that caused PSD, there has been no study in literature to determine the factors affecting sinus features.

Individuals use their right or left hands according to the dominant side in their brains. We have thought that the gluteal area is prone to positioning according to the surface on which one sits based on the dominant hand, especially in individuals who carry out desk jobs by sitting as clinical observation. Moreover, we observed that sinus abscess openings are more frequently on the left side of gluteal area in the crystallized phenol treatments we have been applying for about 20 years. Therefore, we hypothesized that it can be suggested that individuals tilt their gluteal areas towards the dominant hand side causing the abscess to incline towards that direction because the pressure on the other side is lower. The aim of this study was to investigate the effects of dominant hand use on sinus direction and sinus extension direction, thereby, to contribute to the acquired theory.

METHODS

The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki of the World Medical Association. Ethics committee approval numbered 2018/015 was obtained by the Ethic Committee of Karatay University. It made an informed consent form to all patients before procedure. The data of 1,089 patients, who had presented to Konya Training and Research Hospital's General Surgery Clinic because of PSD between January 2005 and February 2015, were prospec-

tively collected, and retrospectively analyzed. A total of 224 patients were excluded from the study including 160 postoperative recurrence patients and 64 patients whose data on dominant hand use were available but data on sinus direction were unavailable. Eight hundred and sixty-five (79.4%) patients were included in the study. Data on patients' ages, body mass index (BMI, kg/m²), working or travel with prolonged sitting histories (over-sitting histories), duration of disease, dominant hand use histories, the condition of their sinuses at the time of presentation, the number of sinus openings, sinus directions, and sinus extension directions were collected.

Demographic Features of the Patients

Body mass index of the patients were calculated as kg/m^2 . The patients were classified according to whether they had an over-sitting history in daily life because of their professions. Sitting anamneses of those who spent at least 6 hours of their working or travelling sitting because of their professions were regarded to be positive. Duration of the disease (month) was calculated as the time from the first onset of the disease to the presentation time. The patients' hands that they used to write were regarded to be their dominant hands.

Sinus Features

The sinus features of the patients at the time of presentation were evaluated according to be chronic PSD or acute PSD with abscess. If patients had sinus openings supporting abscess like drained abscess opening and exerting purulent fluid in the sacrococcygeal area at the time of presentation, their cases were regarded to be pilonidal sinus with acute abscess. The patients' number of primary openings and secondary openings were recorded individually. Moreover, primary and secondary opening directions were classified into 4 groups as cephalad, caudal, sacral, and multiple. Sinus extension directions were classified according to the extension direction of the sinus as right, left, and the midline when the patients were laid down in the prone position (Table 1). However, since we aimed to examine the sinus extension direction in our study, midline direction was neglected in the analyzes.

Statistical Analysis

Mean, standard deviation, the lowest and the high-

Sinus directions	
Cephalad	Upward sinus extension
Caudal	Downward sinus extension
Sacral	Sinus deepening towards the sacrum not towards the cephalad or the caudal
Multiple	Cases in which the sinus incorporates more than one of the above-mentioned localizations
Sinus extension direction	s
Right	Sinus extension extending towards the right lateral to midline or secondary openings located on the right lateral to midline
Left	Sinus extension extending towards the left lateral to midline or secondary openings located on the left side
Midline	Sinus extension or secondary openings on the midline like pores in the natal cleft

Fable 1	l. The	classific	ation o	of sinus	s directions	and sinus	extension	directions

est values, median, frequency, and ratio figures were used in the descriptive statistical analyses of the collected data. The distribution of the variables was measured with the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. The Mann-Whitney U test was used for the analyses of quantitative independent data. Chi-square Test was used for the analyses of qualitative independent data, while Fischer's Exact Test was conducted when the conditions of the Chi-square Test were not met. Relative risk (RR) and Confidence Interval (CI) was calculated for risk ratio of dominant hand use. SPSS 22.0 software was used in the analyses.

RESULTS

The mean age of the patients was 26 ± 8.2 (12-67) years. Seven hundred and forty-one of the patients were males (85.7%). The mean BMI was 26.3 ± 3.9 (13.9-44.3). The median duration of disease was 12 (0-240) months. Five hundred and six (58.5%) patients had over-sitting anamneses. Eight hundred and twelve (93.8%) of the patients covered by the study were right-hand dominant, while 53 (6.2%) were left-hand dominant.

There was no statistically significant difference

	Right Hand		Left Hand	Left Hand		
	Mean ± SD/ N-%	Median	Mean ± SD/ N-%	Median		
Age	26.1 ± 8.3	25.0	24.2 ± 7.3	22.0	0.057 ^m	
Sex						
Male	696 (85.7%)		45 (84.9%)		0.871^{X^2}	
Female	116 (14.3%)		8 (15.1%)			
Height (cm)	174.1 ± 8.0	175.0	175.2 ± 8.3	174.0	0.611 ^m	
Weight (kg)	80.0 ± 14.1	80.0	80.2 ± 15.9	78.0	0.646 ^m	
BMI	26.3 ± 3.9	26.0	26.0 ± 4.0	25.2	0.282 ^m	
Duration of disease complaint (Month)	21.3 ± 32.5	12.0	21.9 ± 33.3	12.0	0.658 ^m	
Over-sitting History						
None	342 (42.1%)		17 (32.1%)		0.151^{x^2}	
Yes	470 (57.,9%)		36 (67.9%)			
Total	812 (100.0%)		53 (100.0%)			

Table 2. Distribution of demographic data according to dominant hand use of patients

^m Mann-whitney u test / X² Chi-square Test

between the patients' ages, sexes, BMI figures, the durations of disease complaint, over-sitting history, and dominant hand use (Table 2). Physical examination at the time of first presentation revealed that 757 (87.5%) of the patients had chronic, while 108 (12.5%) had acute PSD.

It showed the sinus extensions and sinus directions extensions in Table 3. The sinus directions extended towards the right side in 139 (16.1%) patients, towards the left side in 198 (22.9%) patients, and towards the midline in 528 (61.0%) patients (Table 3). When the sinus extension direction was grouped as midline and other extension directions (left and right direction), the average duration of disease was 15.63 ± 32.85 in the midline group, 23.96 ± 32.01 months in the other directions group, and duration of disease was significantly shorter in the midline group than the other directions (p = 0.001).

It is shown that evaluation of sinus characteristics according to dominant hand use in Table 3. We found no statistically significant difference in the number of primary openings and the number of secondary openings according to dominant hand use (p = 0.304 and p = 0.507, respectively). We found no relationship between acute presentation and dominant hand use either (p = 0.488). There was no relationship between sinus directions and dominant hand use as well (p = 0.628). There was, however, a significant relationship between the sinus extension direction and dominant hand use. It was observed that the sinus extension direction of the patients who dominantly used their right hands was towards the left, while the sinus extension direction of the patients with dominant left hands was towards the right (p = 0.04, relative risk is 2.05 [%95 CI 0.97-4.30] (Table 3).

DISCUSSION

Congenital and acquired theories have been still argued in the pathogenesis of PSD [9-11]. During the period beginning with the description of PSD until the last quarter of the 20th century, the idea that the congenital theory played a role in its etiology was dominant. However, it has been recently suggested that PSD is an acquired disease rather than a congenital one. This idea has been supported by various observations like it was formed in different areas of the body with skin folding such as the axilla, umbilicus, the penis and fingers of barbers; it was also seen in adults, and the recurrence seen in the related tissue despite total excision [12-14]. In this study, we aimed to evaluate a hypothesis that we observed based on our clinical experience which we believe will contribute to the

	Right Hand		Left Hand	Left Hand		
	Mean±SD/ N-%	Median	Mean±SD/ N-%	Median		
Number of primer opening	2.1 ± 1.6	2.0	2.3 ± 1.6	2.0	0.304 ^m	
Number of seconder opening	0.5 ± 0.7	0.0	0.5 ± 0.8	0.0	0.507 ^m	
Sinus presentation						
Chronic	709 (87.3%)		48 (90.6%)		0.488^{x^2}	
Acute	103 (12.7%)		5 (9.4%)			
Sinus Direction						
Cephalad	687 (93.9%)		45 (6.1%)			
Caudal	47 (96.0%)		2 (4.0%)		0.628^{x^2}	
Sacral	35 (89.7%)		4 (10.3%)			
Multipl	42 (95.5%)		2 (4.5%)			
Direction of sinus extention						
Right	127 (91.4%)		12 (8.6%)		0.040 ^{x²}	
Left	193 (97.5%)		5 (2.5%)			

 Table 3. Evaluation of sinus characteristics according to dominant hand use

^m Mann-whitney u test / X² Chi-Square test

acquired theory with a unique perspective.

According to acquired theory, it is known that however a lot of factors affecting etiology (local trauma, obesity, family history, and over-sitting history etc.) the major cause of the disease was the penetration of loose hair in both theories [15-17]. Loose hairs get chronic inflammation to enter the vulnerable skin because of recurrent trauma [18]. The sinus formed is in the midline in the first stage. However, sinus moves forward because of reasons we do not know. Although PSD is frequently seen in cephalad direction after formation, it may be caudal, sacral, and rarely in multiple directions in some patients. Also, sinus extension direction is towards the right or left gluteal region after recurrent abscess attacks. To date, it has connected no studies on the factors affecting sinus extension direction in the literature. This is the first study that performed on risk factors affecting sinus extension direction.

Undoubtedly, one of the most important factors accused in the etiology of PSD is over-sitting [6, 7, 19]. Bolandparvaz *et al.* [6] reported that the risk of PSD development increased in individuals who sat daily for 4 or more hours on average. Moreover, many studies have demonstrated the relationship between profession and the PSD disease [7, 20]. Kaymakcioglu *et al.* [7] in their study investigating the relationship between PSD and profession found that it was most seen in office staff (24.4%). The reason for this is the fact that over-sitting leads to trauma in the sacrococcygeal area.

We saw in our clinical observations that especially right-handed patients' sinus openings extended towards the left gluteal area. So, we developed a hypothesis like this: During sitting for a long time, especially writing, we are positioned on the gluteal region toward the dominant hand used. This situation leads to an increase in pressure in the gluteal area on that side while bringing about a decrease in pressure on the opposite side. According to the acquired theory, the increase in pressure causes the loose hair in the sacrococcygeal area to penetrate the skin [3, 21]. We believe that this is caused because the sinus abscess orients towards the opposite side where there is less pressure, and the sinus tract moves along that side since the pressure increases in the gluteal area on the dominant hand side during writing in office staff and students. Nevertheless, this situation is not only related to over-sitting because of one's profession because individuals lean towards the side of their dominant hands in their daily activities when sitting.

The results of our study revealed that the SPD initially developed on the midline in lots of patients (61%) but as the duration of disease complaint got longer sinus extension oriented towards the right or the left according to the dominant hand. The duration of disease of patients who sinus extension direction is midline was significantly shorter than patients with any sinus extension direction (p = 0.01). Therefore, we excluded patients who have midline sinus extension direction to analyze whether dominant hand use is a risk marker that affects the sinus extension direction in our study. The direction of sinus extension has already been more towards the left side because of the dominance of the right hand is widespread (Table 3). Also, we have revealed that the fact that patients with dominant hands had sinus extensions towards the opposite side was statistically significant (p = 0.04, RR= 2.05). In our study we have contributed to the acquired theory by explaining that the SP disease was an acquired disease and acquired factors changed the development of the disease.

CONCLUSION

Consequently, the fact that sinus extension dimensions can change against factors affecting body positions proves to be another factor which demonstrates that PSD is an acquired disease.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: SK, OD; Study Design: SK; Supervision: OD, RSK; Funding: SK, ET; Materials: SK, ET, RSK; Data Collection and/or Processing: SK, OD, ET; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: OD, RSK; Literature Review: SK, OD; Manuscript Preparation: SK and Critical Review: OD, ET.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during the conduction or writing of this study.

REFERENCES

1. Kanat BH, İlhan YS. History of pilonidal disease. Turkiye Klinikleri J Gen Surg-Special Topics 2018;11:81-4.

2. Bascom J, Bascom T. Failed pilonidal surgery: new paradigm and new operation leading to cures. Arch Surg 2002;137:1146-50, discussion 1151.

3. Karydakis GE. New approach to the problem of pilonidal sinus. Lancet 1973;2:1414-5.

4. Buie LA, Curtiss RK. Pilonidal disease. Surg Clin North Am 1952;1247-59.

5. Doll D, Petersen S. Trauma is not a common origin of pilonidal sinus. Dermatol Surg 2008;34:283-4.

6. Bolandparvaz S, Moghadam DP, Salahi R, Paydar S, Bananzadeh M, Abbasi HR, et al. Evaluation of the risk factors of pilonidal sinus: a single center experience. Turk J Gastroenterol 2012; 23:535-7.

7. Kaymakcioglu N, Yagci G, Simsek A, Unlu A, Tekin OF. Treatment of pilonidal sinus by phenol application and factors affecting the recurrence. Tech Coloproctol 2005; 9:21-4.

8. Camci C. Pilonidal sinus disease: definition/epidemiology/pathophysiology/clinical outcome. Turkiye Klinikleri J Gen Surg-Special Topics 2018;11:85-7.

9. Harlak A, Mentes O, Kilic S, Coskun K, Duman K, Yılmaz F. Sacrococcygeal pilonidal disease: analysis of previously proposed risk factors. Clinics (Sao Paulo) 2010; 65:125-31.

10. Fitzpatrick EB, Chesley PM, Oguntoye MO, Maykel JA, Johnson EK, Steele SR. Pilonidal disease in a military population: how far have we really come? Am J Surg 2014;207:907-14. 11. Yildiz T, Elmas B, Yucak A, Turgut HT, Ilce Z. Risk factors for pilonidal sinus disease in teenagers. Indian J Pediatr 2016;84:134-8.

12. Uysal AC, Orbay H, Uraloglu M, Sensoz O, Hyakusoku H. Rare occupational disease of hairdressers: interdigital pilonidal sinus. J Nippon Med Sch2007;74:354-6.

13. Eryilmaz R, Sahin M, Okan I, Alimoglu O, Somay A. Umbilical pilonidal sinus disease: predisposing factors and treatment. World J Surg 2005;29:1158-60.

14. Hull TL, Wu J. Pilonidal disease. Surg Clin North Am 2002;82:1169-85.

15. Karydakis GE. Hair insertion (pilonidal sinus). Helleni Arm Forc Med Rev 1968;2:273-85.

16. Karydakis GE. Easy and successful treatment of pilonidal sinus after explanation of its causative process. Aust NZJ Surg 1992;62:385-9.

17. Doll D, Matevossian E, Wietelmann K, Evers T, Kriner M, Petersen S. Family history of pilonidal sinus predisposes to earlier onset of disease and a 50 % long-term recurrence rate. Dis Colon Rectum 2009;52:1610-5.

 Bascom J. Pilonidal disease: origin from follicles of hairs and results of follicle removal as treatment. Surgery 1980;87:567-72.
 Kanat BH, Sözen S. Disease that should be remembered: Sacrococcygeal pilonidal sinus disease and short history. World J Clin Cases 2015;3:876-9.

20. Duman K, Gırgın M, Harlak A. Prevalence of sacrococcygeal pilonidal disease in Turkey. Asian J Surg 2017;40:434-7.

21. Işık A, Fırat D, İdiz UO. Approaches to recurrent/complicated and acute cases. Turkiye Klinikleri J Gen Surg-Special Topics 2018;11:112-4.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.738334

Cardiovascular Surgery

Efficiency of the endovenous cyanoacrylate for the treatment of varicose veins using the VenablockTM system: a 24-month follow-up study of 116 patients

Ali Cemal Düzgün¹[®], Ekin İlkeli²[®], Fehmi Katırcıoğlu¹[®]

¹Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, University of Health Sciences, Ankara Training and Research Hospital, Ankara, Turkey ²Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Düzce Atatürk State Hospital, Düzce, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives: Dilation of superficial veins and valvular insufficiency cause the common condition, varicose veins (VVs) on the lower extremities. The treatment modalities for VVS include endovascular thermal ablation techniques using laser, steam and radiofrequency, surgery, foam sclerotherapy, which has various adverse effects. N-butyl cyanoacrylate (NBCA) is a relatively novel polymerizating agent that is used for the treatment of VVs. The aim of this study is to evaluate and present the 24 months outcomes results of endovenous NBCA treatment in 116 patients with VV.

Methods: This is a prospective study on 116 patients (71 females, 45 males), treated in a single-center between August 2017 and March 2019. NBCA administration (Venablock[®], Invamed, Turkey) was carried out with local anesthesia under ultrasound guidance. All patients were scheduled for follow-up evaluation at 2 weeks, 3, 6, 9, 12, and 24 months. Clinical assessment, VCSS, and ultrasound were performed on patients in the follow-up visits.

Results: The mean follow-up period was 16.27 ± 5.62 months. The preoperative and postoperative VCSS values were 6.93 ± 2.60 and 2.40 ± 1.12 , respectively (p < 0.0001). The patients with a greater GSV diameter experienced an unfavorable outcome following the NBCA procedure (p < 0.001). The overall complication rate was 12.9%. The complete occlusion was achieved in 101 (87.0%) patients.

Conclusions: The NBCA administration is a safe treatment method for the VVs, and provides a satisfactory occlusion ratio with improved outcomes.

Keywords: cyanoacrylate, varicose veins, chronic venous insufficiency, VenablockTM

Varicose veins (VVs) of the lower extremities are common chronic conditions that occur due to the dilation of superficial veins and valvular insufficiency. It has been reported that every one out of three people suffers from this condition in varying degrees, and their life quality is impaired gradually [1]. The most affected vessels are great and small saphenous veins, and the symptoms vary in a great diversity from fa-

tigue, pain, and swelling to skin ulcers on the frontal side of the tibial surface [2]. Older age, female gender, pregnancy, family history of deep venous thrombosis and venous diseases, longer durations of standing and walking, Caucasian origin are among the risk factors for VV development [3, 4].

Clinical-Etiologic-Anatomic-Pathophysiologic (CEAP) classification is employed for the worldwide

Received: June 13, 2020; Accepted: September 18, 2020; Published Online: March 20, 2021



How to cite this article: Düzgün AC, İlkeli E, Katırcıoğlu F. Efficiency of the endovenous cyanoacrylate for the treatment of varicose veins using the VenablockTM system: a 24-month follow-up study of 116 patients. Eur Res J 2021;7(3):241-247. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.738334 Address for correspondence: Ekin İlkeli, MD., Düzce Atatürk State Hospital, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Düzce, Turkey

Address for correspondence: Ekin Ilkeli, MD., Duzce Ataturk State Hospital, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Duzce, E-mail: ekinilkeli@hotmail.com, GSM: +90 505 6384372

> ©Copyright 2021 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj
classification of venous diseases since 1994 subcategorizing the severity of the VVs depending on numerous variables [5].

The treatment options for VVS include thermal ablation techniques with laser, steam and radiofrequency, surgery, foam sclerotherapy, which has their own disadvantages and complications including anesthesia requirement, embolism, rec]urrence, and hematoma formation [6, 7]. Recently, an endovenous mechanochemical treatment agent, n-butyl cyanoacrylate (NBCA) has been popularized with favorable outcomes and easy-to-use methodology for the treatment of VVs. When contacted with the anions in blood, the NBCA administered into the vessel rapidly polymerizes and provides the occlusion of the VVs by an inflammatory response resulting in fibrosis [8, 9].

In this study, we aimed to evaluate and present the short-term results of endovenous NBCA treatment in 116 patients with different levels of venous insufficiency and VV severity. The patients were compared in terms of the occlusion status (partial occlusion, complete occlusion, recanalization) following the NBCA treatment procedure.

METHODS

This prospective study involved a total of 116 patients (71 female, 45 male) who were treated for VVs with NBCA administration (Venablock[®], Invamed, Turkey) in a single-center between August 2017 and March 2019.

Inclusion/exclusion Criteria

All patients were evaluated according to the CEAP classification. A Doppler ultrasonography in standing position was also performed. Patients >18 years of age with a CEAP class C2-C6 VVs, GSV diameter of >5.5mm, reflux current 2 sec or longer were included. Patients with a GSV diameter of <5.5mm or >13 mm, with chronic or acute thrombophlebitis, deep venous insufficiency or thrombosis, systemic infection, hypercoagulability state, previous history of phlebectomy or sclerotherapy were excluded. Pregnant and lactating patients and patients who preferred another treatment method were also excluded.

The Venous Clinical Severity Score (VCSS) was calculated for each patient before and after the proce-

dure. For the evaluation of The VCSS, 0 corresponds to no significant venous disease and 30 is the worst available score [10].

Informed consent of all patients was obtained. The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

Procedure

All procedures were carried out with local anesthesia under ultrasound guidance as previously described with the patient in the supine position. The administration of the Venablock® system technique has been previously described. Briefly, a 7F vascular sheath was inserted into the GSV, and a J-guide wire was inserted into the saphenofemoral junction through the sheath. The 4F micro delivery catheter was inserted and a total of 1.5-2 ml of NBCA was applied to the GSV segments with as increments of 0.2-0.3 ml. An immediate external compression was applied for 30 sec. After the procedure, a full-length elastic bandage was applied on the index leg and asked to unwrap after 24 hours. Patients were asked to walk for 15 minutes and discharged on the same day. All patients are scheduled for follow-up evaluation at 2 weeks, 3, 6, 9, 12, and 24 months. Clinical assessment, VCSS, and ultrasound were performed on patients in the followup visits.

Evaluation of the Patients

All patients who underwent VV treatment using NBCA were subgrouped into two main outcome groups depending on their occlusion status: Group 1: Partial occlusion and recanalization; Group 2: Complete occlusion. The occlusion status was evaluated in accordance with the Merchant *et al.* [12]. Complete occlusion (CO) was defined as the lack of flow in the treated segment of varicose GSV, whereas partial occlusion (PO) was defined as the ≤ 5 cm segment of flow in the treated vein. Recanalization was defined as >5 cm segment of flow in the treated vein.

Two comparative groups with different outcomes after NBCA treatment were compared in terms of weight, age, gender, diameter of the GSV, follow-up duration, the length and side of the affected vessel, a history of pake excision, CEAP class, degree of insufficiency, complications after the procedure, and VCSS before and after the procedure.

Statistical Analysis

The statistical evaluation of this study was performed using the statistical program SPSS v.11.5 (SPSS Inc, Chicago, IL). Descriptive statistics were given as mean±standard deviation for continuous variables and, as frequency and percentage for categorical variables. The student's t-test was performed if the normal distribution was provided, and Mann-Whitney U test if otherwise. When the relationship between the two qualitative variables was examined, Chi-square and Fisher's exact t-tests were used. The comparison of the variables before and after the procedure was performed using the paired samples t-test and Chisquare test. The time for occlusion was determined using a Kaplan-Meier survival curve. The statistical significance level was considered as < 0.05.

RESULTS

Variables

In our study setting, we compared the outcome characteristics of the patients who underwent NBCA

treatment for the management of VVs during the follow-up. The mean follow-up was 16.27 ± 5.62 months. The CO was achieved in 101 (87.0%) patients. Twelve (10.3%) of the patients experienced an PO, whereas recanalization was present in three (2.7%) patients.

While patients were categorized into two subgroups depending on their occlusion status after the procedure, Group 1 consisted of 15 patients (8 females, 7 males) with an outcome of partial occlusion and recanalization after the procedure. Group 2 included 101 individuals (63 female, 38 male) with total occlusion of the affected vein. The comparison of variables between the groups was presented in Table 1.

The mean age of the patients was 52.67 ± 8.74 years with a mean weight of 74.00 ± 12.72 kg in the artial occlusion and recanalization group. The patients in the total occlusion group aged 47.85 ± 10.48 years with a mean weight of 71.59 ± 13.24 kg. The age and weight of the patients in two different outcome groups were not statistically significant (p = 0.093 and p = 0.437, respectively). The mean GSV diameter before the NBCA treatment was 8.71 ± 1.52 mm in the partial

 Table 1. Comparison of the quantitative variables between the outcome groups depending on the occlusion status

Outcome Following NBCA Treatment

	Partial occlusion & recanalization		Complete	occlusion	
	(n = 15)		(n = 101)		
	Mean ± SD	Median (Min - Max)	Mean ± SD	Median (Min-Max)	
Weight (kg)	74.00 ± 12.72	73.00 (54.00-91.00)	71.59 ± 13.24	70.00 (51.00-105.00)	0.437
Age (years)	52.67 ± 8.74	53.00 (39.00-68.00)	47.85 ± 10.48	49.00 (26.00-71.00)	0.093
Diameter of the GSV (mm)	8.71 ± 1.52	8.00 (6.80-12.00)	7.26 ± 0.95	7.10 (5.50-11.00)	< 0.001
Follow-up duration (months)	14.73 ± 5.51	13.00 (8.00-23.00)	16.50 ± 5.63	17.00 (8.00-26.00)	0.221
Length of the affected segment on the vessel (cm)	39.13 ± 4.75	40.00 (29.00-49.00)	40.64 ± 4.90	40.00 (28.00-53.00)	0.341
Preop VCSS	6.93 ± 2.60	7.00 (3.00-14.00)	6.85 ± 2.82	6.00 (3.00-18.00)	0.623
Postop VCSS	2.40 ± 1.12	2.00 (0.00-5.00)	2.18 ± 1.04	2.00 (0.00-5.00)	0.453

NBCA = N-butyl cyanoacrylate, GSV = great saphenous vein, VCSS = The Venous Clinical Severity Score

p value

Variables		Outcome Following NBCA Treatment				<i>p</i> value
		Partial occlusion & recanalization		Comple	ete occlusion	
		(r	n = 15)	(n	= 101)	
		Ν	%	Ν	%	
Gender	Male	7	46.7	38	37.6	0.502
	Female	8	53.3	63	62.4	
Side	L	10	66.7	59	58.4	0.544
	R	5	33.3	42	41.6	
Pake Excision	No	2	13.3	20	19.8	0.733
	Yes	13	86.7	81	80.2	
CEAP	C2	4	26.7	28	27.7	0.857
	C3	8	53.3	56	55.4	
	C4	3	20.0	11	10.9	
	C5	0	0.0	3	3.0	
	C6	0	0.0	3	3.0	
Complications	None	13	86.6	87	86.2	1.000
	Ecchymosis	1	6.7	7	6.9	
	Phlebitis	1	6.7	6	5.9	
	Hematoma	0	0.0	1	1.0	
Degree of the Insufficiency	2 sec	0	0.0	6	5.9	0.098
	3 sec	10	66.7	83	82.2	
	4 sec	5	33.3	12	11.9	

 Table 2. Comparison of the categorical variables between the outcome groups depending on the occlusion status.

 $CEAP = Clinical-Etiologic-Anatomic-Pathophysiologic\ classification,\ NBCA = N-butyl\ cyanoacrylate$

occlusion and recanalization group and 7.26 ± 0.95 mm in the complete occlusion group (p < 0.001). The mean length of the affected segment on the vessel was 39.13 ± 4.75 for the partial occlusion and recanalization group and 40.64 ± 4.90 for the complete occlusion group (p = 0.341).

The preoperative and postoperative VCSS values were 6.93 ± 2.60 and 2.40 ± 1.12 for the partial occlusion and recanalization group, whereas, 6.85 ± 2.82 and 2.18 ± 1.04 , respectively for the complete occlusion group (p = 0.623 and p = 0.453, respectively). The number of patients with different CEAP classes was not significantly different between the outcome groups (p = 0.857).

The gender, the side of the affected extremity, history of a pake excision and the degree of insufficiency did not differ between the groups (p = 0.502, p =

0.544, p = 0.733 and p = 0.098, respectively) (Table 2).

The complication rates were also compared between the groups. The overall complication rate was 12.9%. The most common complication was ecchymosis in eight (6.9%) patients, followed by phlebitis in seven (6.0%) and hematoma in one (0.9%) patient. While we evaluated patients overall, the mean VCSS was 6.86 ± 2.78 before the procedure, whereas it was 2.20 ± 1.05 following the NBCA application (p <0.0001). The number of patients distributed in different CEAP score groups was significantly different before the procedure and at the end of the follow-up period (p < 0.01) (Table 3).

Kaplan-Meier curve presents the analysis results of the treatmenr with a statistical uncertainty of 95% confidence interval (CI) in dot plots (Fig. 1). The ratio

	Before the NBCA treatment (n = 116)	After the NBCA treatment (n = 116)	<i>p</i> value
	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD	
VCSS	6.86 ± 2.78	2.20 ± 1.05	< 0.0001
CEAP (n)			
C1	0	101	
C2	32	5	< 0.01
C3	64	8	
C4	14	2	
C5	3	0	
C6	3	0	

	Fable 3. Com	parison of the	variables befo	ore and after	the NBCA	treatment
--	---------------------	----------------	----------------	---------------	----------	-----------

VCSS = The Venous Clinical Severity Score, CEAP = Clinical-Etiologic-Anatomic-Pathophysiologic classification, NBCA = N-butyl cyanoacrylate

of cases with CO was 100% on the first nine months of the study period. At the end of the first year, 93.4% of the cases still had CO. At the end of the second year follow-up duration, 75.5% of the cases were with CO.

DISCUSSION

Vascular surgeons are in search of a method with high efficiency, which requires the absence or minimal amount of anesthesia and allows the patient to return to routine daily activities within a shorter amount of time. Recently, minimally invasive techniques have replaced the surgical procedures for the treatment of lower extremity VVS. Although techniques using radiofrequency or laser beam are used frequently, they still manifest complications and adverse reactions in a range from pain and swelling to the development of hematoma and ecchymosis [13, 14].

NBCA is a relatively novel agent in the management of VVs with high efficacy, minimum pain control and complication ratio, and a higher amount of patient satisfaction. As the use of NBCA increases in vascular practice worldwide, the number of newly developed NBCA-based products increase in the markets. Since the method does not use a thermally-induced closure, the risk of thermal injury and unfavorable cosmetic outcomes such as increased skin pigmentation are also out of concern. On the other hand, thermal ablation techniques were shown to be



Fig. 1. The Kaplan-Meier curve analysis of occlusion rate of incompetent saphenous veins after NBCA treatment. The results were given within 95% CI. NBCA = N-butyl cyanoacrylate, CI = Confidence interval.

more traumatic and require tumescence analgesia, and require correct setting of the power and energy in terms of Watt and Joule.

This study followed up a total of 116 patients who underwent embolization with NBCA for the treatment of lower extremity VVs. In the study setting, we attempted to compare the demographics and post-procedural data between the patients with total, partial, and no evidence of occlusion.

We defined the CO as the absence of patency or recanalization in any treated segment of >5 cm in length as described earlier by Merchant et al. [12]. The CO was achieved in 87% of our patients within the 24 months of the follow-up period, whereas 10.3% patients had PO and 2.7% did not show evidence of occlusion. There are similar studies with varying follow-up times reporting a total occlusion between 92-96% with NBCA treatment. However, their sample size is relatively small compared to our sample size (23 and 77 vs. 116 patients). The follow-up period of these studies was 6-12 months, and we suggest that a longer follow-up period would result in a higher ratio of recurrence cases [15, 16]. Supporting this, several reports present a decline in the rate of patients with CO during the time, as the ratio of 100% reversed to 78.5% after one year [17]. We suggest that the type of the NBCA product, the characteristics of the patient, and the experience of the treating physician might have an important effect on the outcomes. Besides, Tang suggested that the distance of the catheter tip from the saphenofemoral junction (SFJ) is of concern for the prevention of adverse effects including incomplete occlusion and recurrence [16].

In our study group, the patients with a greater GSV diameter experienced an unfavorable outcome following the NBCA procedure. This might be a consequence of a decline in the efficiency of the procedure in patients with a greater GSV diameter. We suggest that, the incidence of a CO is decreased in this patient group.

In our study, we have also evaluated the clinical improvement in patients' conditions using the VCSS System. Although the VCSS did not differ between the favorable and unfavorable outcome groups, taken together, the scores significantly improved in the patient population following the procedure as an indicator of the procedur's efficiency. These data suggest that there might be additional factors contributing to the outcomes, and these factors should be evaluated before choosing the most appropriate option for an individual patient in the treatment of VVs.

Despite various adverse effects reported following the treatment with NBCA, the complications we experienced in our patients were ecchymosis in eight patients, phlebitis in seven patients, and hematoma in one patient. Our data is comparable to those of endovascular thermal ablation techniques and surgery, with a low ratio of complications which completely resolved in a short amount of time without decreasing the life quality of the patients. We also did not experience serious reactions including DVT and embolism, which are previously described with the use of thermal ablation methods. Possibly, some predictive markers such as homocysteine, lupus anticoagulant, high sensitive-CRP, D-dimer, fibrin-derived products should be used before the procedure, in order to define and exclude the patients with an increased risk of thrombotic events [18]. Furthermore, Tang et al. [19] reported an acellular foreign body reaction in the adventitia tissue suggesting that possible extravasation of the NBCA should be taken into consideration. In their series of VV patients, Acıpayam et al. [20] demostrated that a lower than 1 mL dose of NBCA was related to a fewer complication ratio and greater patient satisfaction at the end of the first month following the procedure. Thus, studies established with various dosing regimen of NBCA are required to consider the appropriate dosing for each individual in order to lower the complication rate and obtain a greater procedure efficiency.

Limitations

Our study has several limitations to discuss. First of all, we did not compare the CEAP classes during the follow-up period. Also, we used VCSS in the evaluation of postprocedural outcomes, other scoring techniques such as the Aberdeen Varicose Vein Questionnaire might yield an additional perspective.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, the NBCA system provided a satisfactory occlusion ratio with improved outcomes and comparable results with the previous data in the literature. Of the patient group, only GSV diameter differed, whereas other study variables gender, weight, the side of the affected extremity, length of the GSV, VCSS before and after the procedure, implementation of a pake excision, CEAP classification, and the degree of insufficiency were shown to not affect the outcome following the NBCA administration. Thus, the NBCA administration is a safe approach in the treatment of VVs, and key safety measures should be considered as suggested by the guidelines.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: ACD; Study Design: ACD; Supervision: FK; Funding: ACD; Materials: ACD; Data Collection and/or Processing: ACD; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: Eİ; Literature Review: Eİ, FK; Manuscript Preparation: Eİ and Critical Review: Eİ.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during the conduction or writing of this study.

REFERENCES

1. Evans CJ, Fowkes FG, Ruckley CV, Lee AJ. Prevalence of varicose veins and chronic venous insufficiency in men and women in the general population: Edinburgh Vein Study. J Epidemiol Community Health 1999;53:149-53.

2. Gloviczki P, Comerota AJ, Dalsing MC, Eklof BG, Gillespie DL, Gloviczki Ml, et al. The care of patients with varicose veins and associated chronic venous diseases: clinical practice guidelines of the Society for Vascular Surgery and the American Venous Forum. J Vasc Surg 2011;53(5 Suppl):2S-48S.

3. Lee AJ, Evans CJ, Allan PL, Ruckley CV, Fowkes FG. Lifestyle factors and the risk of varicose veins: Edinburgh Vein Study. J Clin Epidemiol 2003;56:171-9.

4. Müller-Bühl U, Leutgeb R, Engeser P, Achankeng EN, Szecsenyi J, Laux G. Varicose veins are a risk factor for deep venous thrombosis in general practice patients. Vasa 2012;41:360-5.

5. Porter JM, Moneta GL. Reporting standards in venous disease: an update. International Consensus Committee on Chronic Venous Disease. J Vasc Surg 1995;21:635-45.

6. Sarma N. Guidelines and recommendation on surgery for venous incompetence and leg ulcer. Indian Dermatol Online J

2014;5:390-5.

7. Nesbitt C, Bedenis R, Bhattacharya V, Stansby G. Endovenous ablation (radiofrequency and laser) and foam sclerotherapy versus open surgery for great saphenous vein varices. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2014;(7):CD005624.

 Korkmaz Ö, Göksel S, Gül M, Başçil H, Yildir Y, Berkan Ö. Does the use of N-butyl-2 cyanoacrylate in the treatment of lower extremity superficial varicose veins cause acute systemic inflammation and allergic reactions? Cardiovasc J Afr 2018;29:213-7.
 Eroglu E, Yasim A. A Randomised clinical trial comparing N-Butyl cyanoacrylate, radiofrequency ablation and endovenous laser ablation for the treatment of superficial venous incompetence: two Year follow up results. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2018;56:553-60.

10. Rutherford RB, Padberg FT Jr, Comerota AJ, Kistner RL, Meissner MH, Moneta GL. Venous severity scoring: an adjunct to venous outcome assessment. J Vasc Surg 2000;31:1307-12.

11. Yavuz T, Acar AN, Aydın H, Ekingen E. A retrospective study of a new n-butyl-2-cyanoacrylate glue ablation catheter incorporated with application guiding light for the treatment of venous insufficiency: twelve-month results. Vascular 2018;26:547-55.

12. Merchant RF, DePalma RG, Kabnick LS. Endovascular obliteration of saphenous reflux: a multicenter study. J Vasc Surg 2002;35:1190-96.

13. Bozoglan O, Mese B, Eroglu E, Ekerbiçer HC, Yasim A. Comparison of endovenous laser and radiofrequency ablation in treating varices in the same patient. J Lasers Med Sci 2017;8:13-16.

14. Anwar MA, Lane TR, Davies AH, Franklin IJ. Complications of radiofrequency ablation of varicose veins. Phlebology 2012;27 Suppl 1:34-9.

15. Bekci T, Tosun A. Mechanochemical ablation of varicose veins with N-Butyl cyanoacrylate: six-month follow-up. Ann Med Res 2019;26:1104-7.

16. Tang TY, Rathnaweera HP, Kam JW, Chong TT, Choke EC, Tan YK. Endovenous cyanoacrylate glue to treat varicose veins and chronic venous insufficiency-Experience gained from our first 100+ truncal venous ablations in a multi-ethnic Asian population using the Medtronic VenaSealTM Closure System. Phlebology 2019;34:543-51.

17. Kolluri R, Gibson K, Cher D, Madsen M, Weiss R, Morrison N. Roll-in phase analysis of clinical study of cyanoacrylate closure for incompetent great saphenous veins. J Vasc Surg Venous Lymphat Disord 2016;4:407-15.

18. Caprini JA, Glase CJ, Anderson CB, Hathaway K. Laboratory markers in the diagnosis of venous thromboembolism. Circulation 2004;109(12 Suppl 1):I4-8.

19. Tang TY, Tiwari A. The VenaSealTM abnormal red skin reaction: looks like but is not phlebitis! Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2018;55:841.

20. Acıpayam M, Eroğlu E, Yasım A, Doğaner A, Azim Okyay R. The same clinical effect, with fewer complications and higher patient comfort, can be achieved with lower doses of N-butyl cyanoacrylate in endovenous ablation therapy: a prospective, randomized study. Turk J Vasc Surg 2020;29:177-83.

This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.904571

Early postoperative results of on-pump coronary endarterectomy: is it still a controversy?

Cüneyt Eriş[®], Umut Serhat Sanrı[®], Mesut Engin[®], Şenol Yavuz[®]

Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yüksek İhtisas Training and Research Hospital, Bursa, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives: The coronary endarterectomy combined with coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG) is an useful but still controversial surgical technique in diffuse coronary artery disease. The aim of this study was to analyze the operative and early postoperative outcomes of the patients who underwent CABG with and without coronary endarterectomy.

Methods: This retrospective study included a total of 312 consequtive patients undergoing on-pump CABG from December 2018 to December 2020 in the Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Bursa Yüksek İhtisas Training and Research Hospital. Patients were divided into 2 groups as those who underwent coronary endarterectomy combined with on-pump CABG (Group 1, n = 48) and those who underwent isolated on-pump CABG (Group 2, n = 264). Peroperative variables were obtained from our hospital's computerized database and retrospectively analyzed.

Results: Previous percutaneus coronary intervention rate and the number of patients with diabetes mellitus was significantly higher in the endarterectomy group. The demographics and characteristics of the patients were similar between the two groups. The median number of distal anastomoses was 4 (2-5) in Group 1 and 2 (1-5) in Group 2. Median cross-clamp duration and perfusion times in Group 1 were longer than Group 2 (82 min vs. 63 min; p < 0.001 and 120 min vs. 95 min; p = 0.003, respectively). A total of 54 coronary endarterectomy practices were performed on 48 patients, and the LAD artery (73%) was the most endarterectomized vessel. In Group 1, postoperative 24 hours high-sensitive troponin I levels were significantly higher than in Group 2 (p < 0.001). There was no significant difference between the groups in terms of operative mortality, low cardiac output rates and perioperative myocardial infarction rates. Postoperative atrial fibrillation was significantly higher in Group 1 (p = 0.023).

Conclusions: Although coronary endarterectomy is a complex procedure, in patients with diffuse coronary artery disease, it is an essential and sometimes mandotary method in order to achieve complete revacularization and can be performed safely with acceptable operative and early postoperative outcomes.

Keywords: Coronary artery disease, complete myocardial revascularization, coronary endarterectomy, postoperative period

Recently, with its less invasive nature and good results, percutaneous coronary interventions have become the treatment of option for coronary artery disease (CAD) even in patients affected by diffuse dis-

Received: March 28, 2021; Accepted: April 10, 2021; Published Online: April 18, 2021



How to cite this article: Eris C, Sanri US, Engin M, Yavuz Ş. Early postoperative results of on-pump coronary endarterectomy: is it still a controversy? Eur Res J 2021;7(3):248-255. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.904571

Address for correspondence: Umut Serhat Sanrı, MD., University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yüksek İhtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Mimarsinan Mah., Emniyet Cd., No: 35, 16310 Yıldırım, Bursa, Turkey. E-mail: ussanri@gmail.com, Mobile phone: +90 533 5478543, Fax: +90 224 2756767

> [©]Copyright 2021 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj

ease in the presence of a low Syntax Score [1]. As a result, more complex patients with high comorbidity are now referred to coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG) surgery.

Principal aim of CABG is to provide complete revascularization of diseased coronary arteries because complete revascularization [2]. In addition, previous studies have shown that complete revascularization reduces the risk of perioperative myocardial infarction, in-hospital mortality, and relapse of late symptoms [3, 4].

Patients with diffuse calcific disease, long segment or sequential coronary lesions constitute a controversial and challenging group for surgical revascularization. It is essential for surgeons to have an effective for patients with diffuse severe calcific obstructive CAD [5, 6]. Despite initial negative results in the past decades [7], several recent publications have demonstreated that coronary endarterectomy combined with CABG is a useful and sometimes a mandatory surgical option [8].

The aim of this study was to compare the operative and early postoperative clinical results of patients who underwent CABG together with coronary endarterectomy or without coronary endarterectomy.

METHODS

This retrospective study was conducted between December 2018 and December 2020 at Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Bursa, Turkey. A total of 48 patients who underwent coronary endarterectomy combined with on-pump CABG (Group 1) and also 264 patients who underwent isolated onpump CABG (Group 2) were analyzed. All cases included the study were operated by two surgeons and the same surgical team. The study was conducted in accordance with the Decleration of Helsinki Ethical Principles and Good Clinical Practices and ethics committee approval was obtained (Decision no. 2011-KAEK-25 2020/60-03, date: 24.06.2020).

Patients' variables were obtained from our hospital's computerized database. Data collection was based on hospital clinic records and intensive care data and observational records. Age, sex, body mass index (BMI), diabetes, hypertension, smoking history, hypercholesterolaemia, peripheral artery disease (PAD), preoperative left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) between two groups were compared. Cross-clamp times, perfusion times, number of bypass grafts used, left internal thoracic artery (LITA) use, defibrilation needs, intraaortic baloon pump (IABP) requirement, inotrope agent requirement, perioperative electrocardiogram changes, development of new atrial fibrillation, extubation times, intensive care unit (ICU) stay times, hospital discharge times were compared. Blood samples were drawn from each patient 1 day before the operation, 24 hours postoperatively to measure the myocardial biomarker, high sensitive troponin I (hsTnI). The patients with valvular heart diseases, emergency cardiac operations, those who had undergone additional cardiovascular operation were excluded from the study. All patients had continuous electrocardiographic monitoring at the ICU. Twelvelead electrocardiographic recordings were performed preoperatively, postoperative first hour at ICU, daily for at least the first 3 postoperative days and at discharge day. LVEFs were measured and compared prepostoperatively operatively and bv 2D echocardiography before discharge.

Surgical Technique

All the operations were performed under cardiopulmonary bypass (CPB) with mild hypothermia (30-32°C) after aortic cross-clamping and cardioplegic arrest. Cardiac arrest was provided with a single dose cold blood cardioplegia given from the aortic root antegradely. During CPB period, myocardial protection was provided with a half dose antegrade and a half dose retrograde cold blood cardioplegia given at every 20 minutes in all cases. Last dose of isothermal blood cardioplegia was given before removing the cross clamp.

Although the decision to apply coronary endarterectomy was considered as an option during preoperative coronary angiographic examination, the actual decision and choice of technique were based on intraoperative findings of the target coronary artery. If graft placement was not possible due to insufficient lumen diameter or diffuse thread-like appearance could be an indication for endarterectomy. Coronary endarterectomy can be performed by either through an open or closed technique [9]. In the closed technique, the endarterectomized plaque is pulled out from a smaller arteriotomy by gently applied steady traction proximally and distally (Fig. 1). In all cases, closed technique is our primary option because the closed technique is shorter, simple and it requires a smaller anastomosis. Open coronary endarterectomy is performed when plaque extraction cannot be completed through a limited arteriotomy or when the plaque is broken, which provides sufficient exposure to remove the atherosclerotic core completely.

When we performed open endarterectomy technique in the right coronary and circumflex artery, we used the saphenous vein graft as an on-lay patch, and when we applied the closed technique saphenous vein graft was directly anastomosed to the arteriotomy. In the LAD artery, we have always preferred the open endarterectomy technique and we used the LITA as an on-lay patch graft. We applied LITA graft anastomosis on the saphenous vein patch in arteriotomies longer than 6 cm.

Postoperative Anticoagulation Protocol

Postoperatively, depending on the amount of drainage low-molecular-weight heparin (5,000 U/d) was initiated at the ICU, at 6th hour. After the patients were extubated, aspirin (100 mg/day) and clopidogrel (75 mg/day) were oraly administered together. Low-molecular-weight heparin (5,000 U/day) treatment was continued for one month, clopidogrel (75 mg/day) for one year and aspirin (150 mg/day) was recommended to continue for lifelong.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed with SPSS 21.0

(IBM Statistical Package or the Social Sciences Statistic Inc. version 21.0, Chicago, IL, USA). Normality distribution of data was assessed with Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Shapiro-Wilk tests. Student's t-test was used for normally distributed data (expressed as mean±standard deviation) and Mann Whitney U test was used for non-normally distributed data (expressed as median interquartile range). Nominal variables were expressed in frequency and percentage and Chi-Square test was used for analysis. A p value less than

0.05 was considered as statistically significant.

RESULTS

Data from the 48 (22%) patients who underwent coronary endarterectomy combined with on-pump CABG were evaluated as Group 1 (n = 48; 35 (72.9%) of them were males; median age 62 years (range: 42-81 years). The data from the 264 (78%) patients who underwent isolated consecutive on-pump CABG were evaluated as Group 2 (n = 264; 182 (69%) of them were males; median age 59 (range: 40-84 years). The data for these two groups were compared. Previous PCI and the number of patients with diabetes mellitus was significantly higher in the endarterectomy group. Except those there was no statistically significant difference between two groups in terms of demographic characteristics (Table 1).

Operative and postoperative clinical data are summarized in Table 2. The aortic cross-clamping times and perfusion times were significantly longer in Group



Fig. 1. (A) Intraoperative view of endarterectomy procedure. (B) The removed endarterectomy material.

	-		
Variables	Group 1 (n = 48)	Group 2 (n = 264)	<i>p</i> value
Age(years), mean (range)	62 (42-81)	59 (40-84)	0.119
Male gender, n (%)	35 (72.9)	182 (69)	0.712
BMI (kg/m ²), mean (range)	27.9 (24-35)	28.3 (24-36)	0.196
Hypertension, n (%)	33 (68.7%)	175 (66.2%)	0.833
Previous PCI, n (%)	23 (47.9%)	74 (28%)	0.011
PAD, n (%)	13 (27%)	51 (19%)	0.421
Hiperlipidemia, n (%)	36 (75%)	175 (66.2%)	0.378
Diabetes mellitus, n (%)	18 (37.5%)	53 (20%)	0.014
COPD, n (%)	12 (25%)	44 (16.6%)	0.238
Smoking, n (%)	20 (41.6%)	77 (29.1%)	0.108
History of CVA, n (%)	3 (6%)	13 (4.9%)	0.978
Preoperative EF (%), mean (range)	50 (35-65)	50 (35-65)	0.778

Table	1.	Demographic	data and	preo	perative	features	of the	patients
I WOIL		Demosraphie	ance with			i cucui co		particities

Group 1 = CE combined with on-pump CABG, Group 2 = isolated on-pump CABG, BMI = body mass index, CABG = coronary artery bypass grafting, CE = coronary endarterectomy, CVA = cerebrovascular accident, COPD = chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, EF = ejection fraction, PAD = peripheral arterial disease, PCI = percutaneus coronary intervention

1 than in Group 2 (isolated CABG group) (82 min vs. 63 min; p < 0.001); (120 min vs. 95 min; p = 0.003) respectively. At the time of cross-clamp release more cases in Group 1 (39%) needed defibrillation compared with Group 2 (30%) but there was no significant difference (p = 0.180).

LITA use was similar between the groups. Coronary endarterectomy was applied to a total of 54 target coronary artery in 48 patients. Thirty-five patients had LAD endarterectomy, 15 patients had RCA/RPD endarterectomy, and 6 patients had multiple endarterectomies. The target vessel distribution and procedure types for which we applied CE were shown in Table 3.

Inotropic agent support was needed 25% in Group 1 and 19% in Group 2 at the time of weaning from CPB. Postoperative ejection fractions were not significantly different between the two study groups. We also found that postoperative cerebrovascular accident (CVA) rates (2% versus 1.5%), postoperative IABP need (8.3% versus 3%) was not significantly different. In Group 1, postoperative hsTnI levels were statisti-

Table 2. Operative variables of the patients			
Variables	Group 1 (n = 48)	Group 2 (n = 264)	<i>p</i> value
Total perfusion time (min), median (range)	120 (85-175)	95 (80-164)	0.003
Cross-clamp time (min), median (range)	82 (60-140)	63 (50-110)	< 0.001
LITA use, n (%)	46 (95.8%)	255 (96.5%)	0.974
Inotropic support need, n (%)	12 (25%)	50 (19 %)	0.108
Intraaortic balon pump need, n (%)	4 (8.3%)	8 (3%)	0.177
Defibrilation, n (%)	19 (39%)	79 (30%)	0.180
Number of distal anastomoses, median (range)	4 (2-5)	2 (1-5)	0.154

Table 2. Operative variables of the patients

Group 1 = CE combined with on-pump CABG, Group 2 = isolated on-pump CABG, CABG = coronary artery bypass grafting, CE = coronary endarterectomy, LITA = left internal thoracic artery

 Table 3. Target vessels undergoing coronary endarterectomy

	n = 48
CE on LAD, n (%)	35 (73%)
CE on diogonal branches, n (%)	2 (4%)
CE on RCA/RPD, n (%)	15 (31%)
CE on OM, n (%)	2 (4%)
Multivessel CE, n (%)	6 (12%)
Open CE, n (%)	40 (74%)
Closed CE, n (%)	14 (26%)

CE = coronary endarterectomy, LAD = left anterior descending, OM = Obtuse marginal, RCA = right coronary artery, RPD: right posterior descending

cally significantly higher at 24 hours (p = < 0.001) postoperatively than in Group 2 (Table 4). Postoperative atrial fibrillation was significantly higher in Group 1 (27.1% vs 14) (p = 0.023).

DISCUSSION

Principal goal of CABG is to achieve complete revascularization because incomplete revasculariza-

tion of the coronary arteries may lead to poor outcomes and high mortality rates after CABG [10]. Up to 25% of patients with extensive CAD cannot be safely and successfully treated with standard CABG. Therefore, the technique of coronary endarterectomy, which involves removal of the atherosclerotic core from the coronary artery lumen, can sometimes become risky but mandotary [11].

Coronary endarterectomy has been a controversial since its first application in 1957 by Bailey *et al.* [12]. In the 1990s, this method was not recommended in routine practice due to its high mortality and morbidity rates [13]. However, in recent years, the coronary endarterectomy procedure can be performed more successfully. This is the result of improved surgical techniques and surgical experience, improvements in cardiopulmonary bypass management, and better myocardial protection methods.

Shapira *et al.* [13] stated that, mortality and morbidity rates after CABG operations were similar in patients with coronary endarterectomy or without coronary endarterectomy. And also coronary endarterectomy was not an independent predictor of postoperative MI. Tiruvoipathy *et al.* [10] considered that the higher mortality rate of the CABG procedure with coronary endarterectomy compared to isolated

Table 4. Postoperative features and complications of the patients

Variables	Group 1 (n = 48)	Group 2 (n = 264)	<i>p</i> value
Chest tube drenaige (ml) median (range)	800 (400-1600)	750 (350-1400)	0 114
hsTnI (ng/L, 24th hours), median (range)	480 (400-1100)	250 (150-900)	< 0.001
Total ICU stay (days), median (range)	2 (2-18)	2 (2-10)	0.321
Total hospital stay (days), median (range)	9 (7-25)	7 (6-30)	0.228
Mortality, n (%)	2 (4.1%)	5 (1.8%)	0.328
LCOS, n (%)	3 (6,2%)	11 (4.1%)	0.214
Perioperative myocardial infarction, n (%)	2 (4.1%)	4 (1.5%)	0.124
Cerebrovascular accident, n (%)	1 (2%)	4 (1.5%)	1.000
Infection, n (%)	1 (2%)	4 (1.5%)	1.000
Reoperation due to bleeding, n (%)	2 (4.1%)	10 (3.7%)	0.432
Atrial fibrillation, n (%)	13 (27.1%)	37 (14%)	0.023
Respiratory failure, n (%)	2 (4.1%)	5 (1.8%)	0.124
Postoperative EF (%),median (range)	45(25-60)	45 (30-60)	0.694

Group 1 = CE combined with on-pump CABG, Group 2 = isolated on-pump CABG, CABG = coronary artery bypass grafting, CE = coronary endarterectomy, EF = ejection fraction, hsTnI = high-sensitive troponin I, ICU = Intensive care unit, LCOS = low cardiac output syndrome,

CABG was more associated with the patient's comorbidities such as age, renal failure and diabetes mellitus. Perioperative MI is another important point in patients who underwent CABG with coronary endarterectomy. The perioperative myocardial infarction rate ranges from 3% to 25% in the literature [14]. In a meta-analyses conducted by Wang *et al.* [15], they stated that CABG with coronary endarterectomy was significantly associated with 30-day mortality and higher rates of early term postoperative complications. However log-term survival was similar in CABG + coronary endarterectomy and isolated CABG patients. The authors stated that early poor results were due to the high risk profile of patients undergoing coronary endarterectomy [15].

In an another meta-analyses conducted by Soylu et al. [16], they reported that adjunctive CE was associated with increasing 30-day mortality, perioperative and postoperative myocardial infarction when compared with isolated CABG. The relatively high rate of postoperative MI (9.0%) in their study could have resulted from the inclusion of patients with an enzymatic definition of postoperative MI. In our study the operative mortality of patients undergoing coronary endarterectomy was 4.1%, which is superior to other clinical reports and 1.8% for the patients with isolated CABG. There was no significant difference in terms of mortality between two groups. The percentage of perioperative MI in our study was slightly higher in group 1, but it was not statistically significant (4.1% vs 1.5%; p = 0.124).

The combination of coronary endarterectomy with CABG prolongs aortic cross-clamping and CPB times compared to isolated CABG. As a result, this situation increases the risk of ischemia reperfusion injury and end-organ damage with worse outcomes in the early postoperative period [16]. In order to minimize myocardial ischemic damage, we used the retrograde cardioplegia method in addition to antegrade cardioplegia in all patients that we applied coronary endarterectomy. We think that retrograde cardioplegia method both provides more widespread cardioplegia distribution through the significantly developed collaterals and increases the success rate of the procedure by clearing debris in the distal coronary bed.

In the literature, LAD is the most common endarterectomized vessel (40%-83%) that feeds a significant part of the left heart and also is the most important target artery for complete revascularization [17]. Endarterectomy of the right coronary artery is performed more courageously due to the technical simplicity and a lower risk. In our study, 73% of the patients underwent LAD endarterectomy. We observed that RCA was the second common endarterectomied vessel with 31% in our study. In the literature, this ratio varies between 21.1% and 83% [14]. In our study, we determined that multiple coronary endarterectomies were performed simultaneously in 12.5% of the patients.

It is also controversial whether the open or closed coronary endarterectomy method is the optimal technique. The basic principle of coronary endarterectomy is the complete removal of the atherosclerotic core without leaving an obstructing plaque. In the closed technique, a shorter arteriotomy and thus a shorter anastomosis is performed, but it requires more experience. Distal and proximal embolism risk is higher since most of the procedure is performed under a closed area [18]. On the other hand, the open method is safer in terms of distal embolism since the complete cleaning of the atherosclerotic core is performed under direct vision [9]. The disadvantage of the open method is that the arteriotomy is longer, requiring a longer anastomosis and therefore a longer ischemic time.

In the study of Nishi *et al.* [19] comparing the open method with the closed method, the perioperative mortality rate (2.9% vs 6.8%) was found to be lower in patients who underwent open endarterectomy, although it was not significant. In addition, long-term results in terms of morbidity (85% vs 77%) were significantly better in the open endarterectomy group. At a mid-term follow up (16-22 months) graft patency rates were 89.1% vs 81% in favor of open endarterectomy [19]. In our study, the open endarterectomy method was mostly used (74% vs 26%), and the onlay patch LITA was used for vascular reconstruction, especially in the LAD region.

Poor outcomes of coronary endarterectomy especially the high incidence of myocardial infarction may be attributed to endothelium damage which can lead platelet aggregation and finally acute thrombosis of the endartherectomised vessel [20]. Therefore we started acetylsalicyclic acid (100 mg) and clopidogrel (75 mg) treatment for all patients immediately after surgery.

Limitations

Our study had several limitations: first of all, it was a single center, retrospective and non randomized study. The number of patients was relatively small. Also, our study focused on clinical follow-up, and graft patency rates were not examined with imaging techniques (i.e., conventional or CT angiography). Follow-up angiography was performed for only a minorty of patients. Therefore, further studies with a larger number of patients are needed.

CONCLUSION

Coronary endarterectomy appears as a satisfactory and sometimes mandatory surgical option in the presence of diffuse CAD. It can be performed safely with acceptable mortality and morbidity rates, as a result of the increased surgical experience and advances in myocardial protection techniques, especially the use of retrograde cardioplegia. In addition, we think that postoperative aggressive anticoagulation especially dual antiplatelet therapy increases the success of the technique.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: CE, USS; Study Design: CE, ME; Supervision: ŞY; Funding ŞY; Materials: CE, USS; Data Collection and/or Processing: USS, ME; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: CE; Literature Review: USS; Manuscript Preparation: CE, ME and Critical Review: ŞY.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during the conduction or writing of this study.

REFERENCES

1. Yap CH, Yan BP, Akowuah E, Dinh DT, Smith JA, et al. Does prior percutaneous coronary intervention adversely affect early and mid-term survival after coronary artery surgery? JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2009;2:758-64.

2. Kleisli T, Cheng W, Jacobs MJ, Mirocha J, Derobertis MA, Kass RM, et al. In the current era, complete revascularization improves survival after coronary artery bypass surgery. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2005;129:1283-91.

3. Zimarino M, Ricci F, Romanello M, Di Nicola M, Corazzini A, et al. Complete myocardial revascularization confers a larger clinical benefit when performed with state-of-the-art techniques in high-risk patients with multivessel coronary artery disease: A meta-analysis of randomized and observational studies. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2016;87:3-12.

4. Papakonstantinou NA, Baikoussis NG, Apostolakis E Coronary endarterectomy: new flavors from old recipes. J Cardiol 2014:63: 397-401.

5. Güvenç O, Göncü MT, Engin M, Çayır MÇ, Özyazıcıoğlu AF. Effects of coronary endarterectomy on postoperative early results in long segment coronary artery disease. Eur Res J 2020;6:187-92.

6. Marinelli G, Chiappini B, Di Eusanio M, Di Bartolomeo R, Caldarera I, Marrozzini C, et al. Bypass grafting with coronary endarterectomy: immediate and long-term results. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2002;124:553-60.

7. Livesay JJ, Cooley DA, Hallman GL, Reul GJ, Ott DA, Duncan JM, et al. Early and late results of coronary endarterectomy: analysis of 3,369 patients. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1986;92:649-60.

8. Russo M, Nardi P, Saitto G, Bovio E, Pellegrino A, Scafuri A, et al. Single versus double antiplatelet therapy in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting with coronary endarterectomy: mid-term results and clinical implications. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg 2017;24:203-8.

9. Tiruvoipati R, Loubani M, Peek G. Coronary endarterectomy in the current era. Curr Opin Cardiol 2005;20:517-20.

10. Tiruvoipati R, Loubani M, Lencioni M, Ghosh S, Jones PW, Patel RL. Coronary endarterectomy: impact on morbidity and mortality when combined with coronary artery bypass surgery. Ann Thorac Surg 2005; 79: 1999-2003.

11. Santini F, Casali G, Lusini M, D'Onofrio A, Barbieri E, Rigatelli G, et al. A. Mid-term results after extensive vein patch reconstruction and internal mammary grafting of the diffusely diseased left anterior descending coronary artery. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2002;21:1020-5.

12. Bailey CP, May A, Lemon WM. Survival after coronary endarterectomy in man. J Am Med Assoc 1957;164: 641-6.

13. Shapira OM, Akopian G, Hussain A, Adelstein M, Lazar LH, Aldea GS, et al. Improved clinical outcomes in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting with coronary endarterectomy. Ann Thorac Surg 1999;68:2273-8.

14. Stavrou A, Gkiousias V, Kyprianou K, Dimitrakaki IA, Challoumas D, Dimitrakakis G. Coronary endarterectomy: the current state of knowledge. Atherosclerosis 2016;249:88-98.

15. Wang J, Gu C, Yu W, Gao M, Yu U. Short- and long-term patient outcomes from combined coronary endarterectomy and coronary artery bypass grafting: a meta-analysis of 63,730 patients (PRISMA). Medicine (Baltimore) 2015;94:e1781.

16. Soylu E, Harling L, Ashrafian H, Casula R, Kokotsakis J, Athanasiou T. Adjunct coronary endarterectomy increases myocardial infarction and early mortality after coronary artery bypass grafting: a meta-analysis. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg 2014;19:462-73.

17. Takanashi S, Fukui T, Miyamoto Y. Coronary endarterectomy in the left anterior descending artery. J Cardiol 2008;52:261-8.

18. Takahashi M, Gohil S, Tong B, Lento P, Filsoufi F, Reddy RC. Early and mid-term results of off-pump endarterectomy of the left anterior descending artery. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg 2013;16:301-5.

19. Nishi H, Miyamoto S, Takanashi S, Minamimura H, Ishikawa T, Kato Y, et al. Optimal method of coronary endarterectomy for diffusely diseased coronary arteries. Ann Thorac Surg 2005;79:846-53.

20. Yener AÜ, Kervan Ü, Korkmaz K, Gedik HS, Budak AB, Genç SB, et al. The impact of coronary artery endarterectomy on mortality and morbidity during coronary artery bypass grafting. Turk Gogus Kalp Dama 2014;22:734-41.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.734215

Radiology

Is there a relationship between the morphological characteristics of developmental venous anomalies and the presence of parenchymal abnormalities?

Ayşe Nur Şirin Özcan¹[®], Behruz Hasanov²[®], Özlem Ünal²[®]

¹Department of Radiology, University of Health Sciences, Ankara Bilkent City Hospital, Ankara, Turkey ²Department of Radiology, Ankara Yıldırım Beyazit University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives: Developmental venous anomaly (DVA) is a benign vascular malformation. Hyperintensity in the fluid-attenuated inversion recovery (FLAIR) sequence in the adjacent white matter has been previously identified. Although there are different theories, it is not yet clear why these hyperintensities occur. In this study, we aimed to investigate the factors affecting hyperintensity formation by examining the relationship between the morphological findings of DVA and the presence of FLAIR hyperintensity.

Methods: The study included 84 cases diagnosed with DVA. Patients with susceptibility weighted imaging (SWI) and/or postcontrast T1-weighted sequences in addition to conventional MRI sequences were included. The patients were divided into two groups as hyperintensity FLAIR (+) and FLAIR (-) in the examination performed around DVA. There were 24 patients in the FLAIR (+) group and 60 patients in the FLAIR (-) group. The localization of DVAs, drainage localization of the intramedullary vein, collector vein diameter, collector vein length, DVA location depth, and patient ages were compared between the two groups.

Results: When examining the relationship between the groups and variables in the statistical evaluation, there was no difference between the groups in terms of DVA localization, the venous system of drainage, DVA depth, and the length of the collector vein. However, a significant difference was observed between the groups in terms of the collector vein diameter and age.

Conclusions: The results of this study indicating a relationship between collector vein diameter and patient age. The relationship between this diameter and age suggests that there is a correlation between the degree and duration of venous congestion and the change in white matter.

Keywords: Developmental venous anomaly, susceptibility weighted imaging, FLAIR hyperintensity

Developmental venous anomaly (DVA), also called venous angioma, is the most common vascular malformation in the brain [1]. Recently, it has become controversial concerning whether DVA is a vascular malformation or venous variation [1]. DVAs consist of a large number of small intramedullary veins that form the appearance of an umbrella or caput medusa, draining into a single collector vein. They are often considered benign and asymptomatic and are detected incidentally in imaging tests. There is no consensus on the formation mechanisms of DVAs; however, there are theories indicating that they

Received: May 13, 2020; Accepted: July 8, 2020; Published Online: October 22, 2020



How to cite this article: Şirin Özcan AN, Hasanov B, Ünal Ö. Is there a relationship between the morphological characteristics of developmental venous anomalies and the presence of parenchymal abnormalities? Eur Res J 2020;7(3):256-264. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.734215

Address for correspondence: Ayşe Nur Şirin Özcan, MD., University of Health Sciences, Ankara Bilkent City Hospital, Department of Radiology, Bilkent/Lodumlu 06800, Ankara, Turkey. E-mail: aysenursirinozcan@gmail.com

> ©Copyright 2020 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj

develop to compensate for an undeveloped cerebral venous system in a certain area of the brain parenchyma [2-4].

Although they are often asymptomatic, DVAs can also be symptomatic, causing venous infarction with the thrombosis of the collector vein. In addition, DVAs may be accompanied by cavernoma, white matter change in drainage localization, dystrophic calcification, and local atrophy [5-7].

DVAs are easily detected by susceptibility weighted imaging (SWI) or contrast-enhanced MRI and CT examinations. DVAs can be identified in conventional MRI sequences and CT if only they are large enough. During imaging, the large intramedullary vein and venous vascular structures draining into this vein are contrast-enhanced. Deoxygenated hemoglobin in the lumen of venous structures described in SWI sequences is used as an intrinsic contrast agent, allowing a kind of venography examination to be performed without using contrast media [8].

DVAs drain a certain parenchymal area, such as other cerebral venous structures. The intensity difference in white matter drained by DVA has been previously described [5-9]. Although white matter change is considered to occur due to venous hypertension, its pathophysiology remains unclear [10].

In this study, we aimed to investigate the factors affecting the formation of hyperintensity by examining the relationship between the morphological findings of DVAs and the presence or absence of FLAIR hyperintensity.

METHODS

This retrospective study was approved by the Bilkent City Hospital Ethics committee (E-19-108). The study was designed according to declaration of Helsinki and written consent was obtained from all participants.

The reports of brain MRI scans performed at the radiology department of our hospital between January 2017 and February 2019 were retrospectively screened. A total of 189 patients diagnosed with DVAs based on these reports were included in the study. In addition to the conventional sequences, the presence of contrast-enhanced examination and/or SWI sequence was accepted as a criterion for the diagnosis of DVA. Diffuse white matter disease, brain MRI scans not including SWI/post-contrast-enhanced T1-weighted sequences were the exclusion criteria of the study.

Patients with white matter disease, which causes diffuse hyperintensity in white matter, was excluded from the study because it was not possible to determine whether hyperintensity formation was secondary to venous angioma or not. Two DVAs located in the brainstem were excluded due to the brain MRI scans not including SWI/post-contrast-enhanced T1weighted sequences.

A 3 Tesla system (SKYRA Siemens) with a 16channel head coil was used for the MRI examination. Conventional sequences consisted of axial T1weighted, axial T2-weighted, axial FLAIR, sagittal T2-weighted and axial diffusion examinations. Conventional sequences accompanied were by T1-weighted or SWI examination in two post-contrast-enhanced planes (axial and sagittal). For contrast enhancement, 0.1 mmol/kg gadolinium was used. The SWI examination consisted of magnitude, phase, and minimum intensity projection (MIP). The visualization of a DVA in one of the contrast-enhanced or SWI sequences was considered to be sufficient for the diagnosis.

The images of cases diagnosed based on brain MRI reports were reevaluated by a neuroradiologist with 13 years of experience. The diagnosis of DVA was made by demonstrating the drainage of thin venous segments into the wide collector vein, resulting in the typical caput medusa appearance in the contrast-enhanced T1-weighted or SWI sequence. For all DVA lesions, localization, drainage localization of the intramedullary vein, collector vein length, intramedullary vein diameter, FLAIR hyperintensity in the drainage area, and diffuse white matter hyperintensity extending to the drainage area were noted.

According to whether there was white matter hyperintensity around DVAs, the patients were divided into two groups as FLAIR (+) and FLAIR (-). White matter hyperintensity was evaluated using the axial FLAIR sequence due to its superiority to the T2weighted sequence in showing white matter lesions. Since the flow in the DVA lumen may also create hyperintensity in the FLAIR sequence, care was taken to ensure that hyperintensity was not at the lumen level when performing the evaluation. DVA-associ-



Fig. 1. (a, b) DVA associated hyperintensity at FLAIR sequence, (c, d) DVA collector vein at SWI and phase images.

ated signal abnormalities and DVA collector vein at SWI-Phase Images are shown in Fig. 1.

The lesions diagnosed with DVA based on the contrast-enhanced T1-weighted or SWI sequence were classified for both groups according to their following characteristics:

• Localization: DVAs located in cerebral lobes were defined as lobar, and basal ganglion, brainstem and cerebellum locations were classified separately.

• Depth: For this classification, the widely adopted method from Lee *et al.* [11] was used based on the localization of multiple small intramedullary veins draining into the collector vein. Accordingly, the DVAs were classified as periventricular, juxtacortical, and subcortical.

• Drainage system: Deep or superficial descriptions were used to indicate the venous system into the vein drained. DVAs that equally participated in both systems were noted as D+Y. • Length of the collector vein: DVAs were visually classified as small, medium, and large as previously described by Santucci *et al.* [9]

• Width: This classification was made visually, taking into account the size of the intramedullary vein in the contrast-enhanced T1-weighted or SWI sequence. DVAs were classified as 'thin', 'medium', and 'wide'. Of the DVAs that were not seen in conventional sequences, those that were visualized in SWI or contrast-enhanced T1-weighted sequence were classified as 'thin' if they appeared as a thin line, 'wide' if they were larger than 2.5 mm, and 'medium' if between the two sizes. The collector vein diameter was determined at the parenchymal level. DVA collector vein at contrast-enhanced T1-weighted sequence are shown in Fig. 2.

Statistical Analysis

IBM SPSS Statistics v. 23.0 was used for statisti-



Fig. 2. (a) DVA collector vein at contrast-enhanced T1-weighted sequence, (b) DVA associated hyperintensity at FLAIR sequence.

cal analysis. For both groups, the statistical analysis was performed using chi-square and logistic regression methods for the defined characteristics of DVAs and age.

RESULTS

There were 84 patients in two groups. The age of the patients ranged from 12 to 80, with the mean age being 38 years. The demographic findings and clinical presentations of the patients are given in Table 1, and their morphological findings in Table 2. There were

Table	1.	Demographic	characteristics	and
clinical	pre	esentations of th	e patients	

Number of patients	84
Female	44
Male	40
Mean age	38
Headache	38
Vertigo	15
CVE	12
Follow-up of mass	9
Metastasis screening	7
Epilepsy	3

CVE =cerebro vascular event

259

24 patients in the FLAIR (+) group 60 patients in the FLAIR (-) group.

When comparing the morphological variables in the chi-square test (Table 3), there was no statistically significant difference between the two groups in terms of DVA location and length (p > 0.05); however, a statistically significant difference was found in terms of DVA width, and the logistic regression analysis revealed that medium and wide lesions had a higher probability of forming FLAIR hyperintensity compared to those that were thin. In terms of the DVA depth variable, no statistically significant difference was found between the FLAIR groups (p = 0.499); however, periventricular localization was observed in 33% of the patients in the FLAIR (+) group and 15% of those in the FLAIR (-) group.

In the evaluation of drainage localization, there was a statistically significant difference in the chisquare analysis of drainage to deep+superficial (D+Y) veins, but here it is necessary to note a statistical limitation resulting from the D+Y observation value being zero. Consistent with this idea, the logistic regression analysis revealed that the drainage variable was not significant.

There was also a significant statistical difference in the age variable between the two groups, and the logistic regression analysis showed that the probability of DVA accompanied by FLAIR hyperintensity increased with age (Table 4).

		FLAIR (+)
	n = 60	n = 24
DVA location	n 00	H #7
DVA location		
Lobar	40	21
Basal ganglion	8	1
Cerebellum	12	2
Length		
Short	17	5
Medium	22	6
Long	21	13
Width		
Thin	31	4
Medium	21	16
Wide	8	4
Drainage location		
Superficial	32	8
Deep	28	13
Deep + Superficial	-	3
Depth		
Periventricular	15	8
Juxtacortical	16	7
Subcortical	29	9

Table 2. Morphological findings of the groups

DVA = developmental venous anomaly

When the FLAIR classification of the variables was examined using logistic regression analysis, width and age were determined to be significant variables. Accordingly, as the age increased, the probability of being FLAIR (+) increased. In addition, the patients with medium and wide DVAs were more likely to be in the FLAIR (+) group compared to patients with thin DVAs (Table 5).

DISCUSSION

DVAs, similar to other venous structures of the brain, drain a parenchymal area. It is known that cavernoma, dystrophic calcification, and focal atrophy accompany DVAs at varying rates. Another finding observed in white matter areas that DVAs drain is FLAIR and T2-weighted hyperintensity in this area that is prominent in the FLAIR sequence. In histopathological studies, demyelination in hyperintense areas, degenerative changes in nerve cells, and leukomalacia have also been described [12]. In the current study, we compared the hyperintensities in white matter with the morphological findings of DVAs and found that 26 of 189 patients (14%) had hyperintensity in white matter. The rate of hyperintensity accompanying DVAs was reported as 12.5% by Santucci et al. [9] and 28.3% by Ruíz et al. [5]. These different rates may be due to the varying routine imaging protocols of the centers. In addition, the reason for the increased changes in white matter in the study of Ruíz et al. may be related to their higher rate of CT procedures [5].

No significant relationship was found between the

				DVA location	n	X^2	<i>p</i> value
			lobar	basal ganglion	cerebellum		
FLAIR	negative	Ν	40	8	12	3.316	0.228
		%	66.7%	13.3%	20.0%		
	positive	Ν	21	1	2		
		%	87.5%	4.2%	8.3%		
				length			
			short	medium	long		
FLAIR	negative	Ν	16	22	22	2.078	0.392
		%	26.7%	36.7%	36.7%		
	positive	Ν	5	6	13		
		%	20.8%	25.0%	54.2%		
				width			
			thin	medium	wide		
FLAIR	negative	Ν	31*	21**	8	9.406	0.007
		%	51.7%	35.0%	13.3%		
	positive	Ν	4*	16**	4		
		%	16.7%	66.7%	16.7%		
			Ι	Drainage locati	on		
			superficial	deep	S + D		
FLAIR	negative	Ν	32	28	0*	7.754	0.011
		%	53.3%	46.7%	0.0%		
	positive	Ν	8	13	3*		
		%	33.3%	54.2%	12.5%		
				Depth			
			periventricular	juxtacortica	l Subcortical		
FLAIR	negative	Ν	15	14	31	1.391	0.499
		%	25	23.3	51.7		
	positive	Ν	8	7	9		
		%	33.3	29.2	37.5		

Table 3. Chi-square analysis between FLAIR and investigated variables

DVA = developmental venous anomaly

Table 4. The relationship between FLAIR groups and age

	FLAIR	Ν	Mean	Std. Deviation	t	<i>p</i> value
Age	Negative	60	37.1667	16.10892	-2.109	0.038
	Positive	24	45.3750	16.11862		

	В	SE	Wald	Df	Significance	Exp(B)	95% CI fo	r Exp(B)
							Lower	Upper
Age	.051	.020	6.642	1	.010	1.052	1.012	1.094
Width (thin)			8.484	2	.014			
Width (medium)	2.118	.755	7.872	1	.005	8.318	1.894	36.533
Width (wide)	2.154	.985	4.786	1	.029	8.617	1.251	59.352
Constant	3.121	7257.867	.000	1	1.000	22.673		

Table 5. Results of logistic regression analysis

SE = standard error, CI = confidence interval

presence of hyperintensity and DVA location, drainage system and length among the variables examined between the two groups, and this is consistent with the findings reported by Santucci et al. [9]. However, in contrast to Santucci et al. [9], we did not find a statistically significant relationship between the presence of hyperintensity and deep localization of DVAs. Santucci et al. [9] found periventricular localization at a higher rate in the DVA group accompanied by hyperintensity. Similarly, in our study, we observed periventricular localization to be more common in the FLAIR (-) group (33%) than in the FLAIR (+) group (15%), albeit non-significant. The depth classification of DVAs is made according to the localization of multiple small intramedullary veins draining into the collector vein, which may be difficult to distinguish, especially if the intramedullary veins are long and dense. This difficulty in evaluation may be the cause of the inconsistency between our findings and those of Santucci et al. [9].

Considering the system into which the collector vein is drained, no relationship was found between superficial or deep system drainage and hyperintensity, but it is interesting that in the sample of 84 patients, all three that showed D+Y drainage were in the FLAIR (+) group. Since we were not able to perform a statistical analysis due to the limited number of these patients, there is a need for further evaluations of DVAs exhibiting deep and superficial drainage to clarify this issue.

With increasing age, FLAIR hyperintensity occurs due to chronic small vessel disease in white matter. These changes in white matter are graded by the Fazekas classification according to their extent. While FLAIR hyperintensities are in the form of discrete punctate foci in Fazekas grade 1, grades 2 and 3 show diffuse and confluent tendencies. Grade 2 and 3 changes are common and were from the current study since they cannot be distinguished from DVA-induced hyperintensity. Thus, age-related white matter changes were excluded, allowing for a more accurate evaluation of the relationship between age and DVA hyperintensity.

Our patients had heterogeneous clinical presentation and primary pathology. It may be the limitation of the study if primary pathology effect the white matter. Because of this we exclude patient that have extensive white matter hyperintensity anywhere of the brain and cerebellum.

The collector vein diameter of DVAs differed between the FLAIR (+) and (-) groups. In the evaluation of the collector vein diameter, Santucci et al. [9] did not find any significant difference. [9] However, while Santucci et al. performed the collector vein diameter evaluation using numerical values for all veins, we divided the veins into three according to their diameters, as we previously described. We also performed the measurements from the SWI or contrast-enhanced T1-weighted sequence, in which the diameter of the collector vein can be seen more clearly. The results of our statistical analysis, show that the probability of accompanying hyperintense increased in DVAs with medium and wide collector veins compared to those with thin veins. This supports the hypothesis that chronic venous congestion plays a role in the formation of hyperintensity in white matter. In our opinion, the greater occurrence of chronic venous congestion in the presence of large-scale drainage veins may be the cause of detectable FLAIR hyperintensity in white matter. Venous congestion is also considered in the etiology of other pathologies of white matter drained by DVAs. For example, DVAs

are thought to induce vascular proliferation by leading to hemodynamic instability in drainage localizations, thus leading to cavernoma [4], a theory that has been supported by DVA de-nova cavernoma cases reported in drainage localization [13, 14]. If venous congestion occurs more in large collector veins, the collector veins of DVAs accompanying cavernoma may be wider. Further studies are needed to confirm this idea.

DVAs can also cause symptoms without concomitant cavernoma, albeit rarely. Symptomatic DVAs were classified by Pereira *et al.* [15] as mechanical due to the compression effect of the of the collector vein, increased inflow, decreased outflow or idiopathic. However, it remains unclear whether DVAs are more symptomatic in the presence of concomitant hyperintensity. In our study group, the rate of comorbidities was high; thus, we could not evaluate the relationship between the presence of hyperintensity and symptom formation.

In their study on FLAIR hyperintensities around DVAs, Rogars *et al.* [16] showed that concomitant demyelinating disease increased the rate of accompanying hyperintensity around DVAs. Histopathological studies also reveal demyelination in FLAIR hyperintense areas around DVAs. Concomitant demyelinating disease may increase the rate of demyelination in drainage localization. This hypothesis was supported by congestion shown in perfusion studies, but the number of perfusion cases in the literature is limited [17, 18].

Limitations

Our study has certain limitations. First, this study aimed to obtain information concerning the pathophysiology of white matter intensities that accompanied DVAs, but SWI scans were not available for all patients. The SWI sequence, now also known as SWI venography, has superior success in showing venous structures. In addition, considering that there may be cavernoma and micro bleeding accompanying DVAs, SWI and similar sequences are ideal for the diagnosis of these entities. The second limitation concerns the inability to eliminate cavernomas considering that the focus of the study was to investigate the etiology of white matter. In the literature, the most comprehensive studies on this subject belong to Ruíz et al. [5] and Santucci et al. [9]. In the study of Ruiz et al. [5], MRI was performed in 60 of 122

patients, but the scans did not include the SWI or gradient sequence. In the study of Santucci *et al.* [9], only three of the MRI examinations among 125 patients included the gradient sequence. In the current study, 17 of 84 patients did not have SWI examinations, and DVAs were diagnosed based on contrast-enhanced T1-weighted images. Two of these 17 patients were in the FLAIR (+) group. Further studies with available SWI sequences in all patients and a higher number of cases in all groups can provide more useful results in the etiology of hyperintensity accompanying DVAs.

CONCLUSION

In this study, we evaluated the changes in white matter in the drainage areas of DVAs and found a relationship between the collector vein diameter and patient age, supporting the association between hyperintensity formation and venous congestion. The findings suggest that there is a correlation between the degree and duration of venous congestion and the changes in white matter. Considering the results of our study and the literature, DVAs that are considered as benign and asymptomatic may actually form the basis of some pathologies. The issues of changes in white matter in relation to clinical presentation and cavernoma formation are still controversial and require more comprehensive longitudinal studies.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: ANŞÖ, BH; Study Design: ANŞÖ, BH, ÖÜ; Supervision: ANŞÖ, BH, ÖÜ; Funding: ANŞÖ; Materials: ANŞÖ; Data Collection and/or Processing: ANŞÖ, BH, ÖÜ; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: ANŞÖ, BH, ÖÜ; Literature Review: ANŞÖ, BH, ÖÜ; Manuscript Preparation: ANŞÖ, BH, ÖÜ and Critical Review: ANŞÖ, BH, ÖÜ.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

REFERENCES

1. Ruíz DS, Yilmaz H, Gailloud P. Cerebral developmental venous anomalies: current concepts. Ann Neurol 2009;66:271-83.

2. Lasjaunias P, Burrows P, Planet C. Developmental venous anomalies (DVA): the so-called venous angioma. Neurosurg Rev 1986;9:233-42.

 Saito Y, Kobayashi N. Cerebral venous angiomas: clinical evaluation and possible etiology. Radiology 1981;139:87-94.
 Wilson CB. Cryptic vascular malformations. Clin Neurosurg 1992;38:49-84.

5. Ruiz DS, Delavelle J, Yilmaz H, Gailloud P, Piovan E, Bertramello A, et al. Parenchymal abnormalities associated with developmental venous anomalies. Neuroradiology 2007;49:987-95.

6. Huber G, Henkes H, Hermes M, Felber S, Terstegge K, Piepgras U. Regional association of developmental venous anomalies with angiographically occult vascular malformations. Eur Radiol 1996;6:30-7.

7. Ostertun B, Solymosi L. Magnetic resonance angiography of cerebral developmental venous anomalies: its role in differential diagnosis. Neuroradiology 1993;35:97-104.

8. Ge Y, Zohrabian VM, Osa EO, Xu J, Jaggi H, Herbert J, et al. Diminished visibility of cerebral venous vasculature in multiple sclerosis by susceptibility-weighted imaging at 3.0 T J Magn Reson Imaging 2009;29:1190-4.

9. Santucci GM, Leach JL, Ying J, Leach SD, Tomsick TA. Brain parenchymal signal abnormalities associated with developmental venous anomalies: detailed MR imaging assessment. Am J Neu

roradiol 2008;29:1317-23.

10. Aoki R, Srivatanakul K. Developmental venous anomaly: benign or not benign. Neurol Med Chir 2016;56:534-43.

11. Lee C, Pennington MA, Kenney CM 3rd. MR evaluation of DVAs: medullary venous anatomy of venous angiomas. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol 1996;17:61-70.

12. Noran HH. Intracranial vascular tumors and malformations. Arch Pathol 1945;39:403-4.

13. Maeder P, Gudinchet F, Meuli R, de Tribolet N. Development of a cavernous malformation of the brain. Am J Neuroradiol 1998;19:1141-3.

14. Campeau N, Lane J. De novo development of a lesion with the appearance of a cavernous malformation adjacent to an existing developmental venous anomaly. Am J Neuroradiol 2005;26:156-9.

15. Pereira VM, Geibprasert S, Krings T, Aurboonyawat T, Ozanne A, Toulgoat F, et al. Pathomechanisms of symptomatic developmental venous anomalies. Stroke 2008;39:3201-15.

16. Rogers DM, Shah LM, Wiggins RH. The central vein: FLAIR signal abnormalities associated with developmental venous anomalies in patients with multiple sclerosis. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol 2018;39:2007-13.

17. Camacho DL, Smith JK, Grimme JD, Keyserling HF, Castillo M. Atypical MR imaging perfusion in developmental venous anomalies. Am J Neuroradiol 2004;25:1549-52.

18. Kroll H, Soares BP, Saloner D, Dillon WP, Wintermark M. Perfusion-CT of developmental venous anomalies: typical and atypical hemodynamic patterns. J Neuroradiol 2010;37:239-42.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.

Analysis of the relationship between fetal magnetic resonance imaging indications and findings with ultrasonographic examination

Burak Akselim[®], Süleyman Serkan Karaşin[®], Beril Şenkutlu Kuyucu[®]

Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yüksek İhtisas Training and Research Hospital, Bursa, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives: We aimed to examine the indications for the use of fetal MRI in obstetrics practice and the relationship between fetal MRI and ultrasonographic findings.

Methods: Seventy-three patients were examined with Fetal MRI for various reasons between July 2017 and July 2020, and whose results were available were evaluated retrospectively. Ultrasonographic and MRI findings were recorded. The detected pathologies were divided into groups according to systems. The relationship between the findings was examined.

Results: In our study, ultrasonographic findings of fifty-five (75.3%) cases were confirmed by MR findings. MRI detected additional findings in eight (10.9%) cases, most of which were intracranial pathologies. The most detected ultrasonographic findings as an indication for the request were in the intracranial region (54.8%). **Conclusions:** Fetal MRI indications in perinatal care and follow-up are not clear. Determining these indications is also essential in preventing unnecessary use in obstetric practice and determining the cost-effectiveness. **Keywords:** Fetal MRI, fetal ultrasonography, prenatal diagnosis, congenital anomalies

Ultrasonography is the first step diagnostic method in the diagnosis and screening of fetal anomalies [1]. Reliability, easy accessibility, cheapness, real-time imaging are the beneficial aspects of ultrasonography. However, ultrasonography may not always be sufficient to detect fetal anomalies mainly due to maternal obesity, oligohydramnios, fetal position. In such cases, fetal magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) comes into prominence to clarify the ultrasonographic diagnosis or to detect the presence of additional anomalies [2, 3]. MRI is also useful in detecting placental invasion anomalies. In parallel with the development of MRI techniques, the artifact of fetal mobility is minimized by obtaining the image concisely. In parallel with this, fetal MRI as a complement to ultrasonographic findings has increased in recent years. It is challenging to determine fetal MRI indications due to experience and regional differences in perinatal management. It varies according to the individual pathology studied [2].

In this study, we aimed to evaluate the relationship between ultrasonography and MRI findings and fetal MRI indications in the diagnosis and screening of fetal anomalies.

Received: March 18, 2021; Accepted: April 3, 2021; Published Online: April 19, 2021



How to cite this article: Akselim B, Karaşin SS, Şenkutlu Kuyucu B. Analysis of the relationship between fetal magnetic resonance imaging indications and findings with ultrasonographic examination. Eur Res J 2021;7(3):265-269. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.899462

Address for correspondence: Burak Akselim, MD., University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yüksek İhtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Mimarsinan Mah., Emniyet Cd., No: 35, 16310 Yıldırım, Bursa, Turkey. E-mail: burakakselim@hotmail.com, Tel: +90 224 2955000, Fax: +90 224 2756767

> ©Copyright 2021 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj

METHODS

This retrospective study was conducted by including 75 patients admitted to our tertiary hospital between July 2017 and July 2020 and underwent fetal MRI imaging for various indications. The study was approved by the Bursa Yüksek İhtisas Training and Research Hospital Ethics Committee (2011-KAEK-25 2020/06-22).

Demographic, clinical, ultrasonographic, MRI and delivery data were obtained from electronic patient records. MRI request indications were recorded. Pathological conditions detected as a result of the examination were divided into groups according to organ systems. Ultrasonography and MRI findings were examined in terms of compatibility and inconsistency between each other.

The gestational week, fetal birth weight, and neonatal intensive care requirement of the patients whose pregnancy and delivery results were available were recorded.

Statistical Analysis

For proper statistical analyses, Windows-based SPSS 24.0 statistical analysis program was used (SPSS Inc., USA). To determine whether they were normally distributed or not, variables were examined via visual (histograms, probability plots) and analytical methods (Shapiro-Wilk's test). Variables were descriptively specified as mean \pm standard deviation (X \pm SD), mean difference between groups, 95% confidence interval (95%CI), median (minimum-maximum (min-max)), U value, frequency (n) and percentage (%).

RESULTS

In the study, we evaluated the fetal MRI indications and findings of seventy-three pregnant women. We analyzed the remaining forty-seven cases' delivery results by removing twenty-six pregnant women who did not have labor outcomes. The mean age of the patients was 28.1 ± 6.2 (Table 1).

Of the fetuses evaluated ultrasonographically before MRI, forty (54.8%) of them had intracranial findings, fourteen (19.2%) had gastrointestinal system findings, and six (8.2%) had placental invasion anom-

Table 1. Descriptive analyses of valuesregarding the mothers and the babies

Characteristics of Mothers and Babies	Pregnant women
Age (year) (n = 73)	28.1 ± 6.2
Week of birth (n = 47)	38.3 (28-41)
Birth weight (g)	2913.3 ± 761.4
Postpartum with mother, breastfeeding, n (%)	24 (51.1%)
Neonatal intensive care, n (%)	22 (46.8%)
Intrauterine ex fetus, n (%)	1 (2.1%)

Data are shown as mean \pm standard deviation or median (minimum-maximum), n (percent).

alies. Five (6.8%) of the cases were examined by MRI for the genitourinary system, four (5.5%) for the spinal cord and vertebra, two (2.7%) for cardiorespiratory system findings, and two (2.7%) for head and neck masses. (Fig. 1).

In our study, the ultrasonographic findings of fiftyfive cases were confirmed with MRI findings. In eight cases, most of which were intracranial pathologies, additional findings were detected by MRI.

Of the seventy-three fetuses undergoing fetal MRI examination; Intracranial anomalies in thirty-six (49.3%), placental invasion anomaly in four (5.5%), gastrointestinal system anomalies in five (6.8%) cases, genitourinary anomalies in six (8.2%) cases, spinal cord anomaly in three (4.1%) cases, a head or neck mass anomaly was detected in two patients (2.7%). No apparent pathology was found in the MRI findings of



seventeen (23.3%) fetuses scanned (Fig. 2).

Four of the gastrointestinal system findings that we detected ultrasonographically and evaluated with MRI were tracheoesophageal fistula, and one of them was dilated bowel loops. In all of the five cases, MRI results were correlated with ultrasound findings. However, we found no consistent findings in any MRI evaluation of six fetuses with suspected esophageal atresia or tracheoesophageal fistula. We did not find any MRI finding of two cases with small stomach suspicion.

We planned further evaluation of sonographically detected intracranial neurological findings in forty patients. Ten fetuses had more than one intracranial finding. There were twenty-two fetuses with ventriculomegaly. We performed MRI to evaluate posterior fossa anomalies in six cases (mega cisterna magna, cerebellar hypoplasia, and vermian agenesis), twenty cases of cavum septum pellucidum, and corpus callosum anomalies, and one case of intracranial mass formation.

Fetal MRI findings were correlated with ultrasonography in thirty of forty cases, and MRI findings in four cases were natural. In two cases, we found ventriculomegaly ultrasonographically; Dandy-Walker Malformation was diagnosed with additional findings on MRI. In two patients with cavum septum pellucidum anomaly, we detected the congenital variation of cavum vergae with MRI. Additionally, lobar holoprosencephaly was observed in one patient with ventriculomegaly, and colposephaly was observed in another case. Additional findings to antenatal sonography were detected in six cases.



In the evaluation of six cases with suspected placental invasion anomaly in ultrasonography, four cases were found as placenta accreta in MRI.

Three fetuses were evaluated with MRI for renal agenesis, one fetus for multicystic kidney, and one fetus for hydronephrosis, and both images were correlated in all cases.

We found a suprarenal mass in a fetus we examined MR with a pre-diagnosis of pulmonary sequestration. MR imaging of a case with suspected diaphragmatic hernia was normal.

There was suspicion of sacrococcygeal teratoma in two fetuses and suspicion of spina bifida in one fetus, and MRI findings of all three fetuses were correlated. MR image of a fetus with suspicion of scoliosis and hemivertebra was natural.

We visualized the findings more clearly in MR images of both fetuses with oral and neck masses. The solid mass in the neck was compatible with teratoma.

DISCUSSION

Although ultrasonography is the basis of antenatal imaging today, fetal MRI is an increasingly crucial prenatal diagnosis method.

MRI has become an important screening method in recent years for multisystem evaluation of the fetus and diagnosis of congenital malformations [4, 5]. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) is most significant after the 20th week of gestation and provides more advantages than ultrasonography in evaluating the fetal brain. It is superior to ultrasonography in excluding CNS anomalies in a fetus with fetal malformation suitable for treatment. Standard gyral models, ventricular size, posterior fossa are best evaluated with MRI. Detailed observation of the cerebellar vermis is necessary for the diagnosis of Dandy-Walker malformation [5, 6]. The most common indication for fetal MRI is suspicion of central nervous system anomalies. Ventriculomegaly, posterior fossa, and corpus callosum anomalies are the three most critical cerebral causes for fetal MRI [2]. In our study, intracranial pathology suspicions constituted the majority of fetal MRI indications. Almost half of this group included fetuses with ventriculomegaly.

One of the essential points in the presence of ventriculomegaly is the presence of additional anomalies. Because isolated ventriculomegaly has a better prognosis, however, ultrasonography may be insufficient to detect additional anomalies. Therefore, MR imaging can be used for detailed examination [2, 7].

Studies in the literature show that; in detecting fetal anomalies, ultrasonography may be correlated with fetal MRI, and imaging with MRI may also reveal additional findings. A review stated that 65.4% of the ultrasonographic findings were confirmed with Fetal MR, and additional findings were found in 22.1% [8]. In our study, while the confirmation rate was 75.3%, additional findings were detected in 10.9% of the cases.

Placental invasion anomalies are life-threatening serious obstetric problems that can lead to massive peripartum hemorrhage. Early diagnosis is essential because it enables preparing for a cesarean section in a planned way. The superiority of MR and ultrasonography over each other in these cases still being discussed, and there are publications in the literature stating that both imaging methods should be used in combination in suspected cases [9, 10]. In our study, six cases with suspicion of placental invasion anomaly in ultrasonography were evaluated with fetal MRI, and invasion anomaly was observed in four of them. Maternal or fetal complications did not occur in any of these pre-diagnosed and planned cases.

MRI helps to identify lesions in the abdominal and cervical or spinal regions more efficiently by providing a wider field of view. Since only a small part of the lesion may be present in the acoustic window with ultrasonography, the entire anomaly and its anatomical relationships can be viewed more clearly with MRI. Also, MRI has become more valuable in anomaly diagnosis in recent years due to conditions that limit ultrasonographic evaluation, such as maternal obesity, excessive fetal activity, or technical problems [11].

CONCLUSION

Ultrasonography has a very effective and essential place in fetal anomaly screening. With the increasing technology, fetal MRI is also used in cases where ultrasonography is insufficient. Fetal MRI use and indications are not determined depending on many factors. Determining these indications is also essential in preventing unnecessary use in obstetric practice and determining the cost-effectiveness.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: BA, SSK; Study Design: BA, SSK; Supervision: BA; Funding: BA; Materials: BA, SSK, BŞK; Data Collection and/or Processing: BA, BŞK; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: BA, SSK; Literature Review: BA, BŞK; Manuscript Preparation: BA, SSK and Critical Review: BA, SSK, BŞK.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during the conduction or writing of this study.

REFERENCES

1. Chalouhi GE, Millischer A-E, Mahallati H, Siauve N, Melbourne A, Grevent D, et al, The use of fetal MRI for renal and urogenital tract anomalies. Prenat Diagn 2020;40:100-9.

2. Patenaude Y, Pugah D, Lim K, Morin L, Bley S, et al; Diagnosetic Imaging Committee, Society of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists of Canada. The use of magnetic resonance imaging in the obstetric patient. J Obstet Gynaecol Can 2014;36:349-63.

3. Santos, XM, Papanna R, Johnson A,Cass DL, Olutoye OO, Moise KJ Jr, et al. The use of combined ultrasound and magnetic resonance imaging in the detection of fetal anomalies. Prenat Diagn 2010;30:402-7.

4. Griffiths PD, Bradburn M, Campbell MJ, Cooper CL, Graham R, Jarvis D, et al.; MERIDIAN collaborative group. Use of MRI in the diagnosis of fetal brain abnormalities in utero (MERID-IAN): a multicentre, prospective cohort study. Lancet 2017;389:538-46.

5. Quinn TM, Hubbard AM, Adzick NS. Prenatal magnetic resonance imaging enhances fetal diagnosis. J Pediatr Surg 1998;33:553-8.

6. Sotiriadis A, Makrydimas G. Neurodevelopment after prenatal diagnosis of isolated agenesis of the corpus callosum: an integrative review. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2012;206:337.e1-5.

7. Robinson I. Fetal magnetic resonance imaging: a valuable diagnostic tool. Infant 2009;5:124-6.

8. Rossi A, Prefumo F. Additional value of fetal magnetic resonance imaging in the prenatal diagnosis of central nervous system anomalies: a systematic review of the literature. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2014;44:388-93.

9. Mansour S, Elkhyat W. Placenta previa-accreta: do we need MR imaging? Egypt J Radiol Nucl Med 2011;42:433-42.

10. Mar WA, Berggruen S, Atueyi U, Sekhon S, Garzon SA,

Knuttinen MG, et al., Ultrasound imaging of placenta accreta with MR correlation. Ultrasound Q 2015;31:23-33. 11. Tsai PJS, Loichinger M, Zalud I. Obesity and the challenges

of ultrasound fetal abnormality diagnosis. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol 2015;29:320-7.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.721956

Relationship between automated perimetry and Heidelberg retina tomograph, optic coherence tomography and laser polarimetry in moderate to severe glaucomatous eyes

Mehmet Emin Aslancı¹[®], Mehmet Baykara²[®], Emre Güler³[®], Özgür Bülent Timuçin⁴[®], Sami Yılmaz⁵

¹Department of Ophthalmology, Bursa City Hospital, Bursa, Turkey ²Department of Ophthalmology, Uludağ University School of Medicine, Bursa, Turkey ³Department of Ophthalmology, Türkiye Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey ⁴Department of Ophthalmology, Van Urartu Eye Center, Van, Turkey ⁵Department of Ophthalmology, Retina Eye Hospital, Bursa, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives: To determine the correlations between the measurements obtained with Heidelberg retina tomograph III (HRT III), optic coherence tomography (OCT), and laser polarimetry (GDx) with the indices of automated perimetry (AP) in moderate and severe glaucoma patients.

Methods: Forty-nine eyes of 30 patients were included in the current study and were divided into two groups: 23 eyes with moderate and 26 eyes with severe glaucoma defined by Hodapp-Parrish-Anderson grading system. Pearson's correlation coefficients were used to evaluate the correlation between the indices of AP including mean deviation (MD) and pattern standard deviation (PSD), and structural parameters of the retinal nerve fiber layer (RNFL) and optic disc acquired by using three devices in both groups.

Results: In moderate glaucoma OCT and GDx measurements were not correlated to MD only the exception of inferior RNFL (r = 0.57, p = 0.007 and r = 0.52, p = 0.008, respectively). Mild to moderate correlations were calculated between the structural parameters of HRT III and AP indices. In severe glaucoma, the most correlated measurements were obtained by OCT compared to the other devices. The correlations for MD were more powerful compared to PSD. Parameters based on the study of the RNFL showed stronger correlations than those of the optic nerve head. No devices showed significant correlations in patients with MD less than -12 dB.

Conclusions: OCT measurements showed the best correlations with the AP indices in both moderate and severe glaucoma patients. However, AP still seems to be more effective in the follow-up of glaucoma progression in more advanced glaucomatous damage.

Keywords: automated perimetry, Heidelberg retina tomograph, laser polarimetry, optic coherence tomography, glaucoma

laucoma is an optic neuropathy associated with which create the retinal nerve fiber layer (RNFL) [1]. **J** the loss of retinal ganglion cells and their axons Several studies have shown that morphological

Received: April 24, 2020; Accepted: December 18, 2020; Published Online: February 7, 2021



👫 How to cite this article: Aslancı ME, Baykara M, Güler E, Timuçin ÖB, Yılmaz S. Relationship between automated perimetry and Heidelberg retina tomograph, optic coherence tomography and laser polarimetry in moderate to severe glaucomatous eyes. Eur Res J 2021;7(3):270-277. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.721956

-ISSN: 2149-3189 Address for correspondence: Emre Güler, MD., Türkiye Hospital, Department of Ophthalmology, Merkez Mah., Darülacaze Cad., No: 14/1, 34381 Şişli, İstanbul, Turkey. E-mail: guleremre83@hotmail.com, Tel: +90 212 3141414

> ©Copyright 2021 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj

changes of optic disc and defects in visual field (VF) are valuable indicators for diagnosis of glaucoma.

Although automated perimetry (AP) is the gold standard method for glaucoma diagnosis and progression documentation, morphological changes of optic disk and RNFL may precede VF defects in some cases [2]. Several studies have shown the efficacy of Heidelberg Retina Tomograph laser scan (HRT), laser polarimetry (GDx) and optic coherence tomography (OCT) for detecting glaucomatous changes of optic nerve and RNFL [3, 4].

Automated perimetry is useful to determine cases with moderate and advance glaucoma however it may be insufficient to detect patients in early stages [5, 6]. In the other hand the recently imaging techniques have been reported to detect early stages of glaucoma [7]. In this study, we aimed to evaluate the structural parameters of the optic nerve head and RNFL obtained by using a HRT III, OCT and GDx with global indices of conventional AP and reveal the diagnostic precision of these devices for detecting and following subjects with moderate and severe primary open angle glaucoma (POAG).

METHODS

Patients

In this prospective study 49 eyes of 30 patients with POAG were included and were classified into two groups: 23 with moderate and 26 with severe glaucoma. Exclusion criteria were the presence of corneal opacity or cataract, refractive errors higher than -7.0 to +4.0 Diopters (D) sphere and/or 3.0 D cylinder, visual acuity less than 20/100. The study was conducted in accordance with the ethical standards stated in the 1964 Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the Local Ethics Committee of the participating center. All patients were informed about the purpose of the study and provided their consent.

The definition of glaucoma was made by the findings of VF defects. The severity of the VF defect was graded as moderate, or severe visual field loss as defined by Hodapp-Parrish-Anderson (HPA) grading system criteria [8]. In this staging system, glaucomatous eyes were classified into three groups according to the mean deviation (MD) values (mild, MD < -6 dB; moderate, MD > -6 dB and < -12 dB; severe, MD > -12 dB).

A complete ophthalmic examination and also measurements of AP, HRT III, OCT and GDx were obtained in all patients.

Conventional Automatic Perimetry

In all patients 30-2 central field test which uses the Swedish Interactive Threshold Algorithm (SITA) standard software program version 24-2 (Carl Zeiss Meditec, Oberkochen, Germany) on a Humphrey 750i automatic visual field analyzer (Carl Zeiss Meditec) was performed [9]. The test object was size III; the duration time was 200 ms; and the background brightness was 31.5 asb (10 cd/m²). Refractive errors and presbyopia were corrected before the examination. The test was accepted to be confidential when fixation loss, false-negative and false-positive rates were less than 30%. Abnormality was evaluated using the instrument's software through calculating the global Indices of MD or pattern standard deviation (PSD).

Confocal Scanning Laser Ophthalmoscope Imaging

Confocal scanning laser ophthalmoscopy measurements were obtained with the HRT III (Heidelberg Engineering) as described previously [10]. The same examiner performed 3 sequential measurements and these were aligned to combine unique image. The margins of the optic disc were marked by the same examiner manually. Once the margins were marked, disc parameters were estimated automatically by the device. The evaluated parameters in our study were rim area, rim volume, linear cup to-disk ratio, cup-to-disk area ratio, rim-to-disk area ratio, RNFL cross-sectional area, mean RNFL thickness, cup area, cup volume, and mean cup depth.

Optical Coherence Tomography

One examiner performed the peripapillary RNFL thickness measurements by the Stratus TD OCT (Carl Zeiss Meditec) which were described previously [11]. The accepted images had at least 7 signal quality. Study protocols were carried out for RNFL thicknesses (mean, superior and inferior), central foveal thickness and total foveal volume.

Laser Polarimetry

Scanning Laser polarimetry measurements were

obtained by using GDx VCC (Carl Zeiss Meditec Inc.). Details of the GDx-VCC operation have been described [12]. The device calculated the RNFL thicknesses for temporal, superior, nasal and inferior quadrants and nerve fiber indicator (NFI). Measurements with quality score grading less than 7 and scan score less than 70 were excluded.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were calculated using SPSS software (version 21.0, SPSS, Inc. Chicago, IL, USA). Kolmogorov–Smirnov test revealed that the data was normally distributed (p > 0.05). The results are presented as the mean ± the standard deviation (SD). The

measurements between each group were compared by Paired t test. Correlation of measured parameters obtained by OCT, HRT III and GDx VCC with MD and PSD was analyzed with Pearson correlation coefficient. P value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

A total of 49 eyes of 30 patients (20 males, 10 females) with POAG were evaluated. The mean age of the patients was 56.2 ± 10.0 years. As defined by HPA grading system 14 patients (23 eyes) had moderate

 Table 1. Comparison of the measured parameters obtained by OCT, HRT III and GDx

 between the groups

	Moderate POAG	Severe POAG	<i>p</i> value
	(n = 23)	(n = 26)	
OCT parameters			
RNFL superior (µm)	86.76 ± 17.74	57.80 ± 15.45	0.001
RNFL inferior (µm)	75.42 ± 16.32	54.76 ± 14.12	0.001
RNFL average (µm)	65.81 ± 7.88	51.72 ± 9.08	0.001
CFT (µm)	209 ± 24	175 ± 16	0.001
Total macular volume (µm)	5.83 ± 0.43	6.38 ± 0.37	0.001
GDx parameters			
TSNIT average (µm)	45.08 ± 2.50	38.40 ± 5.44	0.001
RNFL superior (µm)	52.38 ± 4.80	39.35 ± 8.26	0.001
RNFL inferior (µm)	51.21 ± 7.16	41.76 ± 9.17	0.001
NFI	47.04 ± 10.45	74.48 ± 15.94	0.001
HRT III parameters			
Cup area (mm ²)	1.03 ± 0.40	1.34 ± 0.42	0.017
Rim area (mm ²)	0.96 ± 0.30	0.76 ± 0.21	0.026
Rim volume (mm ³)	0.17 ± 0.07	0.14 ± 0.07	0.057
Cup/Discarea	0.53 ± 0.17	0.63 ± 0.13	0.027
Cup/Discarea (linear)	0.70 ± 0.12	0.79 ± 0.09	0.010
Average cup depth (mm)	0.27 ± 0.08	0.37 ± 0.15	0.009
Maximum cupdepth (mm)	0.57 ± 0.14	0.76 ± 0.26	0.003
Cup shape measure	-0.060 ± 0.002	-0.020 ± 0.001	0.041
RNFL average (µm)	0.14 ± 0.05	0.10 ± 0.07	0.027

Values are given as mean \pm standard deviation. POAG = Primary open angle glaucoma, OCT = Optical coherence tomography, HRT = Heidelberg retina tomograph, GDx = Laser polarimetry, RNFL = Retinal nerve fiber layer, CFT = Central foveal thickness, TSNIT = Temporal-superior-nasal-inferior-temporal, NFI = Nerve fiber indicator. p < 0.05 indicates statistically significance difference.

POAG, 16 patients (26 eyes) had severe POAG. There were no significant differences in age and sex among the two groups (p = 0.31 and p = 0.28, respectively). Comparison of the measured parameters obtained by OCT, HRT III and GDx between the groups are shown in Table 1. All the measured parameters among the two groups were significantly higher for OCT and GDx (p < 0.001) and statistically significant for HRT III (p < 0.05).

Any correlations between the measured parameters and the AP indices of the moderate glaucoma patients are shown in Table 2. OCT and GDx measurements were not correlated to MD only the exception of inferior RNFL for both devices (r = 0.57, p = 0.007 and r = 0.52, p = 0.008, respectively). In addition there was no significant correlation between these devices and PSD. Regarding the measurements of HRT III, significant correlations were found between cup area, cup/disc area, cup/disc area (linear) and maximum cup depth and MD (r = -0.50, p = 0.02, r = -0.41, p = 0.04; r = -0.44, p = 0.03; r = -0.43, p = 0.05, respectively). Additionally, cup area, cup/disc area, cup/disc area (linear) and average RNFL were significantly correlated to PSD (r = -0.59, p = 0.005, r = -0.54, p = 0.01, r = -0.50, p = 0.02; r = 0.45, p = 0.04, respectively).

Correlations between the measured parameters and the AP indices of the severe glaucoma patients are

 Table 2. Correlations between the measured parameters and the MD-PSD of the moderate

 POAG

	MD (1	n = 23)	PSD	(n = 23)
	r	<i>p</i> value	r	<i>p</i> value
OCT parameters				
RNFL average (µm)	0.20	0.38	-0.07	0.75
RNFL superior (µm)	0.10	0.67	-0.05	0.81
RNFL inferior (µm)	0.57	0.007	-0.05	0.83
CFT (µm)	0.43	0.051	-0.19	0.41
Total macular volume (µm)	0.20	0.41	0.05	0.84
GDx parameters				
TSNIT average (µm)	0.22	0.36	0.21	0.35
RNFL superior (µm)	0.18	0.45	-0.16	0.49
RNFL inferior (µm)	0.52	0.008	0.20	0.39
NFI	-0.14	0.54	0.06	0.78
HRT III parameters				
Cup area (mm ²)	-0.50	0.02	-0.59	0.005
Rim area (mm ²)	0.27	0.23	0.04	0.86
Rim volume (mm ³)	0.27	0.23	0.15	0.50
Cup/Disc area	-0.41	0.04	-0.54	0.01
Cup/Disc area (linear)	-0.44	0.03	-0.50	0.02
Average cup depth (mm)	-0.34	0.12	-0.30	0.18
Maximum cup depth (mm)	-0.43	0.05	-0.16	0.49
Cup shape measure	-0.03	0.88	-0.35	0.12
RNFL average (µm)	-0.06	0.79	0.45	0.04

POAG = Primary open angle glaucoma, OCT = Optical coherence tomography, HRT = Heidelberg retina tomograph, GDx = Laser polarimetry, RNFL = Retinal nerve fiber layer, CFT = Central foveal thickness, TSNIT = Temporal-superior-nasal-inferior-temporal, NFI = Nerve fiber indicator, MD = median deviation, PSD = pattern standard deviation. p < 0.05 indicates statistically significance difference.

shown in Table 3. The RNFL (average, superior and inferior) as measured by OCT was significantly correlated with MD (r = 0.74, p = 0.001; r = 0.68, p = 0.001; r = 0.70, p = 0.001, respectively). However, no significant correlation was found between OCT measurements and PSD (p > 0.05). The inferior RNFL and NFI obtained by GDx were significantly correlated with MD (r = 0.66, p = 0.001; r = -0.66, p = 0.001, respectively). Similarly no significant correlation was found between GDx measurements and PSD (p > 0.05). Regarding the measurements of HRT III, significant correlations were found between cup area, cup/disc area, cup/disc area (linear), average and maximum cup depth and cup shape measure and MD (r = 0.001).

-0.51, p = 0.01; r = -0.45, p = 0.03; r = -0.44, p = 0.03; r = -0.57, p = 0.003; r = -0.61, p = 0.001, respectively). Additionally, cup area and rim volume were significantly correlated to PSD (r = -0.54, p = 0.005; r = -0.47, p = 0.02, respectively).

In patients with MD less than -20 dB (12 patients), the measurements of OCT, GDx and HRT III did not show any significant correlation with MD and PSD (p > 0.05) (Table 4).

DISCUSSION

In this study we compared the structural parame-

 Table 3. Correlations between the measured parameters and the MD-PSD of the severe POAG

	MD (r	1 = 26)	PSD ((n = 26)
	r	<i>p</i> value	r	<i>p</i> value
OCT parameters				
RNFL average (µm)	0.74	0.001	0.16	0.45
RNFL superior (µm)	0.68	0.001	0.18	0.40
RNFL inferior (µm)	0.70	0.001	0.19	0.36
CFT (µm)	0.35	0.08	0.08	0.71
Total macular volume (µm)	0.33	0.11	0.14	0.50
GDx parameters				
TSNIT average (µm)	0.43	0.045	0.04	0.85
RNFL superior (µm)	0.47	0.032	-0.13	0.53
RNFL inferior (µm)	0.66	0.001	0.40	0.05
NFI	-0.66	0.001	-0.07	0.74
HRT III parameters				
Cup area (mm ²)	-0.51	0.01	-0.54	0.005
Rim area (mm ²)	0.34	0.09	0.04	0.79
Rim volume (mm ³)	0.20	0.34	0.47	0.02
Cup/Disc area	-0.45	0.03	-0.28	0.35
Cup/Disc area (linear)	-0.44	0.03	-0.35	0.06
Average cup depth (mm)	-0.57	0.003	-0.26	0.06
Maximum cup depth (mm)	-0.41	0.035	-0.34	0.06
Cup shape measure	-0.61	0.001	-0.38	0.06
RNFL average (µm)	-0.01	0.96	0.156	0.46

POAG = Primary open angle glaucoma, OCT = Optical coherence tomography, HRT = Heidelberg retina tomograph, GDx = Laser polarimetry, RNFL = Retinal nerve fiber layer, CFT = Central foveal thickness, TSNIT = Temporal-superior-nasal-inferior-temporal, NFI = Nerve fiber indicator, MD =median deviation, PSD = pattern standard deviation. p < 0.05 indicates statistically significance difference.

	MD (n = 12)		PSD (n = 12)
	r	<i>p</i> value	r	<i>p</i> value
OCT parameters				
RNFL average (µm)	0.50	0.12	-0.23	0.95
RNFL superior (µm)	0.42	0.20	0.32	0.34
RNFL inferior (µm)	0.50	0.12	-0.42	0.90
CFT (µm)	0.36	0.28	0.33	0.32
Total macular volume (µm)	0.35	0.62	0.01	0.96
GDx parameters				
TSNIT average (µm)	-0.53	0.09	-0.60	0.05
RNFL superior (µm)	-0.40	0.22	-0.43	0.06
RNFL inferior (µm)	-0.17	0.61	-0.23	0.37
NFI	0.20	0.55	0.47	0.05
HRT III parameters				
Cup area (mm ²)	-0.30	0.38	-0.38	0.22
Rim area (mm ²)	0.09	0.77	0.20	0.51
Rim volume (mm ³)	0.19	0.57	0.14	0.63
Cup/Disc area	-0.21	0.53	-0.22	0.42
Cup/Disc area (linear)	-0.24	0.47	-0.29	0.46
Average cup depth (mm)	-0.23	0.50	-0.35	0.51
Maximum cup depth (mm)	-0.11	0.75	-0.49	0.13
Cup shape measure	-0.50	0.11	-0.47	0.12
RNFL average (µm)	-0.34	0.30	-0.22	0.51

Table 4. Correlations between the measured parameters and the MD-PSD of the patients with MD less than -20 dB

OCT = Optical coherence tomography, HRT = Heidelberg retina tomograph, GDx = Laser polarimetry, RNFL = Retinal nerve fiber layer, CFT = Central foveal thickness, TSNIT = Temporal-superior-nasal-inferior-temporal, NFI = Nerve fiber indicator, MD =median deviation, PSD = pattern standard deviation. p < 0.05 indicates statistically significance difference.

ters of the optic disc head and RNFL obtained by using a HRT III, OCT and GDx with global indices of conventional AP to reveal the diagnostic precision of these devices for detecting and following subjects with moderate and severe POAG.

Wollstein *et al.* [13] suggested that OCT has a closer relationship in glaucomatous progression than VF. In another study Kanamori *et al.* [14] showed that OCT has the capability to reveal early glaucomatous damage by calculating the RNFL thickness especially in the inferior quadrant. In addition, the RNFL thickness measurements were favorably correlated with the MD. In this study the measurement of inferior RNFL was significantly correlated with MD and PSD in

moderate POAG patients. Regarding the severe POAG patients the measurements of superior, inferior, and average RNFL showed statistically significant correlations with MD and PSD. We observed that RNFL thickness obtained by OCT was decreased in the progression of POAG which was well correlated with MD indices. However, there was no significant correlation between OCT measurements and PSD in both moderate and severe POAG patients.

Previous studies demonstrated that macular retinal thickness and volume has been capable of revealing glaucomatous damage, nevertheless peripapillary RNFL thickness measurements showed higher sensitivity and specificity to determine VF abnormalities [15, 16]. In this study macular retinal thickness and volume were significantly different between moderate and severe POAG patients and these measurements were not correlated with MD indices of AP.

In a previous study, Brigatti et al. [17] found a statistically significant correlation between optic disc parameters measured with HRT and functional measurements that were obtained with AP. Wollstein G et al. [18] also compared the confocal laser scanning ophthalmoscope parameters with the MD indices of AP in early glaucomatous patients. They found that MD indices were significantly correlated with the measurements of neuroretinal rim area, optic/disc area, cup/disc area ratio and optic disc area. In our study cup area, cup/disc area, cup/disc area (linear) and maximum cup depth were significantly correlated with MD in moderate POAG. In addition significant correlations were found between cup area, cup/disc area, cup/disc area (linear), average and maximum cup depth and cup shape measure in patients with severe POAG.

Previous studies demonstrated that GDx VCC system can be as sensitive as Stratus-OCT in demonstrating the RNFL thickness decrease in glaucoma. In these studies the NFI was found to be the best discriminating parameter which increases as the glaucoma progresses [19, 20]. In our study the NFI value was significantly higher in severe POAG than moderate POAG. In addition it was significantly correlated to MD in severe POAG.

Medeiros FA *et al.* [3] also evaluated the diagnostic capability of GDx VCC, HRT II, and Stratus OCT and showed similar results for all devices. Zangwill *et al.* [21] compared the ability of 3 instruments to differentiate healthy eyes from eyes which had early to moderate glaucomatous visual field defects. They found that measurements obtained with OCT and HRT achieved higher sensitivities compared to GDx. In our study OCT achieved the most correlated measurements with AP indices among the three devices in both moderate and severe POAG patients.

DeLeón Ortega *et al.* [22] found that the measurements of GDx, HRT II and Stratus OCT had high reproducibility in early glaucoma however the repeatability was worse in advanced glaucoma which is probably to conclude the use of NFI by GDx-VCC, rim area, cup area, and cup-to-disc area ratio from both HRT II and Stratus OCT in advanced glaucoma. In our study no significant correlation was found between these imaging devices and AP in patients with MD values less than -20 dB. This may probably be associated with the loss of glial tissue in the advanced glaucoma which may result the false high measurements.

CONCLUSION

OCT measurements had the highest correlations with the indices of AP in both moderate and severe POAG patients whereas HRT III had the lowest values. The correlations of all devices decreased in patients with more advanced glaucomatous damage hence AP still seems to be useful in the follow up disease progression in these glaucoma patients.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: MEA, MB, EG, ÖBT, SY; Study Design: MEA, MB, EG, ÖBT, SY; Supervision: MEA, MB, EG, ÖBT, SY; Funding: MEA, MB, EG, ÖBT, SY; Materials: MEA, MB, EG; Data Collection and/or Processing: MEA, MB, EG; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: MEA, MB, EG; Literature Review: MEA, MB, EG; Manuscript Preparation: MEA, MB, EG and Critical Review MEA, MB, EG.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during the conduction or writing of this study.

REFERENCES

1. Boden C, Hoffmann EM, Medeiros FA, Zangwill LM, Weinreb RN, Sample PA. Intereye concordance in locations of visual field defects in primary open-angle glaucoma: diagnostic innovations in glaucoma study. Ophthalmology 2006;113:918-23.

2. Garway-Heath DF. Early diagnosis in glaucoma. Prog Brain Res 2008;173:47-57.

3. Medeiros FA, Zangwill LM, Bowd C, Weinreb RN. Comparison of the GDx VCC scanning laser polarimeter, HRT II confocal scanning laser ophthalmoscope, and stratus OCT optical coherence tomograph for the detection of glaucoma. Arch Ophthalmol 2004;122:827-37.

4. Hoh ST, Greenfield DS, Mistlberger A, Liebmann JM,

Ishikawa H, Ritch R. Optical coherence tomography and scanning laser polarimetry in normal, ocular hypertensive, and glaucomatous eyes. Am J Ophthalmol 2000;129:129-35.

5. Kerrigan-Baumrind LA, Quigley HA, Pease ME, Kerrigan DF, Mitchell RS. Number of ganglion cells in glaucoma eyes compared with threshold visual field tests in the same persons. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2000;41:741-8.

6. Nomoto H, Matsumoto C, Takada S, Hashimoto S, Arimura E, Okuyama S, et al. Detectability of glaucomatous changes using SAP, FDT, flicker perimetry, and OCT. J Glaucoma 2009;18:165-71.

7. Greaney MJ, Hoffman DC, Garway-Heath DF, Nakla M, Coleman AL, Caprioli J. Comparison of optic nerve imaging methods to distinguish normal eyes from those with glaucoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2002;43:140-5.

8. Anderson DR, Patella VM, eds. Automated Static Perimetry. 2nd ed. St. Louis: Mosby. 1998.

9. Bengtsson B, Heijl A. Evaluation of a new perimetric threshold strategy, SITA, in patients with manifest and suspect glaucoma. Acta Ophthalmol Scand 1998;76:268-72.

10. Leung CK, Ye C, Weinreb RN, Cheung CY, Qiu Q, Liu S, et al. Retinal nerve fiber layer imaging with spectral-domain optical coherence tomography a study on diagnostic agreement with Heidelberg Retinal Tomograph. Ophthalmology 2010;117:267-74.

11. Jaffe GJ, Caprioli J. Optical coherence tomography to detect and manage retinal disease and glaucoma. Am J Ophthalmol 2004;137:156-69.

12. Weinreb RN, Bowd C, Zangwill LM. Scanning laser polarimetry in monkey eyes using variable corneal polarization compensation. J Glaucoma 2002;11:378-84.

13. Wollstein G, Schuman JS, Price LL, Aydin A, Stark PC, Hertzmark E, et al. Optical coherence tomography longitudinal evaluation of retinal nerve fiber layer thickness in glaucoma. Arch Ophthalmol 2005;123:464-70.

14. Kanamori A, Nakamura M, Escano MF, Seya R, Maeda H,

Negi A. Evaluation of the glaucomatous damage on retinal nerve fiber layer thickness measured by optical coherence tomography. Am J Ophthalmol 2003;135:513-20.

15. Ojima T, Tanabe T, Hangai M, Yu S, Morishita S, Yoshimura N. Measurement of retinal nerve fiber layer thickness and macular volume for glaucoma detection using optical coherence tomography. Jpn J Ophthalmol 2007;51:197-203.

16. Wollstein G, Schuman JS, Price LL, Aydin A, Beaton SA, Stark PC, et al. Optical coherence tomography (OCT) macular and peripapillary retinal nerve fiber layer measurements and automated visual fields. Am J Ophthalmol 2004;138:218-25.

17. Brigatti L, Caprioli J. Correlation of visual field with scanning confocal laser optic disc measurements in glaucoma. Arch Ophthalmol 1995;113:1191-4.

18. Wollstein G, Garway-Heath DF, Hitchings RA. Identification of early glaucoma cases with the scanning laser ophthalmoscope. Ophthalmology 1998;105:1557-63.

19. Reus NJ, Lemij HG. Diagnostic accuracy of the GDx VCC for glaucoma. Ophthalmology 2004;111:1860-5.

20. Leung CK, Chong KK, Chan WM, Yiu CK, Tso MY, Woo J, et al. Comparative study of retinal nerve fiber layer measurement by StratusOCT and GDx VCC, II: structure/function regression analysis in glaucoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2005;46:3702-11.

21. Zangwill LM, Bowd C, Berry CC, Williams J, Blumenthal EZ, Sanchez-Galeana CA, et al. Discriminating between normal and glaucomatous eyes using the Heidelberg Retina Tomograph, GDx Nerve Fiber Analyzer, and Optical Coherence Tomograph. Arch Ophthalmol 2001;119:985-93.

22. DeLeon Ortega JE, Sakata LM, Kakati B, McGwin G Jr, Monheit BE, Arthur SN, et al. Effect of glaucomatous damage on repeatability of confocal scanning laser ophthalmoscope, scanning laser polarimetry, and optical coherence tomography. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2007;48:1156-63.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.
The role and efficacy of multidisciplinary council in the bone and soft tissue tumor patients

Hüseyin Sina Coşkun®, Nevzat Dabak®, Hasan Göçer®, Ferhat Say®

Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Ondokuz Mayıs University School of Medicine, Samsun, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives: Bone and soft tissue tumors have become more common and recognized diseases with developing medical technologies. The life span of the patients has been prolonged with more effective treatment methods and developing technology. Regardless of their area of expertise, the concept of multidisciplinary tumor approach has emerged in recent years, since it is difficult for a single physician to manage a malignant mass treatment process. For this purpose, we aimed to share our multidisciplinary bone and soft tissue tumor council data results.

Methods: Patients who were evaluated at the Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology of Ondokuz Mayis University between January 2004 and June 2017 were evaluated retrospectively. For this study, the weekly archived tumor council forms were evaluated and the data were transferred to the computer via Microsoft Excel and SPSS programs. The database for the specified years was created and the results were evaluated and the database was evaluated.

Results: A total of 2788 patients were included in the study. After the patients with data deficiency were removed, 2397 patients were the subject of the study. In the evaluation of the first 1960 patients, 658 primary bone tumors, 577 primary soft tissue tumors, 356 cases of metastases and 374 non-tumoral cases were detected. The most common benign bone tumor was enchondroma, while the most common malignant bone tumor was osteosarcoma. The most common benign soft tissue tumor was lipoma, whereas the most common malignant soft tissue tumor was malignant mesenchymal tumor. The most common non-tumor cause was chronic infection. The diagnosis of 203 patients was different from the definitive diagnosis.

Conclusions: In this study, we determined the epidemiological distribution of the cases evaluated in the multidisciplinary tumor council in the Middle Black Sea and the role of multidisciplinary approach in treatment and survival has a positive effect especially in selected patient groups.

Keywords: Multidisciplinaryapproach, benign bone tumor, soft tissue tumor, sarcomas

Before the modern treatment approaches in current use, amputation was the primary treatment method for the cases with a malignant bone or soft tissue tumor. With developments over time, adjuvant chemotherapy or radiotherapy was introduced to the treatment protocols of sarcoma patients. Even with these innovations on bone and soft tissue tumors field, the 5-year survival rates of these protocols were meager. In recent years, there has been an increase in the determination of musculoskeletal system tumors with

Received: April 8, 2020; Accepted: June 13, 2020; Published Online: January 10, 2021



How to cite this article: Çoşkun HS, Dabak N, Göçer H, Say F. The role and efficacy of multidisciplinary council in the bone and soft tissue tumor patients. Eur Res J 2021;7(3):278-283. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.716555

Address for correspondence: Hüseyin Sina Çoşkun, MD., Assistant Professor, Ondokuz Mayıs University School of Medicine, Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Samsun, Turkey. E-mail: sina.coskun@hotmail.com

> ©Copyright 2021 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj

the development and widespread use of the diagnostic methods of computed tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and these tumors are well recognized nowadays.

Experienced centers are at the forefront of diagnosis and treatment of musculoskeletal system tumors. When examined from the perspective of a single specialty, the diagnosis and treatment of malignant bone and soft tissue tumors is usually insufficient. In this context, the treatment of musculoskeletal system tumors started to be planned by a multidisciplinary council worldwide. With the multidisciplinary tumor council, delayed diagnosis of malignant sarcomas have been avoided, the time to initiation of treatment has been shortened, and there has been a positive effect on survival rates. The Council is formed of specialists from orthopedics and traumatology, pathology, radiology, nuclear medicine, radiation oncology, internal medicine, and pediatric oncology. In Turkey, a similar council method of working was first implemented by Güven Yücetürk et al. [1].

This study aimed to emphasize the importance of a multidisciplinary approach in the diagnosis and treatment of bone and soft tissue tumors by retrospectively evaluating the data of the database of Bone and Soft Tissue Tumour Council (BSTTC) of Ondokuz Mayis University School of Medicine between June 2004 and June 2017. It was also aimed to share the data of a bone and soft tissue tumor center.

METHODS

The study included patients evaluated by the BSTTC, which operates within the Orthopaedics and Traumatology Department of Ondokuz Mayis University School of Medicine. The study parameters were formed based on the BSTTC form, including patient name, age, gender, complaints, in brief, initial diagnosis, definitive diagnosis, and BSTTC decision. The study database was created from a retrospective scan of these data.

Ethical Committee Approval

Approval for this study was granted by the Clinical Ethics Committee of Ondokuz Mayis University (decision no: OMUKAEK 2017/259, dated: 20.07.2017). No financial support was obtained from any source for this study.

Statistical Analysis

Data obtained in the study were analyzed statistically using SPSS for Windows 21.0 software (SPSS Inc, Chicago, IL, USA). Descriptive statistics were presented as mean \pm standard deviation, median (minimum-maximum) values, frequency (n) and percentage (%)

RESULTS

Between 2004 and 2017, a total of 2788 patients were evaluated by BSTTC of Ondokuz Mayis University School of Medicine. When the BSTTC evaluation forms were screened, the data of 391 patients were incomplete, so these patients were excluded from the study. The data of the remaining 2397 patients were, and it was determined that 437 patients were discussed more than once by BSTTC. These 437 patients were excluded, and the study sample was formed of 1960 patients who received an initial diagnosis of bone or soft tissue tumor. These patients comprised 996 males and 964 females with a mean age of 40.54 years (min 17 days-max 96 years). The primary bone tumor was determined in 658 patients, primary soft tissue tumor in 577, metastatic disease in 356, and non-tumoral conditions in 369. The study parameters are shown in Table 1.

In some cases, a single patient was evaluated several times by BSTTC. For example, one patient with a diagnosis of osteosarcoma was discussed by BSTTC eight times. This situation was generally observed in patients diagnosed with malignant bone or soft tissue tumor. Sometimes evaluation of complications that developed in the treatment process and if necessary, a review of the treatment, meant that the patient was re-evaluated by BSTTC.

Taking this information into consideration, BSTTC re-evaluated 72 (20%) of all the metastatic cases, 64 (53.33%) patients with Ewing sarcoma, 48 (66.66%) with osteosarcoma, 19 (27.76%) with malignant mesenchymal tumour, 12 (21.81%) with giant cell bone tumour, all the cases with atypical lipomatous mass (19 times, 190%), 11 (44%) patients with chondrosarcoma, 10 (62.5%) with desmoid tumour, and 10 (18.51%) with osteoid osteoma.

	The number of patients
	(n)
Patients evaluated by BSTTC 2004 and 2017	2788
Total number of patients after exclusion of those with incomplete data	2397
Patients discussed more than once by BSTTC	437
Total number of patients included the study	1960
Gender	
Male	996
Female	964
Mean age (years)	40.54
Primary bone tumour	658
Benign $(n = 447)$	
Malignant $(n = 211)$	
Primary soft tissue tumour	572
Benign $(n = 353)$	
Malignant $(n = 219)$	
Metastatic disease	356
Non-tumoral conditions	374

Table 1. Details of the patients included the study

BSTTC = Bone and Soft Tissue Tumour Council



Fig. 1. The ratios of re-evaluated patients to the totals of all diagnosed patients.



Fig. 2. Patients with a re-evaluation of diagnosis. The first word refers to the initial diagnosis of the patients and the second word to the definitive diagnosis.

In other words, re-evaluation was made of 86/447 (19%) benign bone tumor cases, of 137/211 (65%) malignant bone tumors, of 73/353 (20%) benign soft tissue tumors, of 56/219 (26%) malignant soft tissue tumors, and of 72/356 (20%) metastatic cases. The detailed analyses of the cases re-evaluated by BSTTC are shown in Fig. 1.

The diagnosis of some patients was changed after re-evaluation or histopathological examination. The findings of these patients are shown grouped as the initial diagnosis and definitive diagnosis in Fig. 2.

DISCUSSION

In comparison with data in the literature, some of the most frequently seen bone and soft tissue tumors seem to be quantitatively low in our series. The reason for this is that the multidisciplinary BSTTC deals more with the evaluation of diagnoses with a treatment process open to discussion. One of the frequently seen bone tumors in literature is enchondroma [2-4], which was seen in the current series as 8.6% of all bone tumors, and osteosarcoma was determined at the rate of 10.94%.

The higher number of Ewing sarcoma than the relatively more often seen osteochondroma can be attributed to the tendency for the Council to evaluate malignant cases and there is a lesser need for the Council in the diagnosis and treatment of benign masses. This was not very different for the soft tissue tumors in this study. For example, while cystic hygroma is among the most frequently seen soft tissue tumors [5], only 17 patients diagnosed with cystic hygroma were found in the 14-year archive of the BSTTC. The number of cases diagnosed with the malignant soft tissue tumor such as liposarcoma was 33, usually expected less common than cystic hygroma.

One of the aims of the multidisciplinary tumor council is to increase patient comfort and extend survival of these patients with collaboration between disciplines by organizing the optimum conditions for the treatment of patients with malignant bone or soft tissue tumors. In light of this information, the study data were examined of 1960 patients of 2397 who were first discussed by the Council and diagnosis was made for these 1960 patients. A total of 437 patients (18.23%) were re-evaluated by the Council. The treatment protocols and survival rates of patients evaluated more than once by the Council, and the prognostic effect of the Council are targets for future studies.

When literature is examined, it can be seen that the treatment algorithm has generally been formed with a multidisciplinary approach for metastatic bone disease [6, 7]. There are also studies related to a multidisciplinary approach for malignant bone tumors such as osteosarcoma and Ewing's sarcoma [8, 9]. In a study that evaluated the multidisciplinary approach to 8 cases of malignant mass within the pelvis, satisfactory short-term results were obtained in all eight patients who received multidisciplinary treatment. According to that study, the survival rate of patients undergoing appropriate surgery for bone tumors in the pelvic region can be increased with a multidisciplinary approach comprising interventional radiologists, pediatric and medical oncologists, orthopedic surgeons, urologists, colorectal surgeons and plastic surgeons [10].

Re-opening the discussion of a case evaluated by the BSSTC is the result of a multidisciplinary approach. Since bone and soft tissue sarcomas are not common, there can be difficulties in the interpretation of imaging and histology, and because of the options of treatment methods and the complexity of treatment, systematic multidisciplinary team management is needed for these patients. A team with an integrated multidisciplinary clinic and a structured sarcoma tumor management panel facilitate team coordination and communication [11].

The management of soft tissue sarcomas requires multidisciplinary care [12]. When a multidisciplinary team is not used for patients with soft tissue sarcoma, surgery may not be optimal in the first intervention, and this can lead to a need for more extensive surgery than for the original tumor and radiation at later stages [13, 14]. Also, there may be a more significant treatment costs for patients with bone and soft tissue tumors in the future because of the nonoptimal treatment process. Alamanda et al. [15] stated that there was an additional cost of 3679 USD in patients applied with re-excision following primary excision. Furthermore, primary operations performed without care by inexperienced hands can cause unnecessary amputations [16]. In the data of the current study, the three diagnoses most often repeatedly discussed were the metastatic bone disease, Ewing sarcoma, and osteosarcoma. When literature is examined, the importance of a multidisciplinary approach in the diagnosis and treatment of these types of malignant tumors can be observed [6-12].

It was observed that the diagnosis of some patients was changed after discussion in the Council or after histopathological examination. The findings of these patients were then shown as different patient groups with the initial and definitive diagnoses. In this section, when the tumors were separated into four groups according to the histopathological behavior, the most dramatic difference was in 27 patients with a benign diagnosis that became malignant. This can be considered to demonstrate that malignant tumors were captured at a lower grade and that the survival rate was increased with appropriate treatment. The diagnosis of malignant tumor of these 27 patients was confirmed with biopsy and surgery, and the importance of a multidisciplinary approach was observed on this point.

For the other groups, a less radical change was seen (initial benign diagnosis was definitively diagnosed as the benign and initial malignant diagnosis was definitively diagnosed as malignant). While 42 patients were considered to have an initial malignant diagnosis, a definitive benign diagnosis prevented unnecessary surgical interventions which would cause unnecessary costs, and this is another benefit of the multidisciplinary Council. In other words, in 69 (33.99%) of 203 patients with a different definitive diagnosis from the initial diagnosis (a benign diagnosis becoming malignant and vice versa), the treatment was radically changed. As the ratio of all the patients evaluated by BSTTC, this number (69/1960) constituted 3.52%. This group can be considered to represent the patient group for whom the multidisciplinary tumor approach provided the most benefit.

When the diagnoses of the patients with the different initial diagnosis were examined, the three leading diagnoses that changed as a result of the detailed evaluation were formed of changes associated with infection, metastasis, and trauma. Several bone tumors are seen in forms similar to those of inflammation processes. The difference between osteomyelitis and primary bone tumor, especially Ewing sarcoma, always creates a problem. Consequently, it is generally difficult to interpret the difference between clinical and radiological findings. Osteomyelitis and bone tumors usually occur in young people. In several conditions, direct radiographs cannot be fully interpreted, and therefore, this method must not be significantly trusted when establishing the diagnosis. If a diagnosis is made by only direct radiographs, errors can be made [17].

CONCLUSION

In the treatment of a malignant tumor, working

collaboration must be provided between the disciplines, and there must be specialists from radiology, pathology, medical oncology, radiation oncology and nuclear medicine in the team in addition to the orthopedic oncologist. In some patients thought to have a benign mass in the initial diagnosis, a diagnosis of a malignant mass was revealed as a result of the evaluation by the Tumour Council. Thus significant treatment changes were made in the early stages to prolong the survival rate of these patients, and the biopsychosocial healing process of the patients was accelerated. In some patients initially thought to have a malignant mass, a definitive diagnosis of a benign mass was revealed as a result of the Tumour Council evaluation, and for these patients unnecessary surgery, treatments and its costs were avoided.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: HSC, NB; Study Design: NB; Supervision: NB; Funding: HSC, NB; Materials: HG, FS; Data Collection and/or Processing: HSC, NB, HG, FS; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: HG, FS; Literature Review: HSC; Manuscript Preparation: HSC and Critical Review: NB.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

Acknowledgments

Authors thank to Funda COŞKUN for language editing.

REFERENCES

1. Yuceturk G, Sabah D, Kececi B, Kara AD, Yalcinkaya S. Prevalence of bone and soft tissue tumors. Acta Orthop Traumatol Turc 2011;45:135-43.

2. Hung Y, Ko W, Liu W, Chow C, Kwok Y, Wong C, et al. Local review of treatment of hand enchondroma (artificial bone substitute versus autologous bone graft) in a tertiary referral centre: 13

years' experience. Hong Kong Med J 2015;21:217-23.

3. Jewusiak EM, Spence KF, Sell KW. Solitary benign enchondroma of the long bones of the hand: Results of curettage and packing with freeze-dried cancellous-bone allograft. JBJS 1971;53:1587-90.

4. Picci P, Manfrini M, Fabbri N, Gambarotti M, Vanel D. Atlas of musculoskeletal tumors and tumorlike lesions: the Rizzoli case archive: Springer Science & Business Media; 2014.

5. Hochman MG, Wu JS. MR imaging of common soft tissue masses in the foot and ankle. Magn Reson Imaging Clin N Am 2017;25:159-81.

6. Bechsgaard T, Lelkaitis G, Jensen KE, Ewertsen C. Diagnosis of bone metastasis from thyroid carcinoma: a multidisciplinary approach. Acta Radiol Open 2015;4:2058460115603248.

7. Satoh T, Ishiyama H. [Current diagnosis and the multidisciplinary approach to the treatment of bone metastases in patients with prostate cancer]. Nihon Rinsho. 2016;74(1):129-36. [Aeticle in Japanese]

8. Gaspar N, Hawkins DS, Dirksen U, Lewis IJ, Ferrari S, Le Deley M-C, et al. Ewing sarcoma: current management and future approaches through collaboration. J Clin Oncol 2015;33:3036-46.

9. Wittig JC, Bickels J, Priebat D, Jelinek J, Kellar-Graney K, Shmookler B, et al. Osteosarcoma: a multidisciplinary approach to diagnosis and treatment. Am Fam Physician 2002;65:1123-32. 10. Yokoyama R, Beppu Y, Tobisu K-i, Moriya Y, Uchiyama K, Kito M, et al. A multidisciplinary approach to the treatment of malignant pelvic bone tumors: results with eight consecutive patients. J Orthop Sci 2000;5:449-56.

11. Siegel GW, Biermann JS, Chugh R, Jacobson JA, Lucas D, Feng M, et al. The multidisciplinary management of bone and soft tissue sarcoma: an essential organizational framework. J Multidiscip Healthc 2015;8:109-15.

12. Papagelopoulos PJ, Mavrogenis AF, Mastorakos DP, Patapis P, Soucacos PN. Current concepts for management of soft tissue sarcomas of the extremities. J Surg Orthop Adv 2008;17:204-15. 13. Siebenrock KA, Hertel R, Ganz R. Unexpected resection of soft-tissue sarcoma. More mutilating surgery, higher local recurrence rates, and obscure prognosis as consequences of improper surgery. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg 2000;120:65-9.

14. Umer HM, Umer M, Qadir I, Abbasi N, Masood N. Impact of unplanned excision on prognosis of patients with extremity soft tissue sarcoma. Sarcoma 2013;2013:498604.

15. Alamanda VK, Delisca GO, Mathis SL, Archer KR, Ehrenfeld JM, Miller MW, et al. The financial burden of reexcising incompletely excised soft tissue sarcomas: a cost analysis. Ann Surg Oncol 2013;20:2808-14.

16. Venkatesan M, Richards C, McCulloch T, Perks A, Raurell A, Ashford R, et al. Inadvertent surgical resection of soft tissue sarcomas. Eur J Surg Oncol 2012;38:346-51.

17. Coventry MB. The differential diagnosis of malignant bone tumors. Ann Surg 1950;132:888-98.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.721469

The effect of different tonsillectomy techniques on taste sensation in the early and late postoperative periods

Zeynep Nur Erol[®], Bilge Türk[®], Nurullah Seyhun[®], Mahmut Cankaya[®], Aytuğ Altundağ[®], Berna Uslu Coşkun[®]

Department of Otorhinolaryngology Head and Neck Surgery, Şişli Hamidiye Etfal Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives: Impairment in taste sensation is a rare complication of tonsillectomy. We aimed to reveal the effects of different tonsillectomy techniques on taste sensation by assessing the impairment in taste sensation in the early and late postoperative periods.

Methods: In this prospective clinical study, fifty-seven (22 females, 35 males, mean age, 25 ± 9.8 years) patients who underwent tonsillectomy were included. All patients were operated on under general anesthesia, and a chemical stimulation taste test was performed one week prior to the surgery, at first week and first month postoperatively. Four basic taste sensations were assessed in the test (sweet, sour, salty, and bitter), and impairments in taste sensation in the early and late postoperative periods for each tonsillectomy technique were evaluated.

Results: In the early postoperative period, there was a statistically significant increase bitter taste sensations in patients who underwent tonsillectomy (p = 0.020). In the late postoperative period, sour and bitter taste sensations were significantly increased in the patients (p = 0.001, p = 0.002 respectively). In contrast to the early postoperative period, total taste sensation was significantly increased in the late postoperative period (p = 0.034).

Conclusions: The bitter sensation in the early postoperative period and the bitter and sour sensations in late postoperative period were found to be significantly increased in this present study. With regard to these results, a thorough preoperative explanation should be done.

Keywords: Tonsillectomy, taste sensation, chemogustometry

Tonsillectomy is one of the oldest and most commonly performed surgery worldwide. Impairment in taste sensation after tonsillectomy is a rare complication, and it can affect quality of life in the postoperative period. Few studies reported on this complication, which is thought to be due to lingual nerve branch of the glossopharyngeal nerve traction during tonsillectomy or from indirect thermal injury

[1, 2]. Impairment in taste sensation can lead to malnutrition, significant gains or losses in weight, and changes in dietary. To reduce the risk of complications of tonsillectomy which can cause significant morbidities, many techniques have been described, such as cold dissection, mono-polar and bipolar dissections, laser tonsillectomy cryosurgery, harmonic scalpel electro surgery, coblation, thermal welding, and

Received: April 16, 2020; Accepted: December 8, 2020; Published Online: January 11, 2021



How to cite this article: Erol ZN, Türk B, Seyhun N, Cankaya M, Altundağ A, Uslu Coşkun B. The effect of different tonsillectomy techniques on taste sensation in the early and late postoperative periods. Eur Res J 2021;7(3):284-290. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.721469.

Address for correspondence: Zeynep Nur Erol, MD., Şişli Hamidiye Etfal Training and Research Hospital, Department of Otorhinolaryngology Head and Neck Surgery, İstanbul, Turkey. E-mail: drzeyneperol11@gmail.com

©Copyright 2021 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj plasma knife. The most frequently performed technique among these is cold dissection, but none of these techniques has been universally accepted.

Many studies compare the effects of various tonsillectomy techniques, but, to our knowledge, the effect of different techniques on taste sensation has not been investigated. In this study, we aimed to evaluate the effect of different techniques on taste sensation in the early and late postoperative periods following tonsillectomy.

METHODS

Study Design and Population

Fifty-seven (35 [61.4%] males, 22 [38.6%] females) patients with an age range of 12 to 50 (mean: 25 ± 9.8) years who underwent different tonsillectomy techniques were enrolled to this randomized and prospective study. Patients with chronic systemic diseases which could affect taste sensation (e.g., chronic kidney disease and middle ear diseases) and patients who were previously diagnosed with taste disorders, who were on medication, or who were operated on for bleeding as a complication of tonsillectomy were excluded from the study.

All patients were informed preoperatively about the study and surgical procedure, and written consent was obtained from each patient. The study protocol was approved by the local Ethics Committee (KAEK 2016/1145).

Surgery Procedures

Randomization of the groups to determine surgical technique was decided by lot. All patients were operated on under general anesthesia. The harmonic scalpel was used in 13 (22.8%) patients, bipolar cautery was used in 18 (31.6%) patients, cold dissection was used in 14 (24.6%) patients, and thermal welding was used in 12 (21.1%) patients. Preoperatively, 0.5mg/kg of dexamethasone was administered intravenously to all patients (max. 8 g). Oral feeding with cold liquids was started in patients without active bleeding or nausea/vomiting in the fourth postoperative hour. All patients were discharged on the first postoperative day.

Evaluation of Taste Sensation

Nowadays the two most commonly used tests are electrogustometry and chemogustometric test. Bitter, sour, sweet, salty and umami solutions are used in the chemical tests and electrical current is used in electrogustometry to create the sense of taste. Electrogustometry makes quantitative measurements whereas chemogustometry makes both quantitative and qualitative measurements [3]. For this reason, we used chemogustometric tests in our study.

Preoperative taste sensation was evaluated, and results were recorded one week prior to the surgery. Postoperative taste sensation was evaluated first week (early period) and first month (late period). The patients were informed about not eating, smoking or brushing their teeth for an hour before the test.

Four basic taste sensations were evaluated (sweet, sour, salty, and bitter) by using a chemical stimulation test. Filtered paper strips (Taste Strips; Burghart, Wedel, Germany) were used for the test. The strips were 8 cm long, with 2×2 cm area of impregnated taste materials on the tip [3]. On the strips, four different concentrations for all four basic taste sensations were present. Distilled water was used as diluent and taste materials used, and the concentrations were as follows: (1) Sweet: 0.4, 0.2, 0.1, and 0.05 gr. sucrose/ml, (2) Sour: 0.3, 0.165, 0.09, and 0.05 gr. citric acid/ml, (3) Salty: 0.25, 0.1, 0.04, and 0.016 gr. sodium chloride/ml, (4) Bitter: 0.006, 0.0024, 0.0009, and 0.0004 gr. kinin hydrochloride/ml.Taste solutions were freshly prepared at regular intervals. Strips were put on the left or right side of the tongue. Taste sensation is carried by chorda tympani nerve, which is a branch of facial nerve, on the anterior part of the tongue. Posterior part of the tongue is innervated by the lingual nerve which is a branch of glossopharyngeal nerve. Taste strips were applied to both parts of the tongue. Tonsillectomy can affect the taste sensation on the posterior part of tongue by damaging the lingual branch of glossopharyngeal nerve. However tonsillectomy does not cause any damage to chorda tympani which innervates the anterior part of the tongue. Therefore, our results reflects the effects of tonsillectomy on taste sensation of posterior part of tongue.

In total, 32 results were recorded. Prior to putting the strips on the tongue, patients were asked to rinse out their mouths. The test was done in increasing concentrations, and taste sensation was evaluated by randomly changing the sides for all four concentrations. Patients were asked to choose one of the four basic tastes for each strip. Taste scores were recorded for each side of the tongue for each concentration [4]. For each taste, both sides were analyzed statistically.

Statistical Analysis

SPSS 15.0 for Windows software (IBM, Armonk, NY, USA) was used for statistical analysis. Mean, standard deviation (SD), and median values were used in descriptive statistics. The one-way analysis of variation (ANOVA) and Kruskal Wallis test were used to compare independent variables. The Friedman test and the repeated measures ANOVA were used to compare more than two groups. *P-values* of 0.05 or less were considered significant.

RESULTS

Bitter taste sensation was found to be increased in the early postoperative period and was statistically significant (p = 0.020) when evaluating the results, regardless of the technique used. In the late postoperative period, sour, bitter, and total taste sensations were increased and were also statistically significant (p = 0.001, p = 0.002, p = 0.034; respectively) (Table 1).

As it is defined, cold dissection is a cold knife technique, while hot dissection includes thermal welding, bipolar cautery, and harmonic scalpel techniques. In the early postoperative period, there was no statistically significant difference between the cold and hot technique groups in total taste sensation. However,

 Table 1. Rate of taste changes in early and late postoperative period regardless of technique used

		Mean ± SD	<i>p</i> value
Early period			
Sweet	Preoperative	5.79 ± 2.27	0.425
	Postoperative	5.98 ± 2.09	
Sour	Preoperative	4.04 ± 2.28	0.107
	Postoperative	4.54 ± 2.04	
Bitter	Preoperative	4.42 ± 2.91	0.020
	Postoperative	5.30 ± 2.47	
Salty	Preoperative	4.84 ± 2.81	0.743
	Postoperative	4.98 ± 2.59	
Total taste	Preoperative	19.02 ± 8.20	0.133
	Postoperative	16.33 ± 9.52	
Late period			
Sweet	Preoperative	5.79 ± 2.27	0.061
	Postoperative	6.32 ± 1.89	
Sour	Preoperative	4.04 ± 2.28	0.001
	Postoperative	5.07 ± 1.88	
Bitter	Preoperative	4.42 ± 2.91	0.002
	Postoperative	5.47 ± 2.44	
Salty	Preoperative	4.84 ± 2.81	0.264
	Postoperative	5.25 ± 2.34	
Total taste	Preoperative	19.02 ± 8.20	0.034
	Postoperative	20.86 ± 8.35	

SD = standard deviation

		Technique				
		Cold		Hot		
		$Mean \pm SD$	Median	$Mean \pm SD$	Median	
Early period						
Sweet	Preoperative	6.1 ± 2.0	6.5	5.7 ± 2.4	6	
	Postoperative	5.9 ± 1.9	6	6.0 ± 2.2	6	
	<i>p</i> value	0.633		0.280		
Sour	Preoperative	3.7 ± 2.2	4	4.1 ± 2.3	4	
	Postoperative	4.4 ± 2.1	4	4.6 ± 2.0	4	
	<i>p</i> value	0.394		0.193		
Bitter	Preoperative	4.6 ± 3.1	4	4.4 ± 2.9	4	
	Postoperative	4.2 ± 2.5	5.5	5.7 ± 2.4	6	
	<i>p</i> value	0.421 0.00		0.003		
Salty	Preoperative	5.0 ± 3.2	5.5	4.8 ± 2.7	4	
	Postoperative	4.9 ± 3.2	6	5.0 ± 2.4	5	
	<i>p</i> value	0.680		0.655		
Total taste	Preoperative	19.4 ± 8.6	20.5	18.9 ± 8.2	20	
	Postoperative	15.7 ± 9.8	18.5	16.5 ± 9.5	19	
	<i>p</i> value	0.135		0.299		

 Table 2. Postoperative early period taste sensation rates of hot and cold technical tonsillectomy

SD = standard deviation

when each taste sensation was evaluated, the postoperative bitter taste sensation was significantly increased compared to that of the preoperative period (p = 0.003) (Table 2). In the late postoperative period, total taste, bitter taste, and sour taste were significantly increased in the hot technique groups compared to those in the preoperative period (p = 0.002, p = 0.001, p = 0.031; respectively) (Table 3).

Posttonsillectomy bleeding and oral intake limitation were seen as complications, and complication rates for each technique were recorded; posttonsillectomy bleeding was observed in 7 patient, posttonsillectomy infection was observed in 3 patients but no statistically significant differences were found among the different tonsillectomy techniques.

DISCUSSION

Tonsillectomycarries a significant risk of morbidities and can even be fatal. The most common morbidities of tonsillectomy are dehydration, oral feeding deficiency, bacteremia, otalgia, and bleeding. Taste disorders following tonsillectomy are a rare complication, but can significantly affect the patient's quality of life. Some reported studies exist in the literature about this complication [1, 2]. Chronic and recurrent inflammation in the oral cavity and oropharynx can also significantly affect taste sensation [5].

Tonsils are innervated by two discrete cranial nerves: the lesser palatine branch of the maxillary nerve and the tonsillar branch of the glossopharyngeal nerve. The main innervation of the tonsillapalatina is by the tonsillar branch of the glossopharyngeal nerve. The lingual branch of the glossopharyngeal nerve, runs adjacent to the capsule of the tonsillapalatina in 21% of the adult population, and it can be injured during tonsillectomy, causing taste disorders on the posterior part of the tongue [4]. Inflammations in the tonsillar region can also cause otalgia via the tympanic branch of the glossopharyngeal nerve.

In the literature, it is reported that direct injury or

		Technique			
		Cold		Cold	
		$Mean \pm SD$	Median	$Mean \pm SD$	Median
Late period					
Sweet	Preoperative	6.1 ± 2.0	6.5	5.7 ± 2.4	6
	Postoperative	6.4 ± 1.8	7	6.3 ± 1.9	7
	<i>p</i> value	0.435	0.435		
Sour	Preoperative	3.7 ± 2.2	4	4.1 ± 2.3	4
	Postoperative	4.7 ± 2.0	5	5.2 ± 1.9	5
	<i>p</i> value	0.242		0.002	
Bitter	Preoperative	4.6 ± 3.1	4	4.4 ± 2.9	4
	Postoperative	4.2 ± 2.6	5.5	5.7 ± 2.4	6
	<i>p</i> value	0.748	0.748		
Salty	Preoperative	5.0 ± 3.2	5.5	4.8 ± 2.7	4
	Postoperative	4.9 ± 2.9	6	5.3 ± 2.1	5
	<i>p</i> value	0.776		0.184	
Total taste	Preoperative	19.4 ± 8.6	20.5	18.9 ± 8.2	20
	Postoperative	20.0 ± 8.5	21.5	21.1 ± 8.4	23
	<i>p</i> value	0.674		0.031	

 Table 3. Postoperative late period taste sensation rates of hot and cold technical tonsillectomy

SD = standard deviation

indirect thermal injury of the lingual branch of the glossopharyngeal nerve during tonsillectomy can also cause a significant decrease in taste sensation [3]. Anatomical variations of the lingual branch of the glossopharyngeal nerve play an important role in this. In 21% of the adult population, the lingual branch of the glossopharyngeal nerve runs adjacent to the capsule of the tonsillapalatina, which puts it at risk of injury [6].

In the present study, irrespective of which technique was used, bitter and sour taste sensations were significantly increased in the late postoperative period. Bitter taste sensation was also increased in the early postoperative period. Unlike the expectation of deterioration in the taste sensation, these results were notable. However, our findings did not match the literature regarding this point.

Taste sensation on the posterior part of the tongue is innervated by the lingual branch of the glossopharyngeal nerve; therefore, following tonsillectomy, it is expected to see taste changes in sour and bitter tastes [7]. Previous reports on this mostly considered the taste sensation in the anterior part of the tongue, but the lingual nerve, a branch of the glossopharyngeal nerve, innervates the posterior part of the tongue [8]. However, in our study, contrary to the previous findings, bitter and sour taste sensations were significantly increased. This is thought to be the effect of inflammation of the oropharynx on taste sensation.

In a study by Stathas et al. [7], 60 patients who underwent cold knife and electrocautery tonsillectomy were evaluated for taste sensations with chemogustometry on the 1st, 15th, and 30th postoperative days. On the first postoperative day, the posterior part of the tongue was found to be more affected than the anterior part of the tongue. Bitter and sour tastes were more affected than salty and sweet tastes. On the 30th postoperative day, except for two patients, normal taste functions were regained [7]. This data shows that taste disorders following tonsillectomy are temporary. The authors suggest that this could be due to direct or indirect lingual branch of the glossopharyngeal nerve injury during the operation. Indirect injury can be due to compression of the mouth gag or local anesthetic infiltration.

In the literature, it is reported that lingual branch of the glossopharyngeal nerve injury is the main cause of taste disorders following tonsillectomy. During tonsillectomy, if the superior constrictor muscle cannot be conserved properly, lingual nerve injury may occur, and this can cause significant taste disorders [6]. In our study, regardless of the technique used, the patients did not experience any taste disorders postoperatively. This can be due to successful dissection during surgery, considering the first postoperative week as the early postoperative period, and a decrease in the chronic inflammation.

In one study, inflammation was found to affect taste sensation by toll-like receptors and type I-II interferons, which caused a decrease in taste sensations [5]. Our patients were 12 to 50 years of age and had experienced recurrent infections or chronic inflammation over a long time. In addition, the medications used for treatment, including anti-inflammatory and antibiotic medications, can also affect taste sensation [9]. Oral sprays that contain chlorhexidinegluconate are used for antiseptic purposes; they also can affect taste sensation [10]. All these findings are associated with the increase in taste sensation. The increase can also be related to decreased inflammation.

The increase in taste sensation in the harmonic scalpel, bipolar cautery, and thermal welding tonsillectomy groups, compared to cold techniques, is thought to be due to local injury which is more prevalent in cold techniques. The inflammation phase of wound healing occurs on days one to six. In this study, we tested the patients at the 1st week in the postoperative period, when the inflammation phase of wound healing was nearly over. At the 1st postoperative week, we believe, the effect of inflammation of taste sensation is at a minimum.

In this study, the results for the postoperative 1st week and 30th day are similar, and this data is thought to be the result of the inflammation phase of wound healing which is usually over by the 6th postoperative day. Irrespective of the techniques used, in the early postoperative period, bitter taste was significantly increased, and, in the late postoperative period, bitter, sour, and total taste sensations were significantly increased. These tastes are associated with the posterior

part of the tongue, and this data can be explained by the decline in chronic inflammation, which has negative effects on taste sensation and shows that the lingual nerve was not injured during tonsillectomy.

A research was published on this subject in 2018. The highest prevalence of self-reported taste disturbances occurred two weeks after surgery (32%). Two studies reported post-operative chemical gustometry scores consistent with hypogeusia. However, in the two studies that compared pre- and post-tonsillectomy test scores, one found no difference and the other found a significant difference only for the left rear of the tongue 14 days post-op. In the two studies that employed electrogustometry, elevated post-operative thresholds were noted, although only one compared pre- and post-operative thresholds. This study found no significant differences. No study employed a normal control group to assess the influences of repeated testing on the sensory measures. Overall, this review indicates that studies on post-tonsillectomy taste disorders are limited and ambiguous. [11].

Limitations

This study has a number of limitations. Small sample sizes and lengths of follow-up are the major limitations. However, the best of our knowledge, our analysis is the first study which evaluate taste disorders after different tonsillectomy techniques prospectively. When viewed from this aspect this study could flash on novel investigations. Further studies with larger cohorts should be conducted in evaluating the effects of tonsillectomy and its various surgical techniques on taste sensation.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, although tonsillectomy may cause taste disorders as a rare complication, the bitter sensation in the early postoperative period and the bitter and sour sensations in late postoperative period were found to be significantly increased in the present study. With regard to these results, a thorough preoperative explanation should be done.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: ZNE, BT, MC; Study Design: ZNE, BT, AA; Supervision: ZNE, BT, BUC; Funding:

ZNE, BT, AA; Materials: ZNE, NS, MC; Data Collection and/or Processing: ZNE, NS, MC; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: ZNE, BT, MC; Literature Review: ZNE, BT, MC; Manuscript Preparation: ZNE, NS, MC and Critical Review: ZNE, NS, BUC.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

REFERENCES

1. Tomita H, Ohtuka K. Taste disturbance after tonsillectomy. Acta Otolaryngol Suppl 2002;(546):164-72.

2. Heiser C, Landis BN, Giger R, Cao Van H, Guinand N, Hörmann K, et al. Taste disorders after tonsillectomy: a long-term follow-up. Laryngoscope 2012;122:1265-6.

3. Mueller C, Kallert S, Renner B, Stiassny K, Temmel AFD, Hummel T, et al. Quantitative assessment of gustatory function

in a clinical context using impregnated 'taste strips'. Rhinology 2003;41:2-6.

4. Philpott CM, Wild DC, Mehta D, Daniel M, Banerjee AR. A double-blinded randomized controlled trial of coblation versus conventional dissection tonsillectomy on post-operative symptoms. Clin Otolaryngol 2005;30:143-8.

5. Wang H, Zhou M, Brand J, Huang L. Inflammation and taste disorders: mechanisms in taste buds. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2009;1170:596-603.

6. Ohtsuka K, Tomita H, Murakami G. Anatomy of the tonsillar bed: topographical relationship between the palatine tonsil and the lingual branch of the glossopharyngeal nerve. Acta Otolaryngol Suppl 2002;(546):99-109.

7. Stathas T, Mallis A, Naxakis S, Mastronikolis NS, Gkiogkis G, Xenoudakis D, et al. Taste function evaluation after tonsillectomy: a prospective study of 60 patients. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 2010;267:1403-7.

8. Windfuhr JP, Schlondorff G, Sesterhenn AM, Kremer B. From the expert's office: localized neural lesions following tonsillectomy. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 2009;266:1621-40.

9. Sakaguchi A, Nin T, Oka H, Maeda E, Negoro A, Umemoto M, et al. [Clinical analysis of 1059 patients with taste disorders]. Nihon Jibiinkoka Gakkai Kaiho 2013;116:77-82. [Article in Japanese]

10. Gent JF, Frank ME, Hettinger TP. Taste confusions following chlorhexidine treatment. Cem Senses 2002;27:73-80.

11. Soldatova L, Doty Richard L. Post-tonsillectomy taste dysfunction: myth or reality? World J Otorhinolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2018;4:77-83.



The effect of cesarean section on the incidence of congenital nasolacrimal duct obstruction

Hafize Gökben Ulutaş¹^o, Gamze Uçan Gündüz²^o

¹Department of Ophthalmology, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yüksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Bursa, Turkey ²Department of Ophthalmology, Uludağ University School of Medicine, Bursa, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives: The aim of this study is to evaluate the effect of cesarean section (CS) on the incidence and recovery of congenital nasolacrimal duct obstruction (CNLDO).

Methods: The files of patients diagnosed with CNLDO, epiphora, and dacryocystitis under the age of 24 months were identified retrospectively. Patients were divided into 2 groups according to whether they were born via normal vaginal delivery (VD) or CS. Demographic data, gestational age, birth weight, application of lacrimal massage, and surgical treatment modalities were recorded from medical records.

Results: The study included 173 consecutive patients, 68 were females and 105 were males. Eighty-two (47.4%) patients were born via VD and 91 (52.6%) patients were born via CS. The frequency of CS delivery in children with CNLDO (47.4%) was significantly higher than the same hospital's total frequency of CS delivery (40.2%) ($\chi^2 = 11$, df = 1, p = 0.001). At presentation, the mean age of the patients born via CS was lower than patients born via VD (9.4 ± 6.8 months vs 12.07 ± 8.8 months) (p = 0.027). In 40 patients who had a family history of CNLDO, 23 patients recovered through non-surgical treatment, while 17 patients had a surgical intervention, which was found to be statistically significant (p = 0.009). The gestational age and birth weight of patients born via CS were significantly lower than patients born via VD (p < 0.001 and p = 0.01, respectively).

Conclusions: Cesarean section delivery could increase the incidence of CNLDO. **Keywords:** cesarean section; vaginal delivery; congenital nasolacrimal duct obstruction

Congenital nasolacrimal duct obstruction (CNLDO) is one of the most common eye disorder in infants with an incidence of 5.7% and 20% [1-3]. Symptoms begin in the first month after delivery in 95% of patients [2]. In addition to epiphora, bacterial infections can develop secondary to tear stasis, resulting in burrs and crusting of the eyelids [4]. The development of nasolacrimal canal ranges from 6th months of intrauterin life to weeks following birth. Hasner valve (HV) is located at the distal end of na-

solacrimal canal which opens into the inferior meatus. The most common cause of obstruction is the presence of the Hasner membrane (HM), a thin mucous membrane that persists after birth. Rarely, bony canal obstructions may also occur [5, 6]. It has been reported that in 70% of cases, the lacrimal canal opened spontaneously in the first 3 months and a total of 96% in the first year [7, 8].

The first line of treatment for CNLDO is lacrimal sac therapy massage (Crigler massage) for patients

Received: November 7, 2020; Accepted: January 4, 2021; Published Online: February 5, 2021



How to cite this article: Ulutaş HG, Uçan Gündüz G. The effect of cesarean section on the incidence of congenital nasolacrimal duct obstruction. Eur Res J 2021;7(3):291-296. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.822858

Address for correspondence: Hafize Gökben Ulutaş, MD., University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yüksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Ophthalmology, Mimar Sinan Mah., Emniyet Cad., No: 35, Yıldırım, 16310, Bursa, Turkey. E-mail: gokbenbilekulutas@gmail.com, Phone: +90 505 6058585

> [©]Copyright 2021 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj

younger than 12 moths old. The massage is performed with the purpose of increasing the hydrostatic pressure, in order to open the obstruction by rupturing the membrane at the distal end of the canal. Lacrimal canal probing and irrigation is required in patients older than 12 months old. In case of the obstruction still persists after the lacrimal canal probing, silicone intubation and dacryocystorhinostomy are required [10].

The number of studies investigating the effect of cesarean section (CS) delivery on children's general health status has raised due to the increase of cesarean delivery rates in recent years. These studies suggested that babies born via CS delivery had a higher risk in the development of diseases such as obesity, diabetes mellitus, asthma, dermatitis, allergic diseases and immune system deficiencies [11]. Uterine contractions during normal vaginal delivery (VD) may naturally increase the hydrostatic pressure on the lacrimal sac which Crigler massage aims to mimic. Therefore, symptomatic nasolacrimal duct obstruction may be fewer in babies born via vaginal delivery. Some studies suggested that frequency of CNLDO was higher in children born via CS [12-15], whereas some data indicated no association between the mode of delivery and CNLDO [16-18]. The aim of this study is to evaluate the probable effect of mode of delivery, gestational age, and birth weight on CNLDO.

METHODS

The records of children diagnosed with epiphora, CNLDO, and dacryocystitis between January 2016 and January 2020 at department of ophthalmology, were analyzed retrospectively. The study was approved by the Institutional Ethics Committee (2011-KAEK-26/269, dated 20.05.2020). All protocols adhered to the tenets of the Declaration of Helsinki. Patients that were under the age of 24 months were included to the study. Patients who had incomplete information about birth records and a history of ocular or nasolacrimal trauma, craniofacial malformation, and lacrimal system anomaly were excluded from the study.

Following the routine ophthalmologic examinations, fluorescein dye disappearance test was performed patients with epiphora. A 2% fluorescein solution was dropped into the conjunctival sac. Delayed clearance of fluorescein dye within 5 minutes indicates lacrimal drainage system obstruction. The parents of the patients younger than 12 months were educated about the appropriate massage methods. Antibiotic eyedrops were added to the treatment in patients accompanying conjunctivitis. Lacrimal probing under short anesthesia was carried out in symptomatic patients older than 12 months and lacrimal irrigation was performed in order to ensure the obstruction was cleared up. Two months after the probing, if the epiphora was still persisting, the lacrimal probing was repeated. Monocanalicular silicone intubation was performed in patients whose epiphora persisted after the second probing.

Demographic data, mode of delivery, gestational age, birth weight, application of lacrimal massage, surgical treatment type, recovery age, and family history were recorded from the patient's file records.

Statistical Analysis

The data was examined by the Shapiro Wilk test to verify whether or not it presented normal distribution. The results were presented as mean \pm standard deviation or frequency and percentage. Normally distributed data were compared with independent samples t-test. Categorical variables were compared using Pearson's chi-square test and Fisher's exact test between groups. Significance level was considered as *p* < 0.05. Statistical analyses were performed with IBM SPSS ver.23.0 (IBM Corp. Released 2015. IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 23.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.).

RESULTS

Of the 173 consecutive patients, 68 were females and 105 were males. Of these, 82 (47.4%) were born via VD and 91 (52.6%) were born via CS. Frequency of CS delivery in the same hospital between the years of 2016 and 2020 was calculated as 40.2% from the reports of obstetrics clinic. Current hospital CS rates (40.2%) were found to be significantly lower ($\chi^2 = 11$, df = 1, *p* = 0.001) than the rate of CS delivery (47.4%) in patients with CNLDO.

The mean age at presentation was significantly lower in patients born via CS than patients born via

	Total	VD	CS	<i>p</i> value
Total, n (%)	173 (100)	82 (47.4)	91 (52.6)	0.400
Age (months)		12.07 ± 8.8	9.4 ± 6.8	0.027
Gender, n (%)				0.943
Female	68 (39.3)	32 (39.0)	36 (39.6)	
Male	105 (60.7)	50 (61.0)	55 (60.4)	
Birth weight (grams)		3411.87 ± 486.9	3171.94 ± 673.51	0.01
Gestational age (weeks)		39.4 ± 1.3	38.1 ± 2	0.001
Family history, n (%)				0.729
Yes	133 (76.9)	64 (78.0)	69 (75.8)	
No	40 (23.1)	18 (22.0)	22 (24.2)	
Recovery status, n (%)	69 (39.9)	30 (43.5)	39 (56.5)	0.400
Non-surgical				
Surgical	104 (60.1)	52 (50)	52 (50)	
Recovery age (months)		15.3 ± 9	14.5 ± 7.4	0.506

Table 1. Patient characteristics and clinical progression

Data are shown as mean±standard deviation or n (%). VD = vaginal delivery, CS = cesarean delivery

VD (p = 0.027). The gestational age and birth weight of patients born via CS were significantly lower than patients born via VD (p < 0.001, p = 0.01, respectively) (Table 1).

Patients were divided into 2 groups in regard of their recovery status, 69 (39.9%) who recovered with non-surgical treatment (group 1) and 104 (69.1%) who underwent surgical intervention (group 2). In group 1, 30 patients (43.5%) were born via VD and 39 patients (56.5%) were born via CS. In group 2, 52 patients (50%) were born via VD and 52 patients (50%) were born via CS. There was no statistical difference between the mode of delivery and the recovery status (p = 0.40) (Table 2).

The parents of the patients were questioned about the adherence of the lacrimal sac massage. The answers were indicated that 54 patients (31.2%) did not receive any massage, 34 patients (19.7%) received infrequent massage and 83 patients (48%) received regular massage. Forty patients had a family history of CNLDO. In these patients, while 7 of them (17.5%) did not receive any massage, 7 patients (17.5%) received infrequent massage and 26 patients (65%) received regular massage, which was found to be statistically significant (p = 0.042). Twenty three of 40 patients recovered though non-surgical treatment while 17 had a surgical intervention, which was found to be statistically significant (p = 0.009).

Treatment	VD	CS	<i>p</i> value
	n (%)	n (%)	
Non-surgical	30 (43.5)	39 (56.5)	0.400
Surgical	52 (50)	52 (50)	0.553
First lacrimal probing	41 (50)	41 (50)	
Second lacrimal probing	5 (38.5)	8 (61.5)	
Silicone intubation	4 (57.1)	3 (42.9)	
Failed	2 (100)	0 (0)	

Table 2.	Association	between	mode of	delivery	and	outcomes	of surg	gical	treatment
								-	

VD = vaginal delivery, CS = cesarean delivery, n = number

When patients were divided into two groups based on gestational age (over and under 37 months), in both groups, there was no relationship found between the mode of delivery and recovery status (p > 0.05).

DISCUSSION

In recent years, there has been a notable increase in CS delivery in all over the world. From 1960s to nowadays, CS delivery rates have raised from 5% to 50% [19]. In Turkey, it has been reported that CS delivery rates have increased up to 40-50% [20]. Respiratory complications are more frequent in babies born via personal preference cesarean. During the labor, intrauterine pressure raised up to 200 cmH20 compared to CS delivery in which the intrauterine pressure remains at 75 cmH20. Due to the pressure not increasing during CS, fetal lung fluid retention and respiratory system diseases are more common in children born via CS [21, 22]. Lacrimal massage is the most effective method in treatment of CNLDO, and the rationale of this technique is depend on increasing the hydrostatic pressure in lacrimal sac. Through a similar mechanism, lacrimal irrigation can also open the HM. Since exposure to the intrauterine pressure is lower in babies born via CS compared to VD, the incidence of CNLDO may be higher in these children.

In this study, there was no difference between CS and VD rates in patients with CNLDO however, rates of CS delivery of CNLDO patients in our hospital was significantly higher than the rates of CS delivery in the study region overall. The mean presentation age of patients born via CS was significantly lower than patients born via VD. The delivery mode did not have an impact on the recovery status and response to surgical intervention.

Spaniol *et al.* [12] found no significant difference between the overall CS rate and incidence of CNLDO. Patients born via CS delivery were further divided to primary CS (elective and before the onset of labor) and secondary CS (after the active phase of the labor). The authors reported that the relative risk of CNLDO was 1.7-fold higher in patients born via primary CS compared to the patients born via vaginal delivery and via secondary CS [12]. Due to the lack of normal birth mechanisms in primary CS, they suggested that the risk of CNLDO was higher. In our study, primary and secondary CS was not distinguished in patients born with CS. Despite this, CS delivery rate in patients with CNLDO (47.4%) was found higher than CS delivery rate in general population of the study region (40.2%). Some studies reported that the pressure created during normal delivery on the nose leads to nasal septal deviation. It is also believed that this compression due to the pressure also affects the nasolacrimal canal and HV [23, 24].

Fetus passing through the pelvic canal and increase in the intrauterine pressure cause certain mechanical changes in the soft tissue and facial structures as well as affecting the hydrostatic pressure in the lacrimal drainage system and could facilitate the opening the HM. Due to the fetus being exposed to the intrauterine pressures of normal vaginal delivery and, swallowing and aspirating the collagenolytic enzymes in the amniotic fluid into the nasal cavity, the opening of HM is facilitated. In the study conducted by Tavakoli et al. [13], CS delivery rate (60.6%) of 104 CNLDO patients was significantly higher than the CS delivery rate (47.9%) of the general population in their study region (p = 0.0097). Patients born via CS presented to their institution at an earlier age than patients born via VD, which was also the case in our study. Patients born via VD had a tendency to improve with conservative treatment (p = 0.001). In this study, the higher age at presentation of those born with VD might indicate that they recovered earlier with conservative treatment however, there was no statistical difference between CS and VD group in terms of tendency to improve with conservative treatment.

Karti *et al.* [25] found that almost half (45.5%) of the CNLDO patients who improved with conservative treatment were 6 months of age or younger, and 78.8% were 9 months or younger. Due to the mean age of the patients presenting at our hospital was 10.7 ± 8 months, they passed the stage of high likelihood of improvement with conservative treatment. We believe that this is the reason of the lower than expected number of patients recovered with conservative treatments in our study.

In a recent study, first lacrimal probing procedure was failed in 29 of 50 patients. Twenty five of 29 patients who received additional treatment, were born via CS through an unclear mechanism, they believed that patients born with CS were more complex CNLDO cases and required more additional therapies [13]. The absence of swallowing and aspirating the collagenolytic enzymes may result in a more resistant HM requiring additional intervention.

In our study there was no statistically significant difference between surgical success and mode of delivery. Our surgical success rate after the first probing was 78.8% which is consistent with the literature (72-97%) [26-28]. Similar to our study, Kuhli Hattelbach et al. [15] showed that cesarean delivery increased the prevalence of CNLDO however they did not find a relationship between the mode of delivery and surgical success. Palo et al. [16] found no relationship between mode of delivery and CNLDO in their study conducted with to 200 patients (97 VD, 103 CS) who underwent surgical intervention. However, they found a significant relationship between the complex type CNLDO (n = 28) and cesarean delivery (p = 0.016). Alakus et al. [17] suggested no relationship between CNLDO and CS delivery. However, in patients born via first delivery, the CS delivery rate in patients with CNLDO (58.7%) was significantly higher than those without CNLDO (20.7%) (p < 0.001) [17]. They stated that permanent pelvic floor damage develops in the first vaginal delivery, which causes less labor pressure and fetus compression in the following vaginal deliveries.

In our study, the frequency of regular lacrimal massage was higher in patients who had a family history of CNLDO. Therefore, in this group of patients, the number of patients requiring surgery was less than the patients recovering spontaneously. We deduced that this outcome was due to the prior experience of the parents about the disease and lacrimal sac massage.

Limitations

The limitations of the study include retrospective data collection, small number of patients and surgical interventions were performed by different surgeons. Also, patients who recovered with conservative treatment in earlier months of life could not be included to the study.

CONCLUSION

CS delivery may increase the incidence of CNLDO. Prospective studies with larger patient series

are required for assessing the association between CNLDO and mode of delivery.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: HGU, GUG; Study Design: HGU; Supervision: HGU, GUG; Funding: HGU; Materials: HGU; Data Collection and/or Processing: HGU, GUG; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: HGU; Literature Review: HGU; Manuscript Preparation: HGU and Critical Review: GUG.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

REFERENCES

1. Kendig EL Jr, Guerry D 3rd. The incidence of congenital impotency of the nasolacrimal duct. J Pediatr 1950;36:212.

2. MacEwen CJ, Young JD. Epiphora during the first year of life. Eye (Lond) 1991;5:596-600.

3. Sevel D. Development and congenital abnormalities of the nasolacrimal apparatus. J Pediatr Ophthalmol Strabismus 1981;18:13-9.

4. Olitsky, S.E. Update on congenital nasolacrimal duct obstruction. Int Ophthalmol Clin 2014;4:1-7.

5. Moscato, EE, Kelly JP, Weiss A. Developmental anatomy of the nasolacrimal duct: Implications for congenital obstruction. Ophthalmology 2010;117:2430-4.

6. Weiss, AH, Bran, F, Kelly J. Congenital nasolacrimal duct obstruction: Delineation of anatomic abnormalities with 3-dimensional reconstruction. Arch Ophthalmol 2012;130:842-8.

7. Ghuman T, Gonzales C, Mazow ML. Treatment of congenital nasolacrimal duct obstruction. Am Orthoptic J 1999;49:163-8.

8. Nelson LB, Calhoun JH, Menduke H. Medical management of congenital nasolacrimal duct obstruction. Ophthalmology 1985;92:1187-90.

9. Pediatric Eye Disease Investigator Group. Resolution of congenital nasolacrimal duct obstruction with nonsurgical management. Arch Ophthalmol 2012;130:730-4.

10. Yazici B, Akarsu C, Salkaya M. Silicone intubation with the Ritleng method in children with congenital nasolacrimal duct obstruction. J AAPOS 2006;10:328-32.

11. Kulas T, Bursac D, Zegarac Z, Rados GP, Hrgovic Z. New views on cesarean section: its possible complications and long-term consequences for children's health. Med Arch 2013;67:460-3.

12. Spaniol K, Stupp T, Melcher C, Beheiri N, Eter N, Prokosch

V. Association between congenital nasolacrimal duct obstruction and delivery by cesarean section. Am J Perinatol 2015;32:271-6. 13. Tavakoli M, Osigian CJ, Saksiriwutto P, Reyes-Capo DP, Choi CJ, Vanner EA, et al. Association between congenital nasolacrimal duct obstruction and mode of delivery at birth. J AAPOS 2018;22:381-5.

14. Dolar Bilge A. Mode of delivery, birth weight and the incidence of congenital nasolacrimal duct obstruction. Int J Ophthalmol 2019;12: 1134-8.

15. Kuhli-Hattenbach C, Lüchtenberg M, Hofmann C, Kohnen T. Increased prevalence of congenital dacryostenosis following cesarean section. Ophthalmologe 2016;113:675-83.

16. Palo M, Gupta S, Naik MN, Ali MJ. Congenital nasolacrimal duct obstruction and its association with the mode of birth. J Pediatr Ophthalmol Strabismus 2018;55:266-8.

17. Alakuş MF, Dağ U, Balsak S, Erdem S, Oncul E, Akgol S, et al. Is there an association between congenital nasolacrimal duct obstruction and cesarean delivery? Eur J Ophthalmol 2020;30:122831.

18. Yildiz A. Congenital nasolacrimal duct obstruction: caesarean section vs. vaginal delivery. Med Glas 2018;15:164-7.

19. Boyle A, Reddy UM. Epidemiology of cesarean delivery: the scope of the problem. Semin Perinatol 2012;36:308-14.

20. Aksoy H, Özyurt S, Aksoy Ü, Acmaz G, Karadağ OI, Babayigit A. [Overview to cesarean birth in Turkey in accordance with cesarean rate and indications in our hospital]. Med J Kocaeli

2014;3:1-7. [Article in Turkish]

21. Richardson BS, Czikk MJ, Silva O, Natale R. The impact of labor at term on measures of neonatal outcome. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2005;192:219-26.

22. Jain L. Alveolar fluid clearance in developing lungs and its role in neonatal transition. Clin Perinatol 1999;26:585-99.

23. Pu F, Xu L, Li D, Li S, Sun L, Lang W, et al. Effect of different labor forces on fetal skull molding. Med Eng Phys 2011;33:620-5.

24. Gray LP. Septal and associated cranial birth deformities, types and incidence and treatment. Med J Aust 1974;1:557-63.

25. Karti O, Karahan E, Acan D, Kusbeci T. The natural process of congenital nasolacrimal duct obstruction and effect of lacrimal sac massage. Int Ophthalmol 2016;36:845-9.

26. Erdem E, Tok Ö, Kocaoğlu FA, Kocaoglu FA, Nurozler AB, Örnek F. [The timing of probing for congenital nasolacrimal duct obstruction]. Turk J Ophthalmol 2008;38:180-4. [Article in Turkish]

27. Esen E, Özcan AA, Erdem E, Ciloğlu E, Şimdivar HG. [The effectiveness of probing for the treatment of congenital nasolacrimal duct obstruction]. Turk J Ophthalmol 2012;42:342-5. [Article in Turkish]

28. Katowitz JA, Welsh MG. Timing of initial probing and irrigation in congenital nasolacrimal duct obstruction. Ophthalmology 1987;94:698-705.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.710303

General Surgery

Comparison of the outcomes of 'component separation with mesh', 'component separation without mesh' and 'primary prosthetic repair' methods in complex abdominal wall reconstruction

Ufuk Arslan[®], Umut Eren Erdoğdu[®]

Department of General Surgery, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yüksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Bursa, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives: The aim of this study is to compare the results of different surgical methods used in giant midline incision hernias.

Methods: The records of 90 patients operated on for a midline abdominal incisional hernia were reviewed retrospectively. The patients were divided into three groups based on the surgical method used primary prosthetic repair (PPR), component separation with mesh (CSM) and component separation without mesh (CS). Two-year follow-up results were compared.

Results: A statistically significant difference was noted between the groups in the transverse diameter measurement of the defect (p = 0.003). Subgroup analyses revealed that the median transverse diameter was higher in the CSM group than in the CS group (p = 0.003). There was also a statistically significant difference in the duration of surgery (p < 0.001), with a subgroup analysis revealing that the duration of surgery was longer in the CSM group than in the PPR and CS groups (PPR-CSM; p = 0.008, CSM-CS; p < 0.001). Recurrent incisional hernia, smoking and postoperative morbidity development were found to be statistically and significantly associated with recurrence (p = 0.005, p = 0.002, p < 0.001; respectively).

Conclusions: The use of the CSM method for the repair of giant incisional hernias may reduce recurrence. **Keywords:** Component separation, incisional hernia, mesh, recurrence

Patients undergoing abdominal surgery are likely to develop incisional hernias at a rate of 9-20% [1]. The primary treatment approach to incisional hernias is surgery, with an increased likelihood of morbidity and mortality due to hernia complications in untreated patients [2, 3]. The reconstruction approach in the presence of giant midline abdominal wall incisional hernias is challenging in terms of the selection and implementation of the optimum method, and the high morbidity and relatively high recurrence rates in the postoperative period [4].

One of the most common surgical approaches to incisional hernias is reconstruction with prosthetic materials [5]. The component separation technique was first described as "tension relieving" in epigastric hernias, and is today used to repair incisional hernias [6, 7]. The component separation technique has been reported to result in a lower tension at the repair site,

Received: March 27, 2020; Accepted: May 6, 2020; Published Online: January 31, 2021



How to cite this article: Arslan U, Erdoğdu UE. Comparison of the outcomes of 'component separation with mesh', 'component separation without mesh' and 'primary prosthetic repair' methods in complex abdominal wall reconstruction. Eur Res J 2021;7(3):297-303. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.710303 Address for correspondence: Ufuk Arslan, MD., University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yüksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of

 Address for correspondence: Ofuk Arstan, MD., University of Health Sciences, Bursa Tuksek Initias Training and Research Hospital, Department of clssk: 2149-3189
 General Surgery, Mimar Sinan mah., Emniyet Caddesi, Yıldırım, 16310, Bursa, Turkey. E-mail: drufuk33@hotmail.com, Mobile phone: +90 530 1321658

> ©Copyright 2021 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj

and lower postoperative morbidity and recurrence rates [8-10].

The present study aimed to compare the outcomes of the primary prosthetic repair (PPR), component separation with mesh (CSM) and component separation without mesh (CS) techniques in giant midline incisional hernias.

METHODS

In the present study, the data of 90 patients who were operated on for a midline abdominal incisional hernia, and who completed two years of follow up between January 2016 and 2018, were reviewed retrospectively. The patients were divided into three groups based on the surgical method used (PPR, CSM and CS), with each group including 30 patients. Prior to surgery, detailed information of the surgical method was provided to the patients, and their written informed consent was obtained. The study was conducted in accordance with the principles of the World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki.

The study included patients over the age of 18 that completed two years of follow up. Patients operated on using different methods, those with a hernia with a transverse diameter < 6 cm, those undergoing emergency surgery and those with a stoma were excluded from the study.

Demographic information, Body Mass Index (BMI), American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) scores, transverse diameter of hernia defect, status of being primary or recurrent hernia, duration of surgery, morbidity, length of stay in hospital and recurrence rates after two-year follow up of all patients were recorded and compared. Patients that had undergone previous incisional hernia surgery were assessed as "recurrent incisional hernia".

Operative Technique

Primary Prosthetic Repair (PPR) Technique

After intraabdominal adhesions were removed and the intact fascia rims were exposed, the abdomen was closed using absorbable continuous sutures. The skin and subcutaneous tissue were mobilized laterally through the anterior rectus sheath to create space for the mesh placement. A non-absorbable polypropylene synthetic mesh (Prolene mesh, Ethicon) was then placed into this space.

Component Separation with Mesh [CSM] or without Mesh [CS] Technique

After intraabdominal adhesions were removed and intact fascia rims were exposed, the skin and subcutaneous adipose tissue were dissected bilaterally around 3-4 cm lateral to the linea semilunaris. The aponeurosis of the external oblique muscle was exposed around 1-2 cm laterally from the end of the rectus sheath (Fig.



Fig. 1. Unilateral component separation.



Fig. 2. Final component separation.

1). The myoaponeurosis of the external oblique muscle was transected longitudinally as far as the costa at the superior and the inguinal ligament at the inferior. The avascular area between the external oblique muscle and the internal oblique muscle was dissected. In this technique, the abdominal wall was unilaterally advanced to the midline by about 3-5 cm at the upper edge of the rectus muscle, 7-10 cm at the waistline and 1-3 cm at lower abdomen (Fig. 2). In the CSM group, a prolene mesh was placed on this area after closing the abdomen, while in the CS group, no mesh was used.

Perioperative Care

All surgeries were performed under general anesthesia. A urinary catheter was inserted into each patient and removed at the postoperative 2nd hour. Anti-embolism stockings were applied to every patient, and enoxaparin (Clexane, Sanofi Aventis) was administered to those with a BMI > 30 for embolism prophylaxis. All patients received prophylactic antibiotherapy prior to surgery. Wounds were monitored daily for hematoma, seroma and skin necrosis. Patients with

Table 1. Patient's demographic data

wound site infections were administered antibiotic treatment based on culture results. Two aspirative drains were placed subcutaneously into the patients from all groups as routine. When the drainage amount decreased below 50 cc, the drains were removed. Patients were called for controls at 3, 6, 12 and 24 months, and checked with a physical examination. Cases suspected of recurrence during the physical examination were examined further with ultrasonography or computerized tomography.

Statistical Analysis

A Shapiro-Wilk test was used to assess whether the variables followed a normal distribution. Variables were reported as mean±standard deviation or median (minimum: maximum). Based on the results of the normality test, ANOVA or Kruskal Wallis tests were used for the comparison of the groups. A Dunn test was also performed after the Kruskal Wallis test for a pairwise comparison. Categorical variables were compared with Chi-square, Fisher's exact or Fisher-Freeman-Halton tests. To determine the independent risk factors affecting recurrence development, a binary lo-

	PPR	CSM	CS	<i>p</i> -value	Pairwis	se Comp	arisons
	(n = 30)	(n = 30)	(n = 30)				
					p ₁₋₂	<i>p</i> ₁₋₃	p ₂₋₃
Age (year)	55.73 ± 12.06	57 ± 11.58	54.80 ± 12.20	0.775 ^a	-	-	-
Gender (F/M)	17/13	16/14	17/13	0.956 ^b	-	-	-
Weight (kg)	74.83 ± 8.22	75.63 ± 10.47	74.93 ± 12.73	0.951 ^a	-	-	-
BMI	26.47 ± 2.46	26.34 ± 2.62	26.88 ± 2.82	0.712 ^a	-	-	-
Defect (cm)	10	11.50	8	0.003 ^c	0.942 ^e	0.063 ^e	0.003 ^e
(transverse diameter)	(7:17)	(7:24)	(7:23)				
ASA, n (%)							
Ι	7 (23.30)	9 (30)	12 (40)	0.355 ^d	-	-	-
II	12 (40)	11 (36.70)	14 (46.70)				
III	10 (33.30)	9 (30)	3 (10)				
IV	1 (3.30)	1 (3.30)	1 (3.30)				
Smoking, n (%)	6 (20)	5 (16.70)	7 (23.30)	0.812 ^b	-	-	-
Recurrence/Primary, n (%)							
Recurrence	4 (13.30)	5 (16.70)	8 (26.70)	0.390 ^b	-	-	-
Primary	26 (86.70)	25 (83.30)	22 (73.30)				

Data are shown as mean ± standard deviation or n (%) or median (minimum: maximum). PPR = Prosthetic repair, CSM = Component separation technique with mesh, CS = Component separation technique without mesh ^aANOVA test, ^bChi-square test, ^cKruskal Wallis Test, ^dFisher-Freeman-Halton Test, ^eDunn Test gistic regression analysis was performed. SPSS (IBM Corp. Released 2012. IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 21.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.) software was used for the statistical analyses. A p - value of ≤ 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Demographic data of the patients from all groups were evaluated (Table 1). There was no difference in age, gender, weight and BMI between the groups. There was a statistically significant difference in transverse diameter of the defect between the groups (p =0.003). Subgroup analyses revealed that the median transverse diameter was higher in CSM group compared to CS group (p = 0.003). No statistically significant difference was found in ASA score, smoking status and primary or recurrent nature of hernia between the groups (p > 0.005).

For the patients in all groups, the duration of surgery, postoperative morbidity, need for reoperation after morbidity, and recurrence rates on the day of hospitalization and during the two-year follow-up period were evaluated (Table 2). Other than wound site complications, no morbidities were detected in the patients. A statistical difference was noted in the duration of surgery (p < 0.001), with a subgroup analysis revealing that the duration of surgery was longer in the CSM group than in the PPR and CS groups (PPR-CSM; p = 0.008, CSM-CS; p < 0.001). There was no statistical difference in morbidity, length of hospital stay or recurrence in the two-year follow up between the groups. Yet, the recurrence rate was 20% in the CS group and 10% in CSM group (Fig. 3).

A logistic regression analysis was used to examine

	PPR	CSM	CS	<i>n</i> -value	Pairw	rise Comr	arisons
	(n = 30)	(n = 30)	(n = 30)	P			
					p 1-2	p ₁₋₃	p 2-3
Duration of surgery	122.50	140	120	< 0.001°	0.008 ^e	0.431 ^e	< 0.001 ^e
	(100:195)	(105:200)	(85:150)				
Morbidity							
Yes	6 (20)	7 (23.70)	6 (20)	0.935 ^b	-	-	-
No	24 (80)	23 (76.70)	24 (80)				
Morbidity							
Hematoma	1 (3.30)	0	0	< 0.99 ^d	-	-	-
Seroma	5 (16.70)	6 (20)	6 (20)				
Skin Necrosis	0	1 (3.30)	0				
No	24 (80)	23 (76.70)	24 (80)				
Reoperation for wound complication							
Yes	-	2 (7.10)	0	-	-	-	0.229^{f}
No	-	26 (92.90)	30 (100)				
Day of	5	5	4	0.078°	-	-	-
hospitalization	(3:13)	(3:18)	(3:12)				
Recurrence							
Yes	4 (13.30)	3 (10)	6 (20)	0.654 ^d	-	-	-
No	26 (86.70)	27 (90)	24 (80)				

Table 2. Follow up data

Data are shown as mean \pm standard deviation or n (%) or median (minimum: maximum). Group 1 = Prosthetic repair, Group 2 = Component separation technique with mesh, Group 3 = Component separation technique without mesh ^bChi-square test, ^cKruskal Wallis Test, ^dFisher-Freeman-Halton Test, ^eDunn Test, ^fFisher's Exact Test

Factor	Wald	<i>p</i> -value	OR	95% CI for OR	
				Lower	Upper
Recurrent/Primary					
Primary (ref. cat.)	-	-	1	-	-
Recurrent	7.97	0.005	29.91	2.83	316.25
Smoking					
No (ref.cat)	-	-	1	-	-
Yes	9.48	0.002	39.73	3.81	413.94
Morbidity					
No (ref.cat)	-	-	1	-	-
Yes	13.10	< 0.001	147.58	9.88	220.54
	Mode	$1 \chi^2 = 98.01; p < 0$).001		
]	Pseudo $R^2 = 89\%$			
		N = 90			

Table 3. Risk factors affecting recurrence

OR = Odds ratio, Ref.cat = Reference category, CI = Confidence Interval

such potential risk factors as duration of surgery, BMI, transverse diameter of the hernia, wound complications, smoking status, ASA scoring, primary or recurrent nature of the hernia, age, gender and length of hospital stay, which were likely to affect recurrence development (Table 3). Recurrent incisional hernia, smoking and postoperative morbidity development were found to be statistically associated with recurrence (p = 0.005, p = 0.002, p < 0.001;respectively).

DISCUSSION

The use of tension-free techniques with prosthetic materials for incisional hernia repairs has decreased recurrence rates from 50% to 24% [11]. The risk factors for recurrence following incisional hernia reconstruction have been identified as hernia diameter (> 10 cm), BMI (> 30 kg/m2), history of previous repair, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and diabetes,



Fig. 3. Recurrence rates between groups during follow-up.

smoking and postoperative wound site complications (surgical site infection, hematoma and seroma) [12, 13] The present study also found that a history of previous repair, smoking and surgical site infection were statistically associated with recurrence development. The use of mesh is recommended as standard in incisional hernia reconstructions [14]. Repairs with mesh have been reported to significantly reduce recurrence rates in CS, as in the standard open ventral hernia repair technique [15, 16]. The goal of tension-free and anatomic repair is to create a neo-linea alba by approximating the rectus muscles again to the midline [17], which enables a tension-free closure of the fascia and its reinforcement with mesh, minimizing the risk of recurrence [18, 19]. In the present study, the recurrence rate during the postoperative two-year followup was 13.3% in PPR, 20% in CS and 10% in CSM, meaning no statistical difference in recurrence development between the surgical methods. That said, the recurrence rate was lower in patients with mesh, and lowest in the CSM group. We believe that the failure to identify a statistical difference was due to the low volume of patients, and that a statistical difference may be established in future studies with a larger patient groups.

Wound site complications (hematoma, seroma, skin necrosis and surgical site infection) following the repair of giant incisional hernias may occur in 12-67 % and 12-27 % of patients treated with CS and PPR, respectively [20, 21]. It is believed that wound complications increase with wide dissections, prolonged durations of surgery and ligation of the epigastric perforating arteries at the dissection site [20]. After ligating the epigastric perforating arteries, the supply of skin can only be provided through intercostal arteries and the branches of the pudental artery, leading to wound site perfusion and supply disorders. Although attention was paid to preserving the perforating arteries in the present study, the wound site complication rates were 20%, 23.7% and 20% in the PPR, CSM and CS groups, respectively. A direct association has been identified between wound complications and recurrence risk [12, 13]. The present study also identified a more frequent development of recurrence in patients with wound complications. We believe that termination of smoking, especially in the preoperative period, and taking care to preserve the perforating arteries in patients with recurrent incisional hernia may be helpful.

This study is the first in literature to compare three surgical methods (CS with mesh and without mesh, and primary prosthetic repair) in incisional hernias. Our study is limited by the relatively low number of cases included in the groups and the single-center retrospective design.

In addition, a statistically significant difference was found in the transverse diameter of the hernia defect between the groups (groups 2 and 3, p = 0.003). Accordingly, the CSM procedure was applied to hernias with larger diameters, which may be attributed to the non-randomized design of the study. Prospective randomized controlled studies with a larger number of patients are needed for the acquisition of better data.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, in giant midline incisional hernias, the CS technique is an effective and safe method involving careful dissection and the preservation of perforating vascular structures as far as possible. Nevertheless, we believe that such procedures should be reinforced with a mesh in order to minimize the recurrence rates as the defect size increases. We also believe that there is a need for randomized studies involving larger numbers of patients and evaluating short-term and long-term outcomes in order to determine the place of CS in incisional hernia reconstructions.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: UA, UEE; Study Design: UA, UEE; Supervision: UA, UEE; Funding: UA, UEE; Materials: UA, UEE; Data Collection and/or Processing: UA, UEE; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: UA, UEE; Literature Review: UEE; Manuscript Preparation: UA and Critical Review: UA, UEE.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during the conduction or writing of this study.

REFERENCES

1. Hoer J, Lawong G, Klinge U, Schumpelick V. Factors influencing the development of incisional hernia. A retrospective study of 2,983 laparotomy patients over a period of 10 years. Chirurg 2002;73:474-80.

2. Greenawalt KE, Butler TJ, Rowe EA, Finneral AC, Garlick DS, Burns JW. Evaluation of sepramesh biosurgical composite in a rabbit hernia repair model. J Surg Res 2000;94:.92-8.

3. Felemovicius I, Bonsack ME, Hagerman G, Delaney JP. Prevention of adhesions to polypropylene mesh. J Am Coll Surg 2004;198:543-8.

4. de Vries Reilingh TS, van Goor H, Charbon JA, Rosman C, Hesselink EJ, van der Wilt GJ, et al. Repair of giant midline abdominal wall hernias:"components separation technique" versus prosthetic repair. World J Surg 2007;31;756-63.

5. Luijendijk RW, Hop WJC, van den Tol MP, de Lange DC, Braaksma MM, Jzermans JN, et al. A comparison of suture repair with mesh repair for incisional hernia. N Eng J Med 2000;343:392-98.

6. Young D. Repair of epigastric incisional hernia. Br J Surg 1961;48:514-6.

7. Ramirez OM, Ruas E, Dellon AL. "Components separation" method for closure of abdominal-wall defects: an anatomic and clinical study. Plast Reconstr Surg 1990;86:519-26.

8. Lowe JB, Garza JR, Bowman JL, Rohrich RJ, Strodel WE. Endoscopically assisted "components separation" for closure of abdominal wall defects. Plast Reconstr Surg 2000;105:720-30.

9. Maas SM, de Vries RS, van Goor H, de Jong D, Bleichrodt RP. Endoscopically assisted "components separation technique" for the repair of complicated ventral hernias. J Am Coll Surg 2002;194:388-90.

10. Rosen MJ, Jin J, McGee MF, Williams C, Marks J, Ponsky JL. Laparoscopic component separation in the single-stage treatment of infected abdominal wall prosthetic removal. Hernia 2007;11:435-40.

11. Van't Riet M, de Vos van Steenwijk PJ, Bonthuis F, Marquet RL, Steyerberg EW, Jeekel J, et al. Prevention of adhesion to prostetic mesh: comparison of barriers using an incisional hernia model. Ann Surg 2003;237:123-8.

12. Bittner R, Bingener-Casey J, Dietz U, Fabian M, Ferzli G, Fortelny R, et al. Guidelines for laparoscopic treatment of ventral and incisional abdominal wall hernias (International Endohernia Society [IEHS]) - Part III. Surg Endosc 2014;28:380-404.

13. Bittner R, Bingener-Casey J, Dietz U, Fabian M, Ferzli G, Fortelny R, et al. Guidelines for laparoscopic treatment of ventral and incisional abdominal wall hernias (International Endohernia Society [IEHS]) - Part II. Surg Endosc 2014;28:353-79.

14. Yoo A, Corso K, Chung G, Sheng R, Schmitz ND. The impact of surgical approach on late recurrence in incisional hernia repair. JSLS 2018;22:e2018.00053.

15. Joels CS, Vanderveer AS, Newcomb WL, Lincourt AE, Polhill JL, Jacobs DF, et al. Abdominal wall reconstruction after temporary abdominal closure: a ten-year review. Surg Innov 2006;13:223-30.

16. Ko JH, Salvay DM, Paul BC, Wang EC, Dumanian GA. Soft polypropylene mesh, but not cadaveric dermis, significantly improves outcomes in midline hernia repairs using the components separation technique. Plast Reconstr Surg 2009;124:836-47.

17. Buchwald H. Three helpful techniques for facilitating abdominal procedures, in particular for surgery in the obese. Am J Surg 1998;175: 63-4.

18. Petersen S, Henke G, Zimmermann L, Aumann G, Hellmich G, Ludwig K, et al. Ventral rectus fascia closure on top of mesh hernia repair in the sublay technique. Plast Reconstr Surg 2004;114:1754-60.

19. Kulhánek J, Mestak O. [Reconstruction of complex abdominal wall defects using the component separation technique]. Rozhl Chir 2013;92:640-3. [Article in Czech]

20. Ennis LS, Young JS, Gampper TJ, Drake DB. The "openbook" variation of component separation for repair of massive midline abdominal wall hernia. Am Surg 2003;69:733-42.

21. Maloney SR, Schlosser KA, Prasad T, Colavita PD, Kercher KW, Augenstein VA, et al. The impact of component separation technique versus no component separation technique on complications and quality of life in the repair of large ventral hernias. Surg Endosc 2020;34:981-7.

This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.732625

Posttransplant de novo donor specific HLA antibody monitoring and clinical outcomes: a single-center experience

Nurettin Ay¹, Vahhac Alp¹, Şeymus Kaya²

¹Department of General Surgery, Organ Transplant Center, University of Health Sciences, Gazi Yaşargil Training and Research Hospital, Diyarbakır, Turkey ²Department of Pathology, University of Health Sciences, Gazi Yaşargil Training and Research Hospital, Diyarbakır, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives: Despite the improvements in early-term outcomes of kidney transplantation, late-term graft failure still remained as a critical problem. De novo donor specific antibodies (DSA) developing against direct human leukocyte antigens (HLA) are the significant risk factors for shortened graft survival in the previously non-sensitized cases. The purpose of this study is to evaluate the clinical outcomes of de novo DSA development in the kidney transplant cases.

Methods: The present study included 121 (alive/cadaver: 106/15) of 148 (alive/cadaver: 125/23) cases who were not previously sensitized (PRA and DSA negative) and undergone kidney transplantation between August 2012-January 2018. DSAs of the cases without expected declines in creatinine levels in the polyclinic follow-ups and postoperative early-term were evaluated. Renal biopsy was performed in the cases encountered with > 2000 mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) de novo DSA against HLA-A, HLA-B, HLA-DR. Treatment protocol of plasmapheresis+intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG)+rituximab (in the cases without clinical response) was administered in the cases with antibody-mediated rejection (AMR) detected by renal biopsy. In addition, the presence of de novo non-DSA was also evaluated in the cases. The presence of de novo was encountered by identifying the specificities of anti-HLA antibody specificities using Luminex single antigen beads in the recipient serum.

Results: De novo DSA (antibodies against HLA-A, HLA-B, HLA-DR and HLA-DQ) were monitored in 23 cases. DQ positivity was detected in 10 cases. MFI values were > 4000 and 2000-4000 in 8 and 2 cases, respectively. De novo non-DSA was found in 19 cases. Biopsy was performed in 8 cases due to the development of MFI > 2000 de novo DSA against HLA-A, HLA-B and HLA-DR and the findings of acute humoral rejection (AHR) were encountered in 2 cases. Additionally, acute humoral rejection was diagnosed in 1 case that developed de novo non-DSA. Two cases were diagnosed with AHR by biopsy although no de novo DSA or non-DSA developed and renal graft loss occurred in these two cases.

Conclusions: The fact that routine DSA monitoring in all the cases provided no significant contribution to the outcomes of our study may contribute to the debates on the necessity of DSA monitoring in the patients with low immunological risk.

Keywords: De novo DSA, kidney, transplantation, monitoring

Received: May 5, 2020; Accepted: December 18, 2020; Published Online: January 6, 2021



How to cite this article: Ay N, Alp V, Kaya Ş. Posttransplant de novo donor specific HLA antibody monitoring and clinical outcomes: a single-center experience. Eur Res J 2021;7(3):304-311. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.732625

Address for correspondence: Nurettin Ay, MD., University of Health Sciences, Gazi Yaşargil Training and Research Hospital, Department of General Surgery, Organ Transplant Center, Diyarbakır, Turkey. E-mail: nurettinay77@hotmail.com, Tel: +90 412 2580074/2348

©Copyright 2021 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj

espite the improvements in early-term outcomes of kidney transplantation, late-term graft failure still remained as a critical problem [1]. Current studies demonstrated that antibody-mediated humoral tissue injury is responsible for more 60% of the late graft losses [2-4]. De novo donor specific antibodies (DSA) developing against direct human leukocyte antigens (HLA) are the significant risk factors for shortened graft survival in the previously non-sensitized cases. The presence of DSA may be associated with antibody-mediated rejection (AMR) and cause shortened graft survival [5-7]. That fact orientated the researchers to investigate the HLA antibodies [8, 9]. The purpose of the present study is to evaluate the clinical outcomes of de novo DSA development in the cases who underwent kidney transplantation.

METHODS

The present study included 121 (living/deceased: 106/15) of 148 (living/deceased: 125/23) caseswhowere not previouslysensitized (PRA and DSA negative) and undergone kidney transplantation between August 2012-January 2018. Ethics committee approval dated 17.01.2017 No:91 of the study was obtained from the Ethics Committee of University of Health Sciences Gazi Yaşargil Training and Research Hospital. All transplantations were performed after achieving negative T-cell crossmatch by flow cytometry and complement dependent cytotoxicity (CDC) methods. The cases without expected decline in the creatinine levels in the postoperative early term and those who received routine DSA assessment once at every 3 months for the first year and then once yearly were included in the study. The cases in whom this protocol could not be implemented were excluded from the study. Renal biopsy was performed in the cases encountered with > 2000 mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) de novo DSA against HLA-A, HLA-B and HLA-DR. Renal biopsies were evaluated according to the present Banff criteria at the time of biopsy. Treatment protocol of plasmapheresis+intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG)+rituximab (in the cases without clinical response) was administered in the cases with humoral rejection detected by renal biopsy. In addition, the presence of de novo non-DSA was also evaluated in the cases. The presence of de novo

DSAwas encountered by identifying the specificities of anti-HLA antibody specificities using Luminex single antigen beads in the recipient serum. The demographic and clinical characteristics of the patients were presented in Table 1.

Immunosuppression and Prophylaxis

Basiliximab (20 mg/day; at the day of operation and postoperative 4th day) and antithymocyteglobulin (ATG; for high-risk patients; 3 mg/kg during operation and 1.5 mg/kg at the postoperative 1st and 2nd days) were administered as the induction therapy. Methylprednisolone 1000 mg was administered intraoperatively. This dose was gradually tapered in the following days and switched to 20 mg oral prednisolone at the postoperative 6th day. Oral prednisolone dosage was reduced gradually to reach 5 mg a day at the first year after transplantation. Calcineurin inhibitors (CNI; tacrolimus: 0.1-0.15 mg/kg/day and cyclosporine: 6-8 mg/kg/day) and mycophenolate mofetil (MMF; 2g/day, by splitting into two doses) or Mycophenolate sodium (MMF; 1440 mg/day, by splitting into two doses) were administered for maintenance of the immunosuppression. MMF dose of 600 mg/m² was administered as split into two doses in the children. Everolimus (replaced by MMF at the 5th day) was added to the treatment protocol to be used together with tacrolimus in the cases with $2 \ge mis$ matches. Target level of everolimus with tacrolimus was attempted to maintain between 4-8 mg/dL. However, everolimus was used instead of CNI in the cases supposed to develop thrombotic microangiopathy (TMA) because of use of CNIs and target level was attempted to maintain between 8-10 mg/dL. Trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole (400 mg/day) and valganciclovir (900 mg/day) were administered for the prophylaxis of Pneumocystis Jirovecii (until the postoperative 6th month) and cytomegalovirus (CMV) (until the postoperative 3rd month), respectively. Delayed graft function (DGF) was defined as the need for dialysis in the posttransplant period. Graft loss was defined as return of the recipient to dialysis due to graft failure. Acute rejection was diagnosed by renal biopsy. Acute cellular rejection (ACR) was treated with intravenous pulse methylprednisolone and/or ATG therapy depending on the severity of rejection. The cases who were diagnosed or comorbid with AMR received the treatment of plasmapheresis+intra-

Characteristics	Data
Gender M/E	Data
Recipient	60/52(570//130/)
Dopor	41/65(39%/61%)
A ge (years)	41/03 (37/0/01/0)
Recipient	34 1 (11-68)
Donor	41(10av-71)
Follow-up period (months)	325(1-68)
Living donor /deceased donor	106/15 (87 6%/12 4%)
Operation of donor (O/L)	100/15 (07.070/12.170)
Open nenhrectomy	81 (67%)
Lanarosconic nenhrectomy	40 (33%)
Relationship	10 (0070)
Spouse	35 (33%)
First degree	41 (39%)
Second degree	19 (18%)
Third degree	3 (3%)
Fourth degree	2 (2%)
Unrelated	6 (5%)
Number of DSA studied patients	121 (81.7%)
Median DSA positive time	21 (4-56)
Preemptive	38 (36%)
Induction	
None	15 (13%)
ATG	67 (55%)
Basiliximab	39 (32%)
Incompatibility numbers	15 (12.3%)
1	4 (3.3%)
2	17 (14%)
3	42 (34.7%)
4	15 (12.4%)
5	17 (14%)
6	11 (9%)
Rejection	
Acute celluler	4 (2.7%)
Acute humoral	4 (2.7%)
Celluler + Humoral	1 (0.6%)
Graft loss	6 (4%)
CAN	1
Humoral rejection	2
BKN	1
RAP	1
FSGS recurrence	
Death	2 (1.6%)
	3 (2.4%)
Discharge creatinine (mg/dl)	1.14 (0.55-2.4)
Last creatinine level (mg/dl)	1.1 (0.49-4.34)
Length of hospital stay (days)	10.1 (5-42)

Table 1. Descriptive data of the kidney transplant cases

CAN = Chronic allograft nephropathy, BKN = BK nephropathy, RAP = Renal artery pseudoaneurysm, FSGS = Focal segmental glomerulosclerosis, ATG = Anti-tymocyte globülin, DGF = Delayed graftfunction M = Male, F = Female

venous immunoglobulin (IVIG) every other day.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS Software Version 16. The probability of the variables for normal distribution was tested by analytic statistical methods (Kolmogorov-Smirnov/Shapiro-Wilk tests). Descriptive analyses were given as median values for non-normally distributed variables. Since study data were non-normally distributed between the groups (DSA, Non-DSA and non-anti-HLA); creatinine values were compared using Mann-Whitney U test. A *p*-value less than 0.05 was accepted as statistically significant.

RESULTS

Mean follow-up duration ranged between 1 and 68 months in 121 cases included in the study. Median follow-up period was 32.5 months. HLA antibodies were encountered in 42 (34.7%; de novo DSA: 23, de novo Non-DSA: 19) cases. De novo DSA (DSA-A, DSA-B and DSA-DR) were detected in 10 cases. De novo DSA MFI value was > 2000 in 8 (6.6%) of those cases. We have determined DQ positivity in 13 (10.7%) cases. MFI values were > 4000, 2000-4000 and 1000-2000 in 8, 2 and 3 cases with DQ positivity, respectively (Table 2). In the postoperative term, de novo DSA and de novo non-DSA developed in 21th (a range of 4-56 months) and 24th (a range of 4-45 months) months, respectively. However, no statistically significant difference was present between the times of development of de novo DSA also in the postoperative term. In addition, no statistically significant correlation was detected between development of DSA and recipient age, recipient gender, DGF and number of donor-recipient matches. Except the cases with occurrence of graft loss, recent creatinine levels of the patients without anti-HLA antibodies (non anti-HLA), with de novo DSA and de novo non-DSA patients were 1.18 ± 0.51 (0.50-4.34), 1.30 ± 0.58 (0.89-2.75), and 1.01 ± 0.28 (0.49-1.6), respectively. No statistically significant difference was found between the creatinine levels of the patients with non anti-HLA compared with de novo DSA and de novo non-DSA (p = 0.819 and p = 0.401, respectively). No statistically significant difference was detected also

	n (%)				
De novo DSA (A, B, DR)					
DSA NEGATIVE	111 (91.7%)				
1000 < CLASS 2 < 2000	2 (1.6%)				
CLASS 1 >2000	5 (4.1%)				
CLASS 2>2000	2 (1.6%)				
CLASS 1 and 2 > 2000	1 (0.8%)				
De novo DSA (DQ)					
De novo Non-DSA	3 (2.5%)				
DQ CLASS 2 > 4000	2 (1.6%)				
2000 < DQ CLASS 2 <4000	8 (6.6%)				
1000 < DQ CLASS 2 < 2000	19 (15.7%)				

Table 2. De novo DSA and de novo Non-DSA data

DSA = Donor specific antibody

between the creatinine levels of the patients with de novo DSA and de novo non-DSA (p = 0.189). The findings of AMRwas encountered in 2 of the 8 patients with de novo DSA by renal biopsy (Table 3) (Cases 3 and 6). These two cases became DSA negative after plasmapheresis+intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG) therapy. However they were found DSA positive again during their follow-ups. In the follow-ups; 3 of 6 DSA positive cases became negative without implementation of any treatment. The rest 3 cases remained positive. Besides, one case with developed in one patient without de novo DSA and one patient with de novo DSA DQ positivity (Table 3) (Cases A, B and C).

DISCUSSION

Although many studies have determined the association between development of de novo DSA after kidney transplantation and an immunological phenomenon such as AMR, there is no consensus on routine DSA monitoring in the posttransplantation period. Routine DSA monitoring is not performed in the postoperative follow-ups in many centers. In our study, we have evaluated posttransplant DSA outcomes of 121 non-sensitized cases (the cases that do not require implementation of desensitization protocol in the preoperative period) and the association between these outcomes and AMR. HLA-antibodies were encountered in 42 (34.7%) cases. De novo DSA was detected in 23 (17.4%; antibodies against HLA-A, HLA-B,

Cases	DSA type and MFI values	MM count	Induction	Biopsy result	De novo DSA/non- DSA process	Treatment
1	Class I 3213 Class II 7428	4	ATG	The patient did not give approval	56th month	Cr level is stable Outpatient clinic follow-up
2	Class I 11089	4	ATG	CAN	51th month	Outpatient clinic follow-up
3	Class II 20182	3	Basiliximab	AHR	24th month	PE + IVIG Outpatient clinic follow-up
4	Class II 3441	3	Basiliximab	CAN	12th month	Outpatient clinic follow-up
5	Class I 4336	4	ATG	No rejection	26th month	Outpatient clinic follow-up
6	Class I 6583	4	ATG	AHR	18th month	Outpatient clinic follow
7	Class I 2356	0	No induction	CAN	8th month	Outpatient clinic follow
8	Class I 9482	0	ATG	No rejection	4th month	Outpatient clinic follow
Α	De novo DSA (-)	2	Basiliximab	AHR	De novo DSA (-)	PE + IVIG; Graft loss
В	Class II 9654	3	ATG	AHR	De novo DSA (+ DQ)	PE + IVIG Outpatient clinic follow-up
C	Class I 32227 Class II 37124	3	ATG	ACR (+) AHR (+)	De novo DSA (-) De novo non- DSA (+)	PE + IVIG Graft loss

AHR = Acute Humoral Rejection, DSA = Donor specific antibody, ATG = Anti-tymocyte globülin Cr = Creatinine, CAN = Chronic allograft nephropathy, ACR = Acute cellular rejection, PE = Plasma exchange, IVIG = Intravenous immunoglobulin, MFI = Mean Fluorescence Intensity

HLA-DR and HLA-DQ) cases. DQ positivity was determined in 13 (10.7%) of those cases. The findings of AMR was observed in 2 of 8 cases with de novo DSA development. In addition, a case with de novo non-DSA development was diagnosed with AMR. AMR was also diagnosed by biopsy in two cases despite absence of de novo DSA development and graft loss occurred in these cases. A significant association of de novo DSA development with graft loss and reduced graft survival has been found also in the literature. Li *et al.* [10] have determined that 1-, 3- and 5year survival rates of the patients with de novo DSA development were 92%, 77% and 69%, respectively. Whereas, these rates were 100%, 100% and 96% in the cases without de novo DSA development, respectively. The same study has encountered that occurrence of de novo DSA was not correlated with development of AMR with in the posttransplant first 6 months whereas occurrence of de novo DSA was found significantly correlated with development of AMR after posttransplant 6th month [10]. Time interval between the occurrence of posttransplant de novo DSA and development of rejection still remained unclear. The previous studies have suggested that de novo DSA development has no negative effect on graft function [11, 12]. Terasaki et al. [12] have carried out a 1-year prospective follow-up study in 23 centers and found that the rates of graft failure in the cases with and without development of anti-HLA antibodies were 6.6% and 3.3%, respectively. In the same manner, Süsal et al. [13] have emphasized the importance of postoperative DSA monitoring in the patients with high immunological risk and impaired graft function. However, debates on DSA are still ongoing. Although, some studies have stated that DSA positivity in the absence of rejection has no impact on graft survival, there are also other studies which have noted that early and late developments of DSA have similar impact on graft injury [14, 15]. Prajuli et al. [14] has denoted in his study that DSA positivity in the absence of rejection has no impact on graft survival. In that study, post-biopsy follow-up period was shorter than 3 years. That period may be inadequate to draw reasonable conclusions. In our study, 2 cases with DSA development were diagnosed with biopsy-proven AMR. However, 2 cases without detection of DSA were also diagnosed with AMR by biopsy. Non DSA was present in one of those cases and graft loss occurred in both cases. Another case in our study was HLA-DQ DSA-positive and diagnosed with AMR by renal biopsy. Even though, there is no consensus on DSA positivity and graft survival with all aspects in the literature, our outcomes are not exactly consistent with general literature. That may be resulting from the fact that number of DSA positive patients is not high enough to present significant outcomes. Ginevri et al. [16] have identified de novo DSA and de novo non-DSA in respectively 19 (23%) and 24 (29%) patients in their 4.3-year follow-up study on 82 pediatric cases with kidney transplantation. Median DSA development duration was 24 months and DSAs were mostly against HLA-DQ antigens. Of the 82 cases; 8 and 4 were C4d+ AAR and C4d- AAR, respectively. The development of DSA and late AMR were correlated. Median time to development of AMR was 1 year [16]. In the present time, the association between HLA-DQ antibodies and AMR was investigated by many study groups and numerous articles have been reported on this issue [17-19]. Willicombo et al. [19] have detected de novo DSA in 92 (18.2%) of 505 cases in their study and 50 (54.3%) of those cases were found to have HLA-DQ DSA. That study has identified a significant association between the presence of HLA-DQ DSA andAMR [19]. DeVos et al [20] have obtained similar outcomes and detected rejection in 21 of the cases with HLA-DQ antibody. The rate of 3-year graft survival was found statistically significantly lower in those patients [20]. HLA-DQ antibody was identified in 13 cases in our study. Only one patient was diagnosed with biopsy-proven AMR. However, diagnosis of subclinical AMR could not be established in the cases with HLA-DQ positivity since we did not perform routine renal biopsy. In our study, we determined the MFI cut-off values as 1000, 2000 and 4000. In our study, the relationship between these MFI values and AMR was not significant. There is no consensus on the MFI cut-off values. This value varies from clinic to clinic. Morris et al. [21]. They stated in their study that cases with MFI < 2000 may not be an obstacle for transplantation. Also, in another study, a significant difference was observed between cases with MFI < 1500 and cases with > 1500 in terms of graft survive [22].

Postoperative routine DSA monitoring in the patients with low immunological risk is not performed because of high-cost. However, it is a recommended procedure in the patients with high immunological risk. We have aimed to present a contribution to the studies that evaluated the association between routine DSA monitoring performed in our country and AMR.

CONCLUSION

Although, retrospective design of our study is a limitation, nevertheless, the fact that routine DSA monitoring is a high-cost procedure and that routine DSA monitoring in all the cases in our study provided no contribution to the outcomes of our study may contribute to the debate on necessity of routine DSA monitoring in the patients with low immunological risk.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: NA; Study Design: NA, VA;

Supervision: NA, VA; Funding: NA, VA; Materials: NA, VA; Data Collection and/or Processing: NA, VA, ŞK; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: NA, ŞK; Literature Review: NA; Manuscript Preparation: NA and Critical Review: NA, VA, ŞK.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

Acknowledgment

This study was presented as an oral presentation at the 7th Current Kidney Diseases, Hypertension and Transplantation Meeting. 18-22 April, 2018, Bursa, Turkey

REFERENCES

1. Meier-Kriesche HU, Schold JD, Kaplan B. Long-term renal allograft survival: have we made significant progress or is it time to rethink our analytic and therapeutic strategies? Am J Transplant 2004;4:1289-95.

2. Morath C, Opelz G, Zeier M, Süsal C. Clinical relevance of HLA antibody monitoring after kidney transplantation. J Immunol Res 2014;2014:845040.

3. Loupy A, Hill GS, Nochy D, Legendre C. Antibody-mediated microcirculation injury is the major cause of late kidney transplant failure. Am J Transplant 2010;10:952.

4. Sellarés J, de Freitas DG, Mengel M, Reeve J, Einecke G, Sis B, et al. Understanding the causes of kidney transplant failure: the dominant role of antibody-mediated rejection and nonadherence. Am J Transplant 2012;12:388-99.

5. Meier-Kriesche HU, Schold JD, Srinivas TR, Kaplan B. Lack of improvement in renal allograft survival despite a marked decrease in acute rejection rates over the most recent era. Am J Transplant 2004;4:378-83.

6. Terasaki PI. Humoral theory of transplantation. Am J Transplant 2003;3:665-73.

7. Lachmann N, Terasaki PI, Budde K, Liefeldt L, Kahl A, Reinke P, et al. Anti-human leukocyte antigen and donor-specific antibodies detected by luminex posttransplant serve as biomarkers for chronic rejection of renal allografts.Transplantation 2009;27;87:1505-13.

8. Einecke G, Sis B, Reeve J, Mengel M, Campbell PM, Hidalgo LG, et al. Antibody-mediated microcirculation injury is the major cause of late kidney transplant failure. Am J Transplant

2009;9:2520-31.

9. Sellarés J, de Freitas DG, Mengel M, Reeve J, Einecke G, Sis B, et al. Understanding the causes of kidney transplant failure: the dominant role of antibody-mediated rejection and nonadherence. Am J Transplant 2012;12:388-99.

10. Li X, Ishida H, Yamaguchi Y, Tanabe K. Poor graft outcome in recipients with de novo donor-specific anti-HLA antibodies after living related kidney transplantation. Transpl Int 2008;21:1145-52.

11. McKenna RM, Takemoto SK, Terasaki PI. Anti-HLA antibodies after solid organ transplantation. Transplantation 2000;69:319-26.

12. Terasaki PI, Ozawa M. Predicting kidney graft failure by HLA antibodies: a prospective trial. Am J Transplant 2004;4:438-43.

13. Süsal C, Aykut G, Morath C, Fichtner A, Unterrainer C, Scherer S, et al. Relevance of donor-specific antibody monitoring after kidney transplantation: findings from the Collaborative Transplant Study and the Heidelberg Transplant Center. HLA 2019;94 Suppl 2:11-5.

14. Parajuli S, Joachim E, Alagusundaramoorthy S, Aziz F, Blazel J, Garg N, et al. Donor-specific antibodies in the absence of rejection are not a risk factor for allograft failure. Kidney Int Rep 2019;4:1057-65.

15. Cioni M, Nocera A, Innocente A, Tagliamacco A, Trivelli A, Basso S, et al. De novo donor-specific HLA antibodies developing early or late after transplant are associated with the same risk of graft damage and loss in nonsensitized kidney recipients. J Immunol Res 2017;2017:1747030.

16. Ginevri F, Nocera A, Comoli P, Innocente A, Cioni M, Parodi A, et al. Posttransplant de novo donor-specific HLA antibodies identify pediatric kidney recipients at risk for late antibody-mediated rejection. Am J Transplant 2012;12:3355-62.

17. Wiebe C, Gibson IW, Blydt-Hansen TD, Karpinski M, Ho J, Storsley LJ, et al. Evolution and clinical pathologic correlations of de novo donor-specific HLA antibody post kidney transplant. Am J Transplant 2012;12:1157-67.

18. Tagliamacco A, Cioni M, Comoli P, Ramondetta M, Brambilla C, Trivelli A, et al. DQ molecules are the principal stimulators of de novo donor-specific antibodies in nonsensitized pediatric recipients receiving a first kidney transplant. Transpl Int 2014;27:667-73.

19. Willicombe M, Brookes P, Sergeant R, Santos-Nunez E, Steggar C, Galliford J, et al. De novo DQ donor-specific antibodies are associated with a significant risk of antibody-mediated rejection and transplant glomerulopathy. Transplantation 2012;94:172-7.

20. DeVos JM, Gaber AO, Knight RJ, Land GA, Suki WN, Gaber LW, et al. Donor-specific HLA-DQ antibodies may contribute to poor graft outcome after renal transplantation. Kidney Int 2012;82:598-604.

21. Morris GP, Phelan DL, Jendrisak MD, Mohanakumar T. Virtual cross match by identification of donor-specific anti-human leukocyte antigen antibodies by solid-phase immunoassay: a 30month analysis in living donor kidney transplantation. Hum Immunol 2010;71:268-73. 22. Caro-Oleas JL, Gonza'lez-Escribano MF, Gonza'lez-Roncero FM, Acevedo-Calado MJ, Cabello-Chaves V, Gentil-Govantes MA, et al. Clinical relevance of HLA donor-specific antibodies

detected by single antigen assay in kidney transplantation. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2012;27:1231-8.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.737946

Investigation of the situations affecting vocational school students' anxiety levels and academic achievements

Muhammet Bayraktar¹[®], Mehmet Doğan²[®]

¹Department of Public Health, Niğde Ömer Halis University of School of Medicine, Niğde, Turkey ²Department of Medical Services and Tecniques, Erciyes University, Halil Bayraktar Health Services Vocational School, Kayseri, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives: In this study, we aim to determine the prevalence of anxiety and evaluate its relationship with academic performance in a vocational school of health services students, which causes significant disability and loss of labor and is frequently seen with mood disorders in the society.

Methods: A sample was not selected for the research, it was aimed to reach all students. Of the 1093 students who are attending the school, 849 (77.7%) students participated in the study. In order to determine the level of anxiety in students, a questionnaire form consisting of the Beck Anxiety Inventory and descriptive features were applied by the online survey method.

Results: Of the students; 80.1% are female, 98.1% are single, 57.1% are in their first year, and the average age is 20.25 ± 1.81 . The total scale score was found 9.42 ± 8.65 and it was 9.90 ± 8.69 for female students and 7.49 ± 8.24 for male students. Variable levels of anxiety were detected in 38.8% of the participants. There was no statistically significant relation found between anxiety level and academic performance, but both anxiety levels and academic performances were affected by the gender of participants.

Conclusions: Making psychological evaluations of students while they are starting their higher education and checking their statuses periodically using standard self-report tools by using technological instruments; would make it possible to make necessary interventions by noticing the situations that may adversely affect their academic success, social life, mental and cognitive development in the early stages.

Keywords: vocational school, students, anxiety, grades

A nxiety's lifetime prevalence is reported to be between 13.6% and 28.8%. It can cause significant disability and loss of labor and is frequently found in society along with mood disorders. It is a state of inquietude that can be observed as ranging from a mild level of uneasiness causing disquietude and tension to a state of apprehension that is severe enough to cause a sense of panic. It manifests itself with deteriorations in the physical, mental, somatic and cognitive areas of the person, with the expectation of a danger that may

arise due to personal or environmental reasons [1-3].

If the anxiety of the person is within the ideal limits, support systems come into play and this mechanism provides an opportunity for the person to improve himself. It's a fact that if anxiety is not at the ideal level and increased, it can affect the mental and emotional state of the person and cause physical or psychological disorders, leading to negative experiences in the person's life [4]. This may lead to low performance in business life and it can also manifest itself

Received: July 4, 2020; Accepted: October 11, 2020; Published Online: January 23, 2021



How to cite this article: Bayraktar M, Doğan M. Investigation of the situations affecting vocational school students' anxiety levels and academic achievements. Eur Res J 2021;7(3):312-318. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.737946

Address for correspondence: Muhammet Bayraktar, MD., Assistant Professor, Niğde Ömer Halis University of School of Medicine, Department of Public Health, Bor Yolu Üzeri 51240, Niğde, Turkey. E-mail: drmbayraktar@gmail.com, Tel: +90 388 2256050

©Copyright 2021 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj as a decrease in lesson successes in school life as well. The relationship between increasing anxiety levels and academic performance needs to be examined extensively [5]. Because this relationship is important to provide appropriate medical and social supports in order to eliminate the low marks in students' grades, in case they exist.

In this study we planned to evaluate the prevalence of anxiety, relationship of anxiety levels and the academic performance in health services vocational school students.

METHODS

This descriptive and cross-sectional study was carried out at Erciyes University Halil Bayraktar Health Services Vocational School students during June 2020. All of the students studying in a total of ten programs in two different departments within the school were included in the study. The study was planned and carried out as voluntary participation in the online survey, as education and training activities were continued as distance education within the scope of Covid-19 epidemic preventive measures. Approval numbered 2020/322 from the ethics committee of Erciyes University along with permission from the directorate of the vocational school was obtained for the study. Information about the study was given to the participants on the online survey page and their informed consent was taken by their choosing the "I accept to participate in the study voluntarily" option on the same page. Students were asked to answer the participant information section consisting of six questions where socio-demographic information, school cumulative grade point average (CGPA), and the information about the department they were studying were collected; along with the Beck Anxiety Inventory (BAI), which consists of 21 questions that used to measure anxiety states. The BAI is defined as a reliable self-report tool for measuring participants' anxiety levels. The scale consists of querying 21 symptoms. Participants are asked to state to what extent they feel uncomfortable with regards to each item "during the past week, including today". The answers are scored on a scale of 0 to 3 ranging from "not at all" to "severely", resulting in a total score of from 0 to 63. While the total scale score between 0 to 9 points is interpreted as normal

anxiety level, from 10 to 18 points are evaluated as mild-moderate, from 19 to 29 points are moderate-severe and from 30 to 63 points are considered as serious anxiety levels. The developers of the scale reported a high level of internal consistency (Cronbach alpha = 0.92) and a good test-retest correlation (r = 0.75) [6-8]. The results of the validity and reliability study of the Turkish version of BAI also support its use as a reliable and valid measure of anxiety in the Turkish population [9]. In our study, Cronbach's alpha value was found to be 0.90.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses of the collected data were done with the SPSS program. Descriptive statistics were presented as mean \pm standard deviation, median (min, max), frequency distribution and percentages. The relationship between anxiety level and other independent variables were evaluated with Chi-square tests. Since the data did not match the normal distribution, Mann-Whitney and Kruskal-Wallis tests were used to compare the mean values of the anxiety score among different subgroups and to examine from which independent variables they were affected. The relationship between cumulative grade point averages and other independent variables were evaluated with Chi-square tests. For all statistical tests, values where p < 0.05were considered as being significant.

For post-hoc analysis, Chi-Square values were calculated by using residual (Z) values, p values were calculated from these Chi-Square values and Bonferroni correction was applied to these p values [10-11].

RESULTS

From 1093 students attending 10 different programs within the school, 849 (77.7%) students participated in the study. According to Table 1, of the participants; 80.1% were women, 98.1% were single, 57.1% were in the first year of their education. The average age of the participants was 20.25 ± 1.81 (min: 18, max: 30). While the total scale score was calculated as 9.42 ± 8.65 (min: 0, max: 60), varying levels of anxiety from mild-moderate to serious were detected in 38.8% of the participants. As it could also be seen from Table 1; the changes in the average scale score in relation to the gender of the participants, the
n = 849			BAI to	tal score		Kruskal-Wallis H / Mann-Whitney U	<i>p</i> value
	n	%	ā	SD	Mean rank	·	
Genders						45327.000 ^a	< 0.001
Female	680	80.1	9.90	8.69	442.84		
Male	169	19.9	7.49	8.24	353.21		
Years of educ	ation					87528.000 ^a	0.834
First	485	57.1	9.30	8.35	426.53		
Second	364	42.9	9.59	9.05	422.96		
Cumulative g	rade po	int aver	ages (CG	PA)		4.008 ^b	0.405
<=2.00	37	4.4	9.57	9.44	414.03		
2.01 - 2.50	119	14.0	10.42	10.68	432.49		
2.51 - 3.00	271	31.9	9.37	8.52	423.07		
3.01 - 3.50	342	40.3	8.77	7.82	413.85		
3.51 - 4.00	80	9.4	10.81	8.68	473.18		
Ages						10.132 ^b	0.072
18	65	7.7	10.85	7.61	491.82		
19	220	25.9	9.36	8.71	425.14		
20	296	34.9	9.76	8.79	435.98		
21	160	18.8	8.54	7.98	399.76		
22	52	6.1	9.65	9.61	416.37		
23+	56	6.6	8.50	9.68	368.96		

Table 1	. Changes	s in t	he l	BAI	total	score	accore	ding	to t	he	charac	terist	ics	of t	the	partici	pan	ts
								_										

^aMann Whitney U, ^bKruskal Wallis H, BAI = Beck Anxiety Inventory

programs they studied, the number of years of their education, their CGPAs, and their ages were observed and they were tested for statistical significance. Accordingly, statistically significant relations were found in the change of total scale score with participants' genders and anxiety levels (p < 0.001).

When we looked at which of the participants' gender, school year, CPGA, age characteristics were related with the level of anxiety calculated; it is seen in Table 2 that there is no statistically significant relationship between the calculated anxiety levels and these independent variables (p > 0.05).

When we look at which independent variables CPGA is affected in Table 3, it is seen that only the differences regarding the gender of the participants are statistically significant. CPGA was calculated as 3.48 ± 0.94 in females and 2.89 ± 1.02 in male participants. Performed post-hoc analyses revealed that the afore-

mentioned statistical significance between gender and CPGA was due to the 2.01-2.50 and 3.01-3.50 CPGA levels. While the CGPA is statistically significantly affected by the school programs that students were getting their education (x2 (36) = 101.309, p < 0.001); it was determined that there was no relationship between the level of anxiety and the school programs that students were getting their education (p > 0.05, Fisher's exact test).

DISCUSSION

The prevalence of anxiety, which was determined as 38.8% among the students participating in the study, was similarly found to be 40% in another recent study using the same scale. This rate is lesser than the previous studies conducted in different countries at dif-

n = 849				Anxiet	y level				X ²	<i>p</i> value
	Noi	rmal	M mod	ild- erate	Mod se	lerate- vere	Serious			
	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%		
Genders									6.656 ^a	0.084
Female	403	59.3	181	26.6	70	10.3	26	3.8		
Male	117	69.2	38	22.5	10	5.9	4	2.4		
Years of education	ation								1.487^{a}	0.685
First	301	62.1	125	25.8	45	9.3	14	2.9		
Second	219	60.2	94	25.8	35	9.6	16	4.4		
Cumulative g	rade poi	int avera	ages (CG	SPA)					12.179 ^a	0.431
<=2.00	22	59.5	10	27.0	3	8.1	2	5.4		
2.01 - 2.50	70	58.8	29	24.4	13	10.9	7	5.9		
2.51 - 3.00	170	62.7	68	25.1	23	8.5	10	3.7		
3.01 - 3.50	215	62.9	90	26.3	27	7.9	10	2.9		
3.51 - 4.00	43	53.8	22	27.5	14	17.5	1	1.3		
Ages									17.110 ^a	0.312
18	37	56.9	15	23.1	12	18.5	1	1.5		
19	133	60.5	62	28.2	19	8.6	6	2.7		
20	172	58.1	86	29.1	24	8.1	14	4.7		
21	106	66.3	36	22.5	14	8.8	4	2.5		
22	33	63.5	11	21.2	6	11.5	2	3.8		
23+	39	69.6	9	16.1	5	8.9	3	5.4		
Total	521	61.4	219	25.8	79	9.3	30	3.5		

Fable 2.	Changes in	the anxiety	level	l according to	the	characteristics	of the	particip	ants

^aPearson's chi-squared test (X^2) , ^bFisher's Exact

ferent times [5,12-18]. When the studies on the subject are examined, as the anxiety level of women is higher than that of men; in studies with a high rate of women participants, it is seen that the level of anxiety increases in the study population. But in our study, although four-fifths of the participants were women, the total anxiety level was found to be lower than in other studies [16, 19, 20]. This can be accepted as evidence that the only variable that affects the level of anxiety is not gender. There are other studies supporting this idea, reported that there is no statistically significant difference at the anxiety level that can be associated with gender [12, 21, 22].

As 98.1% of the participants in the study were single, there was not any statistical tests applied for making comparisons of changes with marital status to avoid statistically erroneous results. However in a study conducted with students, it was stated that the prevalence of anxiety was higher in singles. But in another research conducted with patients; while it was stated that anxiety disorders were found to be more common in divorced, widowed, or separated people in previous field studies, according to their own findings the diagnosis of anxiety disorder was reported to be significantly higher in married people than in singles [2, 18]. This suggests that the marital status of the participants does not alone affect the anxiety state and other factors may also have a role. There was no statistically significant difference between the year of study with the total anxiety scores and categorical anxiety levels. In the literature, some studies state a statistical relationship between the class studied and

n = 849	Cumulative grade point average									X^2	<i>p</i> value	
	<=)	2.00	2.01	01 - 2.50 2.51 - 3.00 3.01 - 3.50		- 3.50	3.51	- 4.00				
	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%		
Genders											52.166 ^a	<0.001
Female	21	3.1	76	11.2	210	30.9	300	44.1	73	10.7		
Male	16	9.5	43	25.4	61	36.1	42	24.9	7	4.1		
Years of education	1										2.159 ^a	0.706
First	22	4.5	67	13.8	159	32.8	187	38.6	50	10.3		
Second	15	4.1	52	14.3	112	30.8	155	42.6	30	8.2		
Anxiety levels											11.591°	0.455
Normal	22	4.2	70	13.5	170	32.7	215	41.3	43	8.3		
Mild- moderate	10	4.6	29	13.2	68	31.1	90	41.1	22	10.0		
Moderate- severe	3	3.8	13	16.3	23	29.1	28.8	33.8	14	17.5		
Serious	2	6.7	7	23.3	10	33.3	10	33.3	1	3.3		
Ages											26.284ª	0.157
18	1	1.5	9	13.8	23	35.4	26	40.0	6	9.2		
19	8	3.6	35	15.9	69	31.4	86	39.1	22	10.0		
20	14	4.7	34	11.5	88	29.7	131	44.3	29	9.8		
21	7	4.4	18	11.3	58	36.3	68	42.5	9	5.6		
22	2	3.8	9	17.3	20	38.5	16	30.8	5	9.6		
23+	5	8.9	14	25.0	13	23.2	15	26.8	9	16.1		
Total	37	4.4	119	14.0	271	31.9	342	40.3	80	9.4		

 Table 3. Changes in the cumulative grade point averages according to the characteristics of the participants

^aPearson's chi-squared test (X²), ^bFisher's Exact, ^cMonte Carlo

anxiety status, whereas in some studies there is no significant difference reported. In the studies that state that there is a relation between the class and anxiety level, while some researchers reported that the level of anxiety was higher in the first grades, the other researchers reported that in the final grades [16, 21, 23].

No significant relationship was found between the CPGAs of the participants with the total BAI and the anxiety levels. On the other hand, while we were observing the changes in independent variables and their effects on the students' academic achievements by looking at CPGAs; a statistically significant relationship was determined between the CPGAs with the gender of the participants, and the program in which they were educated. Accordingly, it could be said that being a woman has positive effects on academic suc-

cess in students (Table 3). On the other hand, the relationship between the program studied and CPGA might be related to the ease or difficulty of the courses within the scope of the program, the simplicity or complexity of the applications carried out within the scope of education as well as other factors. In order for this to be understood, other investigations should be made examining the possible causalities.

While there was no significant difference in the change of total anxiety scores and categorical anxiety levels related to ages of participants in this study; it was reported that high anxiety scores were associated with increasing age and the prevalence of anxiety increased significantly at older ages in another study [18]. Again, there is information in the literature that anxiety disorders start especially in the 20s, and the incidence increases with age [2].

Limitations

Studies examining the effects of various variables such as emotion and anxiety state and belief state, physical activity level, body mass index, familial features, etc. are present in the literature. The limitations observed in all cross-sectional studies are valid both for these other studies and as well for this study. Although it was carried out with a large number of participants from ten different programs, the information in the study was collected from students of the vocational school of health services. Different results can be obtained in studies conducted in other schools. Also, participation in the study was on a voluntary basis. And in the studies carried out in the form of the participation of volunteers; it is a known phenomenon that those who have the examined feature are not willing to participate in the study as much as those who do not [24]. In addition, the relationship of variables examined within the scope of the study with anxiety states of the individuals was only examined using a self-report questionnaire, without processes that make it possible to make a definitive diagnosis, such as clinical interviews. Despite all these limitations, it is important to carry out studies that make it possible to follow the emotional and anxiety states of the students throughout their education life. Because stress, emotion, and anxiety cases that were not diagnosed in the early stages during the studentship period; may negatively affect the quality of life and job performance of individuals when they get into professional life thereafter [25].

CONCLUSION

It is appropriate to make psychological evaluations of students while they are starting their higher education and then to check their statuses regularly during the education; within the periods determined by specialists, with standard self-report tools that are tested for reliability, and also by using technological instruments for evaluations whenever it is possible. In this way, it will be possible to make necessary interventions by noticing the situations that may adversely affect their academic success, social life, mental and cognitive development in the early stages.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: MB; Study Design: MB; Supervision: MB, MD; Funding: MB, MD; Materials: MB; Data Collection and/or Processing: MB, MD; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: MB; Literature Review: MB; Manuscript Preparation: MB, MD and Critical Review: MB, MD.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript. Authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

REFERENCES

1. Öztürk MO, Uluşahin A. Ruh Sağlığı ve Bozuklukları. 13. Baskı, Ankara: Nobel Tıp Kitapevleri; 2015.

2. Özcan M, Uğuz F, Çilli AS. [The prevalence of generalized anxiety disorder and comorbidity among psychiatric outpatients]. Türk Psikiyatri Dergisi 2006;17:276-85. [Article in Turkish]

Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders: DSM Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Publishing; 2013.

4. Türker E. Koroner Anjiyografi Yapılan Hastaların ve Eşlerinin

Anksiyeteleri, Ankara Üniversitesi, Sağlık Bilimleri Enstitüsü, Hemşirelik Ana Bilim Dalı, Yüksek Lisans Tezi, Ankara, 2015. 5. Junaid M, Auf A, Shaikh K, Khan N, Abdelrahim S. Correlation between academic performance and anxiety in medical students of Majmaah University - KSA. J Pak Med Assoc 2020;70:865-8.

6. Beck AT, Epstein N, Brown G, Steer RA. An inventory for measuring clinical anxiety: Psychometric properties. J Consult Clin Psychol 1988;56:893-7.

7. Beck AT, Steer RA. Beck Anxiety Inventory Manual. San Antonio: The Psychological Corporation Harcourt Brace Jovanovich, Inc.; 1990.

8. Creamer M, Foran J, Bell R. The Beck Anxiety Inventory in a non-clinical sample. Behav Res Ther 1995;33:477-85.

9. Ulusoy M, Şahin NH, Erkmen H. The Beck anxiety inventory: psychometric properties. J Cogn Psychother 1998;12:163-72.

10. Beasley TM, Schumacker RE. Multiple regression approach to analyzing contingency tables: Post hoc and planned comparison procedures. J Exp Educ 1995;64:79-93.

11. Garcia-Perez MA, Nunez-Anton V. Cellwise residual analysis in two-way contingency tables. Educ Psychol Meas 2003;63:825-39.

12. Inam SNB, Saqib A, Alam E. Prevalence of anxiety and depression among medical students of private university. J Pak Med Assoc 2003;53:44-6.

13. Mehanna Z, Richa S. [Prevalence of anxiety and depressive

disorders in medical students. Transversal study in medical students in the Saint-Joseph University of Beirut]. Encephale 2006;32(6Pt1):976-82. [Article in French]

14. Yusoff MSB, Rahim AFA, Baba AA, Ismail SB, Pa MNM, Esa AR. Prevalence and associated factors of stress, anxiety and depression among prospective medical students. Asian J Psychiatr 2013;6:128-33.

15. Singh I, Jha A. Anxiety, optimism and academic achievement among students of private medical and engineering colleges: a comparative study. J Educ Dev Psychol 2013;3:222-33.

16. Saravanan C, Wilks R. Medical students' experience of and reaction to stress: the role of depression and anxiety. Scientific-WorldJournal 2014;2014:737382.

17. Manchevska S, Pluncevic-Gligoroska J. The prevalence of high anxiety and substance Use in university students in the republic of Macedonia. Prilozi 2014;35:67-74.

18. Wahed WY, Hassan SK. Prevalence and associated factors of stress, anxiety and depression among medical Fayoum University students. Alexandria J Med 2017;53:77-84.

19. Kars V, Arslan N, Erik L, Avcı N, Bucaktepe PG, Celepkolu T, Şahin HA. [The problems during choice of profession and comparison of these problems with anxiety and depression in

final year of high school students]. Dicle Med J 2014;41:187-90. [Article in Turkish]

20. Ayaz E, Varol G. [Examination of factors related to dental anxiety level in 1st grade students in health high school of Namık Kemal University vocational school of health services]. Namık Kemal Tıp Dergisi 2018;6:96-103. [Article in Turkish]

21. Gümüş F, Zengin L. [Anxiety, depressive symptom frequency and related factors in nursing students]. Van Med J 2018;25:527-34. [Article in Turkish]

22. Ölçücü B, Vatansever Ş, Özcan G, Çelik A, Paktaş Y. [The relationship between depression, anxiety and physical activity level among university students]. Uluslararası Türk Eğitim Bilimleri Dergisi 2015;April 2015:294-303. [Article in Turkish]

23. Bilgel N, Bayram N. Turkish version of the depression anxiety stress scale (DASS-42): psychometric properties. Arch Neuropsychiatry 2010;47:118-26.

24. Vernon SW, Roberts RE, Sul Lee EUN. Ethnic status and participation in longitudinal health surveys. Am J Epidemiol 1984;119:99-113.

25. Rosenthal JM, Okie S. White Coat, Mood indigo - depression in medical school. N Eng J Med 2005;353:1085-8.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.739559

The relationship between collapsibility index of inferior vena cava and hypotension after spinal anesthesia

Serra Topal¹[®], Derva Karasu²[®], Canan Yılmaz²[®], Çağdaş Baytar³[®], Erhan Tenekecioğlu⁴[®], Dursun Topal⁵

¹Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Bursa City Hospital, Bursa, Turkey

²Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Intisas Training and Research Hospital, Bursa, Turkey

³Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Gemlik State Hospital, Bursa, Turkey

⁴Department of Cardiology, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Bursa, Turkey ⁵Department of Cardiology, Bursa City Hospital, Bursa, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives: Hypotension is a common complication of spinal anesthesia. Imaging of inferior vena cava (IVC) and measurement of the IVC-collapsibility index (IVC-CI) by ultrasonography (USG) has been a widely used non-invasive, easy and reliable method for measurement of the fluid imbalance. In the present study, we aimed to investigate the predictive ability of the maximum IVC diameter (dIVCmax) and IVC-CI for hypotension after spinal anesthesia.

Methods: The study was designed as prospective and observational. One hundred thirty-two patients aged 18-75 years with ASA I-II underwent inguinal hernia surgery with spinal anesthesia and recruited to the study. Maximum and minimum (dIVCmin) IVC diameters were measured. IVC-CI (%) was quantified according to the formula of [(dIVCmax-dIVCmin)/dIVKmax]×100%.

Results: The patients were grouped as hypotensive and non-hypotensive. In fifty-seven patients of 120 cases (47.5%), hypotension has emerged following spinal anesthesia. No significant differences in dIVCmax and IVC-CI were recorded between the study groups (p > 0.05). There were significant inverse correlation between age and IVC-CI. Significant positive correlation between the lowest values of the systolic arterial pressure, diastolic arterial pressure, mean arterial pressure and IVC-CI and significant positive correlation between dIVCmax and diastolic blood pressure, maximum and minimum values of the mean arterial pressure.

Conclusions: We found that dIVCmax and IVC-CI values measured before spinal anesthesia were not sufficient parameters enough to predict hypotension after spinal anesthesia. Further studies investigating the IVC measurements under spinal anesthesia together with dynamic hemodynamic monitorization modalities are needed.

Keywords: Hypotension, inferior vena cava, inferior vena cava collapsibility index, spinal anesthesia, ultrasonography

spinal anesthesia. In the literature, hypotension

ypotension is the most common complication of is reported at a ratio of 8.2-57.9%. The primary underlying cause of hypotension induced by spinal anesthe-

Received: May 21, 2020; Accepted: November 13, 2020; Published Online: January 21, 2021



🚣 How to cite this article: Topal S, Karasu D, Yılmaz C, Baytar Ç, Tenekecioğlu E, Topal D. The relationship between collapsibility index of inferior vena cava and hypotension after spinal anesthesia. Eur Res J 2021;7(3):319-325. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.739559

Address for correspondence: Serra Topal, MD., Bursa City Hospital, Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Doğanköy/Nilüfer, Bursa, Turkey e-ISSN: 2149-3189 E-mail: dr.serra@msn.com, Tel: +90 224 9750000, Fax: +90 224 2680062

> ©Copyright 2021 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj

sia (SA) is arterial, arteriolar and venous dilatation due to preganglionic sympathetic nerve blockage. The hypotension may aggravate in case of volume depletion in patients underwent spinal anesthesia [1-4].

Measurement of the inferior vena cava (IVC) diameter by ultrasound and IVC-collapsibility index (IVC-CI) by ultrasonography (USG) has been a widely used non-invasive, straightforward and reliable method for assessment of intravascular volume. IVC is a highly compliant vessel and the change in the collapsibility of the vessel can guide the clinicians about the clinical status of the patient. At each respiratory cycle the vessel contacts and expands. With negative pressure at each inspiration, the venous return to the heart increases and IVC collapse. The changes in the diameter of the vessel depends on the total body fluid status. As compared to the relatively higher intravascular volume status, lower volume within the vasculature increases the percentage of the IVC collapse. It has been demonstrated that IVC diameter can change even in healthy subjects however, the maximum diameter of IVC may decrease deeply in hypovolemic cases [5]. The collapsibility of IVC is efficient method for demonstrating the intravascular volume. IVC collapsibility can be calculated using he formula as follows: [(dIVCmax - dIVCmin) / dIVCmax] × 100%.

The aim of the current analysis is to investigate the

relationship between IVC diameter, hypotension sourced from SA within the cases underwent an inguinal hernia operation and IVC -CI.

METHODS

The ethics committee of the local institution approved the protocol, and each patient gave written informed consent before inclusion. The study was a prospective observational implemented between 01.04.2017-01.10.2017. The subjects between 18-75 years old with American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) Score I, II those were planned to have inguinal hernia operation under spinal anesthesia recruited to the current study. The patient exclusion criteria were as follows; body mass index > 35, presence of hypertension, major peripheral artery disease, multiple vessel disease, unstable angina, left ventricle ejection fraction < 40%, respiratory disease, neurological disorder, increased intraabdominal pressure, cardiac pacemaker, using angiotensin receptor blocker. The cases with systolic arterial pressure > 150 mmHg and mean arterial pressure < 60 mmHg were excluded from the study.

The demographical data of the patients enrolled into the study were recorded. By a blinded physician,



Fig. 1. Ultrasound measurements of inferior vena cava (IVC) and calculation of collapsibility index. Panel above shows twodimensional scan of the IVC with right atrium to the left and panel below shows M-mode scan with respiratory variations in diameter. dIVCmax = maximum diameter of IVC, dIVCmin = minimum diameter of IVC.

five min prior to spinal anesthesia, the diameters of the IVC at inspiration (dIVCmin) and expiration (dI-VCmax) were recorded at 2-3 cm subcostal location using 5-Mhz probe ultrasound (Esaote, MyLab 30gold cardiovascular, Florence, Italy) at M-mode with the patient in the supine position. This process were repeated 3 times and the mean of the 3 measurements were recorded. IVC collapsibility index (IVC-CI) were calculated using the formula of [(dIVCmax - dI-VCmin)/dIVCmax × %100] (Fig. 1). The cases with >0.2 cm difference between the two sequential dIVCmax were excluded from the study.

Following the routine monitorization, premedication with intravenous (IV) midazolam 0.03-(0.05 mg/kg) (Dormicum®, Deva, Istanbul, Turkey) were implemented by an anesthetist outside the study. At the sitting position, sterilization was done over the skin zone of the spinal anesthesia and around the L4-5 or L3-4 intervertebral spaces with a 25G (gauge) Quincke spinal needle was introduced using mid-line approach. After observing the cerebrospinal fluid flow, 0.5% hyperbaric bupivacaine (Marcaine Heavy, AstraZeneca, Kırklareli, Turkey) was injected at a dosage according to the height of the patient (12-18 mg). The level of the sensorial block was determined using Pinprick test and the level of the motor block level was defined utilizing Bromage scale. As the block level was reached to T8 and Bromage 0, the operation started. Following spinal anesthesia, the subjects at whom vasoactive medication was implemented due to hypotension and the dosage of those vasoactive drugs

were recorded. After the anesthesia till the surgical operation concluded, the heart beats per min and the blood pressures of the patients were recorded at every 2 min. Also, the maximal sensory levels of the cases were recorded.

No any patients received any fluid replacement therapy before the spinal anesthesia. The fluid therapy was planned calculating the preoperative starvation time and fluid maintenance and target fluid replacement was done during the surgical operation. Fluid replacement regime was implemented as follows; 4 mL/h for the first 10 kg body weight, 2 ml/h for the second 10 kg body weight and 1 ml/h for the rest body weight. Hypotension was defined as the starting mean arterial pressure decreases by > 30% and/or mean arterial pressure was < 60 mmHg. The patients were grouped according to the hypotension status. As hypotension was determined IV fluid infusion was increased. Ephedrine (Ephedrine hydrochloride, Osel, Beykoz, Istanbul) was utilized at a dosage of 5-10 mg. When heart beat per min was < 40, IV atropine (Atropine Sulfate, Biofarma, Sancaktepe, Istanbul) (0.5 mg) was administered.

Statistical Analysis

For calculating the sample size G power version 3.1.9.2 was used. The effect size for the independent study groups for the t-test was d = 0.57 and for $\alpha = 0.05$ with power = 0.85, the minimum needed case number was 118. For statistical analysis SPSS 22.00 (Statistical Package for Social Sciences, Inc., Chicago,



Fig. 2. Flow chart of the study.

IL) was used. Numerical data are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation or median and inter-quartile range depending on their distribution which was tested by Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Spearman correlation test was used for the correlation analysis. Continuous variables with normal and non-normal distributions were compared using Student's t-tests and Mann–Whitney U tests, respectively. Categorical variables were compared using the Pearson's chi-square test or Fischer's exact test, as appropriate.

RESULTS

A total of 132 patients who underwent inguinal hernia with spinal anesthesia were included in the study and statistical analysis was performed in 120 cases (Fig. 2).

The patient characteristics are shown in Table 1. Hypotension was recorded in 47.5% (n = 57) of the patients. No significant difference was noted for dI-VCmax and IVC-CI between the study groups (Table 1). Sixty five percent of the cases have rendered dIVC < 15 cm and IVC-CI > 50% whereas in 2.5% of the subjects, IVC diameter was 15-25 mm and IVC-CI > 50%.

There was no meaningful correlation between dI-VCmax and IVC-CI (r = 0.145, p = 0.114). No statistically significant negative correlation was recorded between age and IVC-CI (p < 0.05, r = 0.184) (Table 2). No significant correlation was noted between the percentage of the decrease in mean arterial pressure and IVC-CI and dIVCmax (Fig. 3).

DISCUSSION

The researchers investigated the impact of USG guided IVC measurement on the hypotension after spinal anesthesia in patients undergoing inguinal hernia operation with a prospective observational study. In 47.5% of the cases hypotension during the spinal anesthesia has been recorded. There was no statistically significant difference between the cases in terms of hypotension after spina anesthesia related with dI-VCmax and IVC-CI. While there was a negative correlation between age and IVC-CI, no significant correlation was observed between the percentage of

nypotension arter spinar anesen	0510					
	Developed	Developed hypotension				
	Yes	No	p value			
	(n = 57)	(n = 63)				
Age (year)	49.0 ± 13.5	46.7 ± 14.0	0.400			
Sex, n (%)			0.101			
Female	3(4.2)	6 (12.2)				
Male	68 (95.8)	43 (87.8)				
BMI, kg/m2	25 ± 3.9	25.2 ± 5.7	0.921			
ASA, n (%)			0.322			
I	21 (29.6)	19 (38.8)				
II	45 (63.4)	29 (59.2)				
Baseline HR, beats/min	79.9 ± 14.3	76.4 ± 16.1	0.170			
MBP, mmHg	109.6 ± 19.0	108.2 ± 16.7	0.705			
dIVCmax, cm	1.7 ± 0.5	1.7 ± 0.5	0.636			
IVC-CI, %	41.7 ± 16.0	38.0 ± 12.3	0.213			

Table 1. Comparison of patient characteristics, hemodynamic data, and preoperative inferior vena cava ultrasound measurements between patients who did and did not develop hypotension after spinal anesthesia

ASA = American Society of Anesthesiologists, BMI = Body Mass Index, MBP = Mean Blood Pressure, dIVCmax = Inferior Vena Cava Maximum Diameter, IVC-CI = Inferior Vena Cava Collapsibility Index

	1 2				
	dIV	Cmax cm)	IVC-CI (%)		
	()	(,	
	r	<i>p</i> value	r	<i>p</i> value	
Age (year)	0.114	0.215	-0.184	0.044	
Weight (kg)	-0.158	0.085	0.173	0.059	
Height (cm)	-0.124	0.177	0.123	0.181	
BMI (kg/m2)	-0.139	0.131	0.139	0.131	

 Table 2. Comparison of patient characteristics between inferior vena cava maximum diameter and inferior vena cava collapsibility index

BMI = Body Mass Index, dIVCmax = Inferior Vena Cava Maximum Diameter, IVC-CI = Inferior Vena Cava Collapsibility Index



Fig. 3. (a) Correlation between the percentage of the decrease in mean arterial pressure (MAP) and inferior vena cava collapsibility index (IVC-CI), (b) Correlation between the percentage of the decrease in mean arterial pressure (MAP) and inferior vena cava maximum diameter (dIVCmax).

fall in MAP and IVC-CI and dIVCmax.

IVC ultrasound has been a frequent, easily doable and non-expensive method for assessment of intravascular volume status. Regarding the importance of determination of the pre-operative volume status, fast evaluation by ultrasonography may provide benefit in the treatment of critical patients [5]. While inspiration induces IVC collapse by enabling a negative pressure within the thorax, expiration allows an increment in venous return that yields the return of the IVC diameter to its original size. The decrease in the intravascular volume status may increase the percentage of the IVC collapse. In the children with dehydration needing volume supplement, the IVC diameter was decreased [6, 7]. Relatively higher IVC-CI, in particular with a small IVC diameter shows a decreased volume status [8] .According to the Society of Emergency Physicians, in adult patients with normal CVP, IVC dimeter and IVC-CI should be 15-25 mm and > 50% whereas in cases with volume deficient due to total compression the diameter of the IVC was less than 15 mm [9]. In our study, in 65% of the cases IVC diameter was < 15 mm and IVC-CI was > 50% while in 2.5% of the subjects the diameter of the IVC was 15-25 mm and IVC-CI was > 50%. By those results, it was assumed that there was volume deficit in most of our patients. However, since there was no monitorization of the CVP, no relation could be detected between the CVP and the

volume status.

Ceruti et al. [10] has reported the results of 160 cases about the IVC diameter and IVC collapsibility by ultrasound preceding spinal anesthesia. In one group within 15 min 500 ml fluid (Ringerfundine; B. Braun) was loaded and IVC-CI was evaluated and following 15 min volume replacement spinal anesthesia was implemented. Finally, before the spinal anesthesia, volume loading by the guidance of IVC USG decreased the incidence of arterial hypotension, provided the volume status optimization and decreased the interventions following arterial hypotension attacks. However, no any correlation has been demonstrated between the volume loading preceding the spinal anesthesia and IVC-CI [10]. Beside that study, no ant subject received pre-operative volume replacement. Calculating the pre-operative starvation time and hourly volume replacement requirement, crystalloid replacement was applied. There was no any significant relationship between the amount of volume loaded and hypotension, in the present study. In line with the study by Ceruti et al. [10], no any meaningful correlation was detected between the IVC-CI and the hypotension after spinal anesthesia, in the current study.

Zhang *et al.* [11] has demonstrated that for the hypotension after general anesthesia, IVC measurements before induction of general anesthesia, IVC-CI was more predictive than dIVCmax and in the same study the threshold value was 43% for IVC-CI. In the present study, there was no significant difference in IVC-CI between the study groups and IVC-CI was not found predictive for hypotension after spinal anesthesia. The underlying cause for such result might be multifactorial component of the hypotension after spinal anesthesia in which hypovolemia could be one of them. While IVC-CI is so determinant for the stats of intravascular volume, it doesn't seem the same as for hypotension after spinal anesthesia.

Intra-operative hypotension is one of the frequent adverse event for anesthesia, whereas the definition may change within the clinical trials. Bjiker *et al.* [12] [has found 140 definitions for hypotension in the literature. In our study, similar to the study of Zhang *et al.* [11], hypotension was defined as > 30% decrease in mean arterial pressure and/or a value of < 60mmHg in mean arterial pressure. The sympathetic blockage following spinal anesthesia impacts of the regulation of the circulation both by decreasing the venous return and also decreasing the systemic vascular resistance. By the way, as the level of blockage reaches to T4, the cardioselective fibers also are impeded, heart rhythm and also the cardiac output may reduce [13]. Since the sympathetic fibers are within T1-L2, the blockages under the L2 don't have influence on arterial blood pressure [14]. In the present study, as the block level was T8, the surgical operation was initiated. The level of the blockage didn't reach to T4 in any patient within our study. There was no significant difference in the highest level of the blockage between the cases with and without hypotension after spinal anesthesia in the present study.

Limitations

The limitations of our study are as follows; onecenter design of the study, the nature of the data came from only one type of surgical operation, no measurement of IVC during the hypotension and after the spinal anesthesia, no comparison of the IVC measurements with some dynamic tests such as CVP and cardiac output. Another limitation was several definitions of the hypotension. The cases with the history of hypertension were not included but the subjects with undiagnosed hypertensive subjects might be recruited.

CONCLUSION

IVC-CI and dIVCmax were not significantly associated with the hypotension after spinal anesthesia in the patients undergoing inguinal hernia operation with spinal anesthesia. Further studies investigating the IVC measurements under spinal anesthesia together with dynamic hemodynamic monitorization modalities are needed.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: ST, DK; Study Design: SBT, CY; Supervision: ST, ÇB; Funding: ÇB, DT; Materials: DT, CY; Data Collection and/or Processing: DK, CY; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: ET, DK; Literature Review: ÇB, DT; Manuscript Preparation: ST, ET and Critical Review: ST, DT.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

REFERENCES

1. Lee JE, George RB, Habib AS. Spinal-induced hypotension: Incidence, mechanisms, prophylaxis, and management: summarizing 20 years of research. Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol 2017;31:57-68.

2. Baraka A, Taha S, Ghabach M, Sibaii A, Nader A, Matta M. Hypertonic saline prehydration in patients undergoing transurethral resection of the prostate under spinal anaesthesia. Br J Anaesth 1994;72:227-8.

3. Shimosato S, Etsten BE. The role of the venous system in cardiocirculatory dynamics during spinal and epidural anesthesia in man. Anesthesiology 1969;30:619-28.

4. Critchley LAH, Short TG, Gin T. Hypotension during subarachnoid anaesthesia: haemodynamic analysis of three treatments. Br J Anaesth 1994;72:151-5.

5. Dipti A, Soucy Z, Surana A, Chandra S. Role of inferior vena cava diameter in assessment of volume status: a meta-analysis. Am J Emerg Med 2012;30:1414-9.e1.

6. Brennan JM, Blair JE, Goonewardena S, Ronan A, Shah D, Vasaiwala S, et al. Reappraisal of the use of inferior vena cava for estimating right atrial pressure. J Am Soc Echocardiogr 2007;20:857-61.

7. Brennan JM, Ronan A, Goonewardena S, Blar JEA, Hammes M, Shah D, et al. Handcarried ultrasound measurement of the inferior vena cava for assessment of intravascular volume status in the outpatient hemodialysis clinic. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2006;1:749-53.

 Seif D, Mailhot T, Perera P, Mandavia D. Caval sonography in shock: a noninvasive method for evaluating intravascular volume in critically ill patients. J Ultrasound Med 2012;31:1885-90.
 Wong SP . In Otto CM (ed.), Textbook Clinical Echocardiography, 2nd. Ed., Philadelphia: WB Saunders, 2000

10. Ceruti S, Anselmi L, Minotti D, Franceschini D, Aguirre J, Borgoet A, et al. Prevention of arterial hypotension after spinal anaesthesia using vena cava ultrasound to guide fluid management. Br J Anaesth 2018;120:101-8.

11. Zhang J, Critchley LAH. Inferior vena cava ultrasonography before general anesthesia can predict hypotension after induction. Anesthesiology 2016;124:580-9.

12. Bijker JB, van Klei WA, Kappen TH, van Wolfswinkel L, Moons KGM, Kalkman CJ. Incidence of intraoperative hypotension as a function of the chosen definition. Anesthesiology 2007;107:213-20.

13. Hartmann B, Junger A, Klasen J, Benson M, Jost A, Banzhaf A, et al. The incidence and risk factors for hypotension after spinal anaesthesia induction: an analysis with automated data collection. Anesth Analg 2002;94:1521-9.

14. McCrae AF, Wildsmith JA. Prevention and treatment of hypotension during central neural block. Br J Anaesth 1993;70:672-80.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.

Long-term outcomes of tension-free repair for the primary inguinal hernias

Fatih Büyüker[®], Hakan Baysal[®], Salih Tosun[®]

Department of General Surgery, Medeniyet University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives: Mesh repair is the gold standard in inguinal hernia(IH) repair. If suture repair is to be performed, the common view is to apply tension-free repair. The aim of our study was to analyze retrospectively the changes in primary IH repair at our clinic in 24-years period with regard to the surgical techniques used, patient demographics, complications, and duration of hospital stay.

Methods: The study is based on retrospective analyses of IH repair in 1020 patients in two different periods. In the first period of the study, between 1997-1999 Modified Bassini (MB) method was used for suture repair and Lichtenstein (LH) method was used for mesh repair. In the second period of the study, between 2017-2019, LH method was used for mesh repair and Posterior Wall Darn (PWD) method was used for suture repair. **Results:** The rates of postoperative complications were high and time to return to work was longer in suture repair with MB. Less postoperative complications, shorter time to return to work and less recurrence were observed in the PWD method compared to MB.

Conclusions: Suture repair is a preferable option only in relevant cases and these must be tension free repair techniques such as PWD. When required, suture repairs could be successfully performed with low complication and recurrence rates, similar to mesh repairs by experienced surgical teams.

Keywords: tension-free, posterior wall darn, hernia repair

Inguinal hernia (IH) repair is one of the most common performed operations worldwide. An average of 20 million people undergo IH surgery each year [1-3]. It is the most common abdominal wall hernia, accounting for approximately 75% of all hernias, and there is a 27% lifelong recurrence risk of IH in men and 3% in women [4]. Though performed so frequently, there is no consensus on which surgical method is the best in IH repair yet. Being the pioneer of the modern hernia surgery, Bassini suture repair is still applied in the world with many modifications [5, 6]. Mesh repair techniques in IH repair that started with the Liectenstein method have gradually decreased the preference of suture repairs, along with the facts that the availability of the mesh become easier and studies have shown that the recurrence rate in mesh repair is lower [7].

The aim of current study was to analyze the changes in IH repair at our clinic in 20-years period with regard to the surgical techniques used, patient demographics, complications, and duration of hospital stay retrospectively.

METHODS

The study is based on retrospective analyses of IH repair in 1020 patients at a single center in two differ-

Received: January 29, 2021; Accepted: February 23, 2021; Published Online: May 4, 2021



How to cite this article: Büyüker F, Baysal H, Tosun S. Long-term outcomes of tension-free repair for the primary inguinal hernias: with and without mesh? Eur Res J 2021;7(3):326-331. DOI: 10.18621/eurj.870267

©Copyright 2021 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy Available at http://dergipark.org.tr/eurj

Address for correspondence: Salih Tosun, MD., Associate Professor, Medeniyet University School of Medicine, Department of General Surgery, İstanbul, University School of Medicine, Department of General Surgery, İstanbul, University School of Medicine, Department of General Surgery, İstanbul, University School of Medicine, Department of General Surgery, İstanbul, University School of Medicine, Department of General Surgery, İstanbul, University School of Medicine, Department of General Surgery, İstanbul, University School of Medicine, Department of General Surgery, İstanbul, University School of Medicine, Department of General Surgery, İstanbul, University School of Medicine, Department of General Surgery, İstanbul, University School of Medicine, Department of General Surgery, İstanbul, University School of Medicine, Department of General Surgery, İstanbul, University School of Medicine, Department of General Surgery, İstanbul, University School of Medicine, Department of General Surgery, İstanbul, University School of Medicine, Department of General Surgery, İstanbul, University School of Medicine, Department of General Surgery, İstanbul, University School of Medicine, Department of General Surgery, İstanbul, University School of Medicine, Department of General Surgery, İstanbul, University School of Medicine, Department of General Surgery, İstanbul, University School of Medicine, Department of General Surgery, İstanbul, University School of Medicine, Department of General Surgery, İstanbul, University School of Medicine, Department of General Surgery, İstanbul, University School of Medicine, Department of General Surgery, İstanbul, University School of Medicine, Department of General Surgery, İstanbul, University School of Medicine, Department of General Surgery, Istanbul, University School of Medicine, Department of General Surgery, Istanbul, University School of Medicine, Department of General Surgery, Istanbul, University School of Medicine, Department of General Surgery, Istanbul, University School of Me

ent periods.

In the first period of the study, the results of unilateral primary inguinal hernia surgeries performed at our clinic between the years 1997-1999 were evaluated. The patients were divided into 2 groups as being performed suture and mesh repair. Modified Bassini (MB) method was used for suture repair and Lichtenstein (LH) method was used for mesh repair.

In the second period of the study, operations performed for unilateral primary inguinal hernia between the years 2017-2019 were analyzed. LH method was used for mesh repair and Posterior Wall Darn (PWD) method was used for suture repair.

In the first period, surgical methods were determined according to the surgeon's and patient's preferences and the mesh availability. In the second period, suture repair was used for patients who refused the mesh or patients younger than 45 years or patients with contaminated wounds. Standard LH repair was applied to the remaining patient group. Exclusion criterias were as follows:

• Laparoscopic repairs (TAPP)

- Endoscopic repairs (TEP)
- Femoral hernias
- Obturator hernias
- Recurrent cases and
- Bilateral hernias

The demographic characteristics, post-operative length of stay, postoperative complications, and recurrence rates of the patients were analyzed.

Surgical Methods

Modified Bassini Technique (MB)

With an oblique inguinal incision, the skin, subcutaneous, superficial fascia, and external oblique aponeurosis were dissected. The medial leaf of the external oblique aponeurosis was dissected up to the rectus muscle. The lateral leaf was dissected until the Poubart ligament and the iliopubic tract were exposed. In indirect hernias, the hernia sac was dissected to the neck level, ligated and excised (high-ligation). In direct hernias, the protruded pouch was inverted into the abdomen with purse-string sutures. Reinforcement sutures were placed seperately, at intervals of one centimeter, starting from the pubis with prolene suture material, passing through the conjoint tendon and the poubart ligament. The inner ring has been narrowed up to allow the passage of finger pulp (Fig. 1).

Lichtenstein Technique (LH)

The dissection was performed until the Poubart ligament and iliopubic tract were exposed. The pubic bone was exposed up to approximately 2 cm medial of the pubic tubercle. A monofilament polypropylene mesh with 8×15 cm size was used for the repair. The medial side of the mesh was suture to the aponeurotic tissue above the pubic bone, covering the pubic bone 2-3 cm medial with 3-0 prolene suture. With the same suture, the lower edge of the mesh was suture to the poubart ligament continuously and not too tightly, and the procedure was continued up to lateral of the internal ring. An incision was made on the lateral edge of the mesh and 2 tails were created with the upper part wider than the lower side. The upper edge of the mesh was continuously suture to the



Fig. 1. MB repair with seperated sutures.

internal oblique aponeurosis, 2-3 cm beyond the borders of Hasselbach's triangle. The lower edges of both tails were attached to the inguinal ligament and just lateral to the underlying continuous suture with a few nonabsorbable sutures. An excess of 3-4 cm mesh that was left on the lateral edge of the mesh, was folded under the eksternal oblique aponeurosis which would cover the mesh (Fig. 2).

Posterior Wall Darn Method (PWD)

In this method, sutures were placed between the conjoint tendon and the iliopubic tract over 2 layers of polypropylene so that the stitches weren't be too tight, and rectus muscle and fascia were not stretched. Sutures were passed through both the iliopubic tract and the conjoint tendon at equal intervals of at least 6 mm and at most 12 mm length. Unlike the Bassini technique, the tissues were not tightly brought close to each other, only the repair line was attached tightly and the suture was left loose in accordance with the PWD technique. After narrowing the internal orifice of the inguinal canal, the suture is locked and tied (Fig. 3).

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using the SPSS for Windows version 22.0 software (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test



Fig. 2. LH repair with mesh.



Fig. 3. PWD tension-free repair with continuous sutures.

was used to test the normal distribution of data. Descriptive data were expressed in mean \pm standard deviation, medians (range) and number and frequency (%).

RESULTS

At the first period, there were 150 primary unilateral inguinal hernia cases within 2-years time. LH technique was applied to 90 (60%) patients and MB technique was applied to 60 (40%) patients. 79 (88%) of the patients in the LH group and 52 (87%) of the patients in the MB group were male. Most of the patients (75%) were \leq 45 years old. 67 (75%) of the patients who underwent LH repair and 45 (75%) of the patients in the MB group were ≤ 45 years old. After the LH repair performed at this period, the postoperative hospital stay was approximately 1 day (6-28 hours), and the average time to return to work was 10 days (7-16 days). Postoperative surgical site infection was developed in only 2 (2.2%) patients in the LH repair group and early recurrence was not observed. (Table 1). After the MB repair performed at this period, the average postoperative hospital stay was 3 days (25-96 hours), and the average time to return to work was 22.5 days (17-30 days). In the MB group, 3 (5%) patients had developed surgical site infection; 2 (3.3%) had scrotal hematoma; and 2 (3.3%) had early recurrence.

At the second period, there were 870 primary unilateral inguinal hernia cases within 2 years. LH technique was applied to 792 (91%) and PWD technique was applied to 78 (19%) patients respectively. 811 (93%) patients were male and 59 (7%) were female. 665 (84%) of the patients who underwent LH repair are were > 45 years old, while 66 (85%) of the patients who underwent PWD repair were \leq 45 years old. The mean postoperative hospital stay following the LH repair performed at this period was 1.01 days (11-172 hours), and the average time to return to work was 8.9 days (4-18 days). In the LH repair group, 17 (2.1%) patients developed post-operative seroma, 21 (2.7%) patients developed surgical site infection, and 13 (1.6%) patients developed scrotal hematoma. Early recurrence was observed in 11 (0.9%) patients in LH repair group. The mean postoperative hospital stay in PWD repair group was 1 day (7-49 hours), and the time to return to work was 9.2 days (3-19 days) on average. In the PWD repair group, post-operative complications were; seroma in 3 (3.8%) patients, surgical site infection in 4 (5.1%) patients. Early recurrence was observed in 1 (1.3%) patient in PWD repair group (Table 1).

DISCUSSION

With the Bassini method, an important milestone

	1 st PE	RIOD	2 nd PERIOD			
	(n =	150)	(n = 8	70)		
	Lichtenstein	Modified Bassini	Lichtenstein	Posterior Wall Darn		
Number of patients (%)	90 (60%)	60 (40%)	792 (91.0%)	78 (9.0%)		
Gender, n (%)						
Male	79 (87.8%)	52 (86.7%)	739 (93.3%)	72 (92.3%)		
Female	11 (12.2%)	8 (13.3%)	53 (6.7%)	6 (7.7%)		
Age, n (%)						
16-25 years	17 (18.8%)	9 (15.0%)	9 (1.1%)	22 (28.2%)		
26-35 years	28 (31.1%)	17 (28.3%)	27 (3.4%)	35 (44.9%)		
36-45 years	22 (24.4%)	19 (31.7%)	105 (13.3%)	9 (11.5%)		
46-65 years	14 (15.5%)	9 (15.0%)	411 (51.9%)	10 (12.8%)		
66-75 years	6 (6.6%)	4 (6.7%)	179 (22.6%)	1 (1.3%)		
>75 years	3 (3.3%)	2 (3.3%)	61 (7.7%)	1 (1.3%)		
Postoperative hospital stay (h), median (range)	24.0 (6-28)	72.0 (25-96)	24.2 (11-172)	24.1 (7-49)		
Time to turn to work (d), median (range)	10.0 (7-16)	22.5 (17-30)	8.9 (4-18)	9.2 (3-19)		
Postoperative complications, n (%)						
Seroma	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	17 (2.1%)	3 (3.8%)		
Surgical site infection	2 (2.2%)	3 (5%)	21 (2.7%)	4 (5.1%)		
Scrotal hematoma	0 (0%)	2 (3.3%)	13 (1.6%)	4 (5.1%)		
Recurrence	0 (0%)	2 (3.3%)	11 (0.9%)	1 (1.3%)		

Table 1. Demographic data and clinical outcomes of patients

in the development of modern hernia surgery, suture repair has been preferred with modifications for years and continues to be a preferred technique in selected cases [8-10]. Currently available guidelines (EHS, the HerniaSurge Group, AHS etc.) hold the view that mesh repair is the gold standard in inguinal hernia repair [11-13]. If suture repair is to be performed, the common view is to apply tension-free repair [14]. Although, in the last guideline [12], only Shouldice repair is recommended as a suture repair, different suture repair techniques are still used in the world [15].

Mesh repair was performed mainly in our clinic between the years 1997-1999, the MB technique was also applied to a significant number of patients in these years. Although early recurrence rates after MB were low, the rates of post-operative complications were high and time to return to work was longer.

In the last 20 years, the suture repair method has evolved from Bassini to its modifications like PWD, which is based on "continued non-absorbable" sutures and repair without tension [16-19]. That applied to our clinic as well. Complications such as post-operative seroma, hematoma and surgical site infection are less common that makes this method advantageous especially in contaminated cases [20]. In our cases, less post-operative complications, shorter time to return to work and less recurrence were observed in the PWD group compared to MB group.

According to HerniaSurge Group guideline; suture repair can be applied in cases such as mesh allergy and the patient's refusal to repair with mesh[12]. There are publications in the literature showing that suture repair is superior to mesh repair in terms of recurrence, in young male population with indirect hernia [21]. There are also studies indicating that young men develop more chronic pain following mesh usage compared to elderly [22, 23]. During the past 20 years in our clinic, we have decreased using suture repair eventually, except for selected cases. In the second period; 85% of the patients who underwent PWD repair were \leq 45 years old and 84% of the group in which LH was applied in the second period were > 45 years old. In the first period, the mean age was similar in the MB and LH groups. The selected case approach that we applied in our surgical routine is also have proved its effectiveness in achieving fewer complications, shorter hospital stays and shorter time to return to work in the suture repair group.

We have been using the PWD method, as a standard suture repair method in our clinic since 2000. In a study conducted by Ivanov *et al.* PWD was applied to 116 patients. The total complication rate was reported as 22.4% and the mean duration of hospital stay was 2.17 days [24]. In the PWD repairs that we performed in the second period in our study, our total complication rate was 10.2% and the hospital stay was around 1 day (7-49 hours). As a result of applying this method in selected cases, especially with the same experienced surgical team; the duration of hospitalization and time to return to work is shortened and post-operative complications are decreased in suture repairs.

Currently, LH repair is the standard treatment in open IH repair all over the world[11]. We perform LH repair, which we first started to apply in our clinic in 1997, more frequently today. There has been no change in the LH technique past 24 years. During this period, an important training standard has been achieved in the application of the method and the method has been a standardised procedure in our clinic. As a result of this, in the second period, a significant decrease was observed in the time to return to work.

The comparison of the two groups analysed at intervals of 24 years shows that the suture repair rates have been gradually reduced by applying to only selected cases in the second period. Thus today, recurrence rates and lenght of hospital stay are reduced and time to return to work is earlier. Furhermore, with performing suture repairs in selected cases, there are similar complication rates after mesh and suture hernia repair.

CONCLUSION

Mesh repair must be prefered in inguinal hernia treatment. Suture repair is a preferable option only in relevant cases and these must be tension free repair techniques such as PWD. When required, suture repairs could be successfully performed with low complication and recurrence rates, similar to mesh repairs by experienced surgical teams.

Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: FB, HB, ST; Study Design FB,

HB, ST; Supervision: FB, HB, ST; Funding: FB, HB, ST; Materials: FB, HB, ST; Data Collection and/or Processing: FB, HB, ST; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: FB, HB, ST; Literature Review: FB, HB, ST; Manuscript Preparation: FB, HB, ST and Critical Review: FB, HB, ST.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

REFERENCES

1. Rutkow IM. Demographic and socioeconomic aspects of hernia repair in the United States in 2003. Surg Clin North Am 2003;83:1045-51.

2. Burcharth J, Pedersen M, Bisgaard T, Pedersen C, Rosenberg J. Nationwide prevalence of groin hernia repair. PLoS One 2013;8:e54367.

3. Ohene-Yeboah M, Beard JH, Frimpong-Twumasi B, Koranteng A, Mensah S. Prevalence of inguinal hernia in adult men in the Ashanti region of Ghana. World J Surg 2016;40:806-12.

4. Kingsnorth A, LeBlanc K. Hernias: inguinal and incisional. Lancet 2003;362:1561-71.

5. Ansari FM, Hameed T, Jain SK, Dua A, Nizam A. Comparison of outcome of Desarda versus Bassini repair in management of complicated inguinal hernia. Int Surg J 2019;6:3889-96.

6. Tajti J Jr, Pieler J, Ábrahám S, Simonka Z, Paszt A, Lázár G. Incarcerated gallbladder in inguinal hernia: a case report and literature review. BMC Gastroenterol 2020:14;20:425.

7. Malik AM, Khan A, Jawaid A, Laghari AA, Talpur KA. A comparative analysis between non-mesh (Bassini's) and mesh (Lichtenstein) repair of primary inguinal hernia. J Ayub Med Coll Abbottabad 2009;21:17-20.

8. Economopoulos KJ, Milewski MD, Hanks JB, Hart JM, Diduch DR. Sports hernia treatment: modified bassini versus minimal repair. Sports Health 2013;5:463-9.

9. Suradom C, Palaphun J. The usage of two umbrella mademesh plugs in herniorrhaphy: comparative study with Bassini and Lichtenstein method. J Med Assoc Thai 2011;94:1373-9.

10. Patil SM, Gurujala A, Kumar A, Kumar KS, Mithun G. Lichtenstein mesh repair (LMR) v/s modified Bassini's repair (MBR) + Lichtenstein mesh repair of direct inguinal hernias in rural population - A comparative study. J Clin Diagn Res 2016;10:PC12-5.

11. Simons MP, Aufenacker T, Bay-Nielsen M, Bouillot JL, Campanelli G, Conze J, et al. European Hernia Society guidelines on the treatment of inguinal hernia in adult patients. Hernia 2009;13:343-403.

12. HerniaSurge Group. International guidelines for groin hernia management. Hernia 2018;22:1-165.

13. Watson B, Roberts J, Dobbs B, Roberts R. Is inguinal hernia mesh safe? A prospective study. ANZ J Surg 2020;90:538-41.

14. Ran K, Wang X, Zhao Y. Open tensionless repair techniques for inguinal hernia: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Hernia 2020;24:733-45.

15. Finch DA, Misra VA, Hajibandeh S. Open darn repair vs open mesh repair of inguinal hernia: a systematic review and metaanalysis of randomised and non-randomised studies. Hernia 2019;23:523-39.

16. Memon GA, Shah SKA, Habib-Ur-Rehman. An experience with mesh versus darn repair in inguinal hernias. Pak J Med Sci 2017;33:699-702.

17. Pawlak M, Newman M, de Beaux AC, Tulloh B. The darn technique for small (<2 cm diameter) midline hernias. Hernia. 2020 Sep 2. doi: 10.1007/s10029-020-02283-7.

18. Olaogun JG, Afolayan JM, Areo PO, Ige JT. Repair of groin hernia under local anaesthesia in secondary health facility. ANZ J Surg 2018;88:E294-7.

19. Abd El Maksoud W, Abd El Salam M, Ahmed HH. Comparative study between Lichtenstein procedure and modified darn repair in treating primary inguinal hernia: a prospective randomized controlled trial. Hernia 2014;18:231-6.

20. Bhatti AZ, Rasool MI. Darning versus Bassini repair in primary unilateral inguinal hernia. J Coll Physicians Surg Pak 2002;12:169-71.

21. Haastrup E, Andresen K, Rosenberg J. Low reoperation rates in young males after suture repair of indirect inguinal hernia: arguments for a tailored approach. Am J Surg 2017;214:844-8.

22. Aasvang E, Kehlet H. Chronic postoperative pain: the case of inguinal herniorrhaphy. Br J Anaesth 2005;95:69-76.

23. Poobalan AS, Bruce J, King PM, Chambers WA, Krukowski ZH, Smith WC. Chronic pain and quality of life following open inguinal hernia repair. Br J Surg 2001;88:1122-6.

24. Ivanov D, Babović S, Ivanov M. Nylon-Darn herniorrhaphy: the method of choice in treatment of primary inguinal hernia. Med Pregl 2008;61:566-70.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.